JMIR Serious Games

Journal Impact Factor (JIF) (2023): 3.8 Volume 8 (2020), Issue 1 ISSN 2291-9279 Editor-in-Chief: Gunther Eysenbach, MD, MPH

Contents

Original Papers

Improving Maximal Strength in the Initial Postoperative Phase After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction Surgery: Randomized Controlled Trial of an App-Based Serious Gaming Approach (e14282)	
Jan-Dierk Clausen, Niclas Nahen, Hauke Horstmann, Florian Lasch, Werner Krutsch, Christian Krettek, Thomas Weber-Spickschen.	3
Engaging African American Youth in the Development of a Serious Mobile Game for Sexual Health Education: Mixed Methods Study (e16254)	
Loral Patchen, Lindsey Ellis, Tony Ma, Corilyn Ott, Katie Chang, Brook Araya, Sravanthi Atreyapurapu, Amal Alyusuf, Robin Gaines Lanzi 1	
Learning to Read by Learning to Write: Evaluation of a Serious Game to Foster Business Process Model Comprehension (e15374)	
Michael Winter, Rüdiger Pryss, Thomas Probst, Manfred Reichert.	41
The Adoption of a Virtual Reality–Assisted Training System for Mental Rotation: A Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling Approach (e14548)	
Chen-Wei Chang, Shih-Ching Yeh, Mengtong Li.	54
Using String Metrics to Improve the Design of Virtual Conversational Characters: Behavior Simulator Development Study (e15349)	
Santiago García-Carbajal, María Pipa-Muniz, Jose Múgica	66
Learner Analysis to Inform the Design and Development of a Serious Game for Nongaming Female Emerging Health Care Preprofessionals: Qualitative Sample Study (e16003)	
Kevin Glover, Alec Bodzin.	79

Reviews

Design Strategies for Virtual Reality Interventions for Managing Pain and Anxiety in Children and Adolescents: Scoping Review (e14565)	
Naseem Ahmadpour, Melanie Keep, Anna Janssen, Anika Rouf, Michael Marthick	29
Health Education Serious Games Targeting Health Care Providers, Patients, and Public Health Users: Scoping Review (e13459)	
Nahid Sharifzadeh, Hadi Kharrazi, Elham Nazari, Hamed Tabesh, Maryam Edalati Khodabandeh, Somayeh Heidari, Mahmood Tara	92

JMIR Serious Games 2020 | vol. 8 | iss. 1 | p.1

XSL•FO RenderX

Viewpoint

Using 360-Degree Video as a Research Stimulus in Digital Health Studies: Lessons Learned (e15422)	
Brittany Zulkiewicz, Vanessa Boudewyns, Catherine Gupta, Ari Kirschenbaum, Megan Lewis.	108

Original Paper

Improving Maximal Strength in the Initial Postoperative Phase After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction Surgery: Randomized Controlled Trial of an App-Based Serious Gaming Approach

Jan-Dierk Clausen¹, MD; Niclas Nahen¹, MD; Hauke Horstmann², MD; Florian Lasch³, MSc, PhD; Werner Krutsch⁴, MD; Christian Krettek¹, MD, FACS; Thomas Sanjay Weber-Spickschen¹, MD

¹Trauma Department, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany

²Orthopaedic Surgery Department, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany

³Institute of Biometry, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany

⁴Trauma Department, University Medical Center Regensburg, Regensburg, Germany

Corresponding Author:

Jan-Dierk Clausen, MD Trauma Department Hannover Medical School Carl-Neuberg Straße 1 Hannover, 30625 Germany Phone: 49 17615329663 Email: clausen.jan-dierk@mh-hannover.de

Abstract

Background: Anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery is one of the most common orthopedic procedures. One of the main factors that influence the outcome is regaining strength in the postoperative phase. Because anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgeries are often performed in young patients, we combined the concept of prehabilitation with an app-based serious gaming approach to improve maximal strength postoperatively.

Objective: Our objective was to conduct a prospective randomized trial to evaluate whether an app-based active muscle training program (GenuSport Knee Trainer) can improve postoperative strength by starting rehabilitation immediately after primary anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery.

Methods: We designed a pilot study in which we randomly assigned patients receiving primary anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction to either the serious gaming training (intervention) group or a conventional rehabilitation (control) group. Except for the serious gaming-based training, both groups followed the same postoperative treatment protocol. Outcome parameters were absolute and relative change in maximal strength, as well as the International Knee Documentation Committee Subjective Knee evaluation form, Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score, and Lysholm Knee Score.

Results: In total 26 patients agreed to participate (14 patients in the intervention group and 12 patients in the control group, 1 of whom was lost to follow-up). We noted a difference in absolute maximum strength between the exergaming intervention and the control groups. Mean maximum strength preoperatively was 155.1 (SD 79.2) N in the intervention group (n=14) and 157.0 (SD 40.8) N in the control group (n=11). Postoperative mean maximum strength was 212.8 (SD 78.5) N in the intervention group and 154.5 (SD 27.1) N in the control group. Mean absolute change in maximum strength was 57.7 (SD 95.2) N in the intervention group and -4.8 (22.2) N in the control group. The analysis of covariance model with absolute change as the dependent variable and treatment group and baseline maximum strength as covariates showed a relevant difference in relative change between treatment groups (intervention – control) of 59.7 N (95% CI 10.1-109.3; *P*=.02). Similarly to the absolute increase, the relative change in maximum strength was 1.7 (SD 1.17) in the intervention group and 1 (SD 0.13) in the control group. No adverse events or problems were reported during the study period.

Conclusions: Implementation of an app-based active muscle training program in the early postoperative therapy scheme was associated with an improvement in maximal strength. Therefore, we considered the use of GenuSport training after anterior

RenderX

cruciate ligament reconstruction to be a helpful complement to rehabilitation after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery to improve strength in the early postoperative phase. To our knowledge this was the first study to analyze immediate postoperative serious gaming-based training with the GenuSport device based on strength improvement.

(JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e14282) doi:10.2196/14282

KEYWORDS

serious gaming; knee trainer; games, experimental; exercise therapy; physical and rehabilitation medicine; anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction; knee injuries

Introduction

Background

The rupture of the anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) is one of the most common ligament sports injuries of the knee joint. The number of cruciate ligament operations performed is quite high and has increased continuously over the last years. Because ACL ruptures often occur during sport activities, a relevant number patients are under the age of 40 years [1].

Over the past years, many changes have been achieved, especially in surgical reconstruction techniques. Nonetheless, especially in the last decade, studies have also focused on rehabilitation after ACL reconstruction and on possible strategies to improve outcomes. It is well known that, in addition to several other preoperative and postoperative factors, insufficient rehabilitation leads to a poor outcome in terms of restricted range of motion, strength, and overall knee function, resulting in arthrofibrosis [2-4]. Due to these improvements, the risk of arthrofibrosis has been reduced to around 5% [5].

The tremendous importance of early rehabilitation in all fields of medicine, for example, after neurological disorders (eg, stroke) or surgeries in general, has been understood over the last decades. That is why new concepts have been implemented in the perioperative and postoperative phases. The first concept of enhanced recovery after surgery, consisting mostly of protocols in which patients were guided by physiotherapists, already led to a clinically significant improvement in rehabilitation [6-8]. New concepts have been developed focusing on training, in which patients train at home under the guidance of a physiotherapist (telerehabilitation). This concept is already well accepted in the case of total knee arthroplasty and has shown results comparable with normal outpatient rehabilitation protocols [9,10]. Along with the concept of telerehabilitation, new training devices are being used in rehabilitation, making direct biofeedback-guided training therapy at home possible [11-13]. This biofeedback-guided training has now been combined with the concept of exergaming, in which patients train with devices in conjunction with app-based systems that allow patients to train specific aspects such as range of motion or strength by successfully completing games optimized for the each training process [14,15].

One problem of most available feedback-controlled training systems is that the exercises mainly focus on range of motion, and training is only possible with an acceptable range of motion. Therefore, we previously tested a device in rehabilitation after total knee arthroplasty focusing on feedback-controlled active muscle training uncoupled from range of motion. The GenuSport

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14282
```

Knee Trainer improved the outcome after total knee arthroplasty especially in the immediate postoperative phase [16]. Additionally, high compliance rates were noted [16-19].

Objective

We postulated that training with our device in the initial postoperative phase after ACL reconstruction surgery would improve the overall postoperative outcome, thereby helping the predominantly young patients on their return to normal life and especially to an early return to sports. In comparison with other studies that mainly focused on improved range of motion rather than strength improvement, our device can be used directly after surgery [20]. This allows for a fast-track rehabilitation concept that combines the idea of prehabilitation with serious exergaming strategies.

To our knowledge, no studies have analyzed the effect of muscle strength–based training immediately after ACL surgery. We developed this randomized controlled trial to address this lack.

Methods

Study Design

In this prospective randomized controlled trial, we recruited patients awaiting primary ACL reconstruction surgery at a single tertiary health care center between April 2016 and February 2018. The trial is registered; Multimedia Appendix 1 [21]).We obtained ethical approval from the Hanover Medical School ethics committee. Due to different surgical approaches and postoperative treatment protocols, we included patients between 13 and 46 years of age. The main exclusion criteria were additional knee injuries that altered the postoperative treatment protocol (such as meniscal suturing, collateral ligament repair, or regenerative cartilage treatment) and unwillingness to participate in the study. We used computer-based randomization by generating a list of randomized numbers that were provided in sealed envelopes by an independent examiner. The postoperative treatment protocol was identically standardized, apart from the use of the GenuSport Knee Trainer by the intervention group. Pain management was the same for all patients, and none of the patients received a continuous peripheral nerve block. The postoperative physiotherapy protocol included gait training, assisted walking with crutches, active and passive knee mobilization, strength exercises, and stair climbing. In the training intervention group, each patient was additionally provided with a GenuSport Knee Trainer device (prototype plus tablet with software app) with the active knee extension training program for 3 weeks. Otherwise, the postoperative protocol was identical in both the intervention

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

and control groups. Patients were required to train up to 5 times daily with the knee trainer starting on the day of surgery.

GenuSport Knee Trainer

We previously described the Knee Trainer device [16-19]. It consists of a strength-monitoring unit with 3 integrated sensors that is placed in the popliteal area and a tablet with the app, which transfers the raised force into the game modus (Figure 1). Each training session in our study takes around 5 minutes and is performed autonomously by patients in their bed with 45° upper-body elevation while the patient holds the tablet in both hands. By simply pushing the knee downward onto the

measuring unit, the patient can apply force. It is of tremendous importance that during the entire training session, the leg is not rotated, the hip is not lifted, and the heel is in contact with the mattress. The training app has 2 modes: 1 for the training itself and 1 for analysis. The training mode includes 2 different games: 1 for maximal strength, in which the patient has to apply maximal force for 5 seconds, and 1 longer game lasting 100 seconds, in which the patient controls the flight course of an airplane by applying different forces. The aim is to destroy the balloons with the propeller and to avoid the dark clouds. Direct feedback is provided after each game on a summary screen presenting the results [17].

Figure 1. The GenuSport knee trainer. (A) The device is correctly placed under the patient's knee. (B) The patient holds the tablet while in an upright position. (C) The mobile app shows the game (lasting 100 s) in which the patient controls the flight course of an airplane by applying various forces. The aim is to destroy the balloons with the propeller and to avoid the dark clouds.



Blinding

Due to the nature of this study, blinding of patients was not possible.

Intervention

Surgeries were performed by the same senior physician. In all patients, hamstring grafts were used. The fixation technique included femoral and tibial screw fixation (Storz Medical AG, Tägerwilen, Switzerland), as well as extracortical fixation (Storz Medical).

Outcomes

We analyzed all patients before and 6 weeks after surgery. We measured function using the International Knee Documentation Committee Subjective Knee (IKDC) evaluation form, Lysholm Knee Score, Tegner activity scale, Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS), the maximum strength, and a visual analog scale. Additionally, we measured the femoral diameter 10 cm and 20 cm above the joint line. We analyzed change in maximum strength as both the absolute difference between the week-6 and presurgery values (6 weeks – presurgery) and as the relative change (6 weeks / presurgery). We compared the change in maximum strength on both scales between the intervention and control groups using an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) model with change in maximum strength as the dependent variable and presurgical maximum strength and treatment group as the independent variables.

Statistical Evaluation

We performed statistical analysis using IBM SPSS Statistics version 25 (IBM Corporation).

Results

Participants

In total 26 patients agreed to participate (14 patients in the exergaming group and 12 patients in the control group). One patient of the control group was lost to follow-up; hence, we



analyzed 25 patients in total (14 intervention patients vs 11 control group patients) (Figure 2).

Baseline Characteristics

Table 1 lists the baseline characteristics of the included patients regarding age, sex, body mass index and preoperative scores and strength. The 2 groups did not differ in terms of these criteria.

Compliance in the Knee Trainer Group

We saw high compliance rates within the intervention group. None of the patients needed more than 1 instruction to use the knee trainer. Of the 14 patients in this group, 11 (79%) trained with the device regularly (around 17 times a week), whereas 3 patients (20%) did not comply with the training frequency of at least 7 times a week.

Clinical Outcomes

Analysis of the data showed a relevant difference in the absolute increase of maximum strength between the exergaming group (n=14) and the control group (n=11). Postoperative mean maximum strength was 212.8 (SD 78.5) N in the intervention group (n=14) and 154.5 (SD 27.1) N in the control group (n=11). Mean absolute change in maximum strength was 57.7 (SD 95.2) N in the intervention group and -4.8 (SD 22.2) N in the control group. The ANCOVA model with absolute change as the dependent variable and treatment group and baseline maximum strength as covariates showed a relevant difference in absolute change between treatment groups (experimental – control) of 59.7 N (95% CI 10.1-109.3; P=.02) (Figure 3).

Figure 2. Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) study flow diagram. ITT: intention to treat; MCL: medial collateral ligament.





Table 1. Baseline characteristics and outcomes of the study groups.

Characteristics	Intervention group (n=14)	Control group (n=12)	Total (n=26)
Sex (women), n (%)	8 (57)	6 (50)	14 (54)
Body mass index (kg/m ²), mean (SD)	24.6 (5.74)	25.45 (4.02)	25.45 (4.02)
Age (years), mean (SD)	24.86 (9.71)	25.58 (6.4)	25.19 (8.2)
Tegner activity scale score, mean (SD)	7 (2.25)	6.33 (1.61)	6.69 (1.98)
Time between operation and final examination (days), mean (SD)	46.50 (8.58)	44.92 (5.53)	45.77 (7.24)
GenuSport Knee Trainer maximum strength (kg), mean (SD)			
Operated leg	15.81 (8.06)	16 (4.16)	15.90 (6.44)
Nonoperated leg	17.73 (6.59)	17.62 (3.91)	17.68 (5.42)
IKDC ^a 2000 subjective, mean (SD)	50.16 (16.10)	61.11 (14.34)	55.22 (16.00)
Symptoms/stiffness	53.32 (22.91)	65.77 (18.56)	59.19 (20.08)
Pain	63.52 (24.03)	70.37 (19.55)	66.68 (21.92)
Function/daily living	71.64 (23.63)	83.16 (14.78)	76.71 (20.68)
Function/sports	31.16 (26.18)	48.13 (25.74)	38.99 (26.87)
Quality of life	22.32 (16.02)	31.94 (17.16)	26.76 (16.94)
Lysholm activity scale score, mean (SD)	55.79 (21.51)	63.17 (18.37)	59.19 (20.08)
Single assessment numeric evaluation, mean (SD)	49.93 (28.06)	61.25 (18.23)	55.15 (24.26)
Visual analog scale score, mean (SD)	2.61 (2.34)	2.53 (1.74)	2.57 (2.04)

^aIKDC: International Knee Documentation Committee Subjective Knee evaluation form, 2000 revision.

Figure 3. Box and whisker plot of the experimental and control groups comparing absolute change in maximum strength 6 weeks after surgery versus before surgery (6 weeks – preoperative), depicting the 25th to 75th percentile in the box with the mean indicated by the bar in the box. The whiskers indicate the 10th and 90th percentiles. One outlier in the experimental group is depicted by the circle.



Relative change in maximum strength was higher in the exergaming group. Mean relative change in maximum strength was 1.7 (SD 1.17) in the intervention group and 1 (SD 0.13) in the control group. The ANCOVA model with relative change as the dependent variable and treatment group and baseline maximum strength as covariates showed a relevant difference

in relative change between treatment groups (experimental – control) of 0.67 (95% CI 0.054-1.299; P=.03) (Figure 4).

A subgroup analysis of patients who trained more than 2 times a day showed no difference in absolute and relative changes in maximum strength, but we saw a clear trend to higher strength levels in the group of patients that trained more than 2 times a day.



RenderX

Figure 4. Box and whisker plot of the experimental and control groups comparing relative change in maximum strength 6 weeks after surgery versus before surgery (6 weeks / preoperative), depicting the 25th to 75th percentile in the box with the mean indicated by the bar in the box. The whiskers indicate the 10th and 90th percentiles. Two outliers in the experimental group are depicted by the circle and the star.



Changes in clinical scores (eg, IKDC, KOOS, Tegner activity scale, Lysholm Knee Score, and visual analog scale) were not different between the 2 study groups (Table 1).

Adverse Events

Neither group reported adverse events during the study period. In particular, there were no readmissions to the hospital, reoperation for any reason, infections, or falls.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Following the progress made in information and communication technology, new technology-based rehabilitation strategies have been incorporated into various medical fields. In this context, new protocols for rehabilitation have been developed. These serious games for functional rehabilitation are considered to improve the whole rehabilitation process. Notably, in most published studies, patient compliance has been very high. This indicates a high motivation for training with exergaming devices. These results for serious games have been reported in all fields of medicine (eg, psychiatry, internal medicine, neurology, and musculoskeletal medicine) [22-25]. Although our patient population was quite small, the high compliance rate we observed is comparable with previous studies.

All of the patients allocated to the exergaming group completed the entire follow-up protocol. In the exergaming intervention group, about 80% showed good compliance, meaning they trained at least once a day, and none of these patients needed face-to-face contact during the 3-week training period. This indicates that the device design is user-friendly and that people from different age groups can use the device autonomously after adequate initial instruction. Ideally, instruction would start before surgery. We think that there is also potential for using the device in the preoperative phase to improve preoperative strength, which is known to positively influence the postoperative outcome [3,26,27].

We saw a slight trend in the frequency of daily training decreasing over the 3 weeks. We think that this might have been

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14282
```

because the gameplay of the 2 game modes that were provided did not develop over time in difficulty or the main game principle. To achieve the goal of implementing serious gaming into the rehabilitation of musculoskeletal disorders, existing systems must be evaluated and further developed [22]. To this end, we are developing a 3-level system with the difficulty increasing at every level. We also think that the patient's fitness needs to be evaluated preoperatively and that the game difficulty would be adapted to the patient's fitness level. We are also trying to implement different surroundings, such as desert, space, and ocean.

The most important problem in feedback training strategies is that nearly all of them require an adequate range of motion. Therefore, therapy cannot start immediately after surgery because the patient is not able to properly move his or her legs. We designed our study to assess whether it is possible to positively influence the immediate postoperative phase by following a novel exergaming-based training protocol based on strength training rather than on range of motion as in other protocols. Other recently published studies of feedback-controlled training after total knee arthroplasty started their programs not before day 7 [13]. Results of feedback-controlled range-of-motion training were very promising and showed significant improvements in the range-of-motion outcome [20]. In comparison with range-of-motion protocols, the most important takeaway from our study is the relevant improvement in the maximum strength relative to that obtained with the conventional rehabilitation protocol. Regaining strength is an important parameter in the functional outcome [28]. To our knowledge, the protocol we analyzed is unique in that it is possible to train immediately after surgery. We therefore think that our protocol can help to improve the overall outcome in addition to range-of-motion-based strategies. These aspects need to be tested in further studies, and the device should also be combined with training devices focusing on range of motion.

Because serious gaming has already been incorporated into other fields of medicine with good results, musculoskeletal surgeons should also implement these promising strategies both

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

before surgery and into rehabilitation after common procedures, as well as in conservative orthopedics. The good results in different age groups suggest that serious gaming is applicable in nearly all periods of life [29-31].

Limitations

The main limitations of our study were a comparatively small patient population and a short follow-up period of 6 weeks. This is due to the fact that our approach to the immediate postoperative strength-based training has not been implemented in postoperative protocols. Hence, we conducted this pilot study to evaluate the effect of exergaming-based training on the early postoperative phase as a basis for further studies.

Conclusion

To our knowledge, this was the first study that successfully implemented a serious gaming-based strength training device into early rehabilitation after ACL surgery. The results are promising; hence, we think that this technology has high potential in this area of rehabilitation, as well as in prehabilitation of musculoskeletal disorders. Further studies are needed to test these concepts and results. If the results of these further studies are as promising as the results of our study, we think that this might be a big step toward implementing such training strategies into routine clinical protocols, especially since the positive aspects of serious gaming are seen in all age cohorts.

Conflicts of Interest

TSWS is the head of GenuSport GmbH.

Editorial notice: This randomized study was not prospectively registered. The editor granted an exception of ICMJE rules for prospective registration of randomized trials because the risk of bias appears low and the study was considered formative. However, readers are advised to carefully assess the validity of any potential explicit or implicit claims related to primary outcomes or effectiveness, as retrospective registration does not prevent authors from changing their outcome measures retrospectively.

Multimedia Appendix 1 CONSORT-EHEALTH checklist V1.6.1. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 529 KB - games_v8i1e14282_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Frobell RB, Roos EM, Roos HP, Ranstam J, Lohmander LS. A randomized trial of treatment for acute anterior cruciate ligament tears. N Engl J Med 2010 Jul 22;363(4):331-342. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa0907797</u>] [Medline: <u>20660401</u>]
- Frobell RB, Roos HP, Roos EM, Roemer FW, Ranstam J, Lohmander LS. Treatment for acute anterior cruciate ligament tear: five year outcome of randomised trial. BMJ 2013 Jan 24;346:f232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.f232] [Medline: 23349407]
- Grindem H, Granan LP, Risberg MA, Engebretsen L, Snyder-Mackler L, Eitzen I. How does a combined preoperative and postoperative rehabilitation programme influence the outcome of ACL reconstruction 2 years after surgery? A comparison between patients in the Delaware-Oslo ACL Cohort and the Norwegian National Knee Ligament Registry. Br J Sports Med 2015 Mar;49(6):385-389 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2014-093891] [Medline: 25351782]
- 4. Mayr HO, Weig TG, Plitz W. Arthrofibrosis following ACL reconstruction--reasons and outcome. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2004 Oct;124(8):518-522. [doi: 10.1007/s00402-004-0718-x] [Medline: 15480713]
- Christensen JE, Miller MD. Knee anterior cruciate ligament injuries: common problems and solutions. Clin Sports Med 2018 Apr;37(2):265-280. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.csm.2017.12.006</u>] [Medline: <u>29525027</u>]
- 6. Ljungqvist O. ERAS--enhanced recovery after surgery: moving evidence-based perioperative care to practice. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2014 Jul;38(5):559-566. [doi: 10.1177/0148607114523451] [Medline: 24567343]
- Ljungqvist O, Scott M, Fearon KC. Enhanced recovery after surgery: a review. JAMA Surg 2017 Mar 01;152(3):292-298. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamasurg.2016.4952</u>] [Medline: <u>28097305</u>]
- Ljungqvist O, Young-Fadok T, Demartines N. The history of enhanced recovery after surgery and the ERAS Society. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2017 Sep;27(9):860-862. [doi: 10.1089/lap.2017.0350] [Medline: 28795858]
- Russell TG, Buttrum P, Wootton R, Jull GA. Internet-based outpatient telerehabilitation for patients following total knee arthroplasty: a randomized controlled trial. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2011 Jan 19;93(2):113-120. [doi: <u>10.2106/JBJS.I.01375</u>] [Medline: <u>21248209</u>]
- Moffet H, Tousignant M, Nadeau S, Mérette C, Boissy P, Corriveau H, et al. Patient satisfaction with in-home telerehabilitation after total knee arthroplasty: results from a randomized controlled trial. Telemed J E Health 2017 Dec;23(2):80-87. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2016.0060</u>] [Medline: <u>27529575</u>]
- 11. Pfeufer D, Gililland J, Böcker W, Kammerlander C, Anderson M, Krähenbühl N, et al. Training with biofeedback devices improves clinical outcome compared to usual care in patients with unilateral TKA: a systematic review. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2019 May;27(5):1611-1620. [doi: 10.1007/s00167-018-5217-7] [Medline: 30334150]
- 12. Bahadori S, Wainwright TW, Ahmed OH. Smartphone apps for total hip replacement and total knee replacement surgery patients: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil 2018 Oct 26:1-6. [doi: 10.1080/09638288.2018.1514661] [Medline: 30362363]

- Correia FD, Nogueira A, Magalhães I, Guimarães J, Moreira M, Barradas I, et al. Medium-term outcomes of digital versus conventional home-based rehabilitation after total knee arthroplasty: prospective, parallel-group feasibility study. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2019 Feb 28;6(1):e13111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13111] [Medline: 30816849]
- 14. Sims J, Cosby N, Saliba EN, Hertel J, Saliba SA. Exergaming and static postural control in individuals with a history of lower limb injury. J Athl Train 2013;48(3):314-325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-48.2.04] [Medline: 23675790]
- 15. Siegel SR, Haddock B, Dubois AM, Wilkin LD. Active video/arcade games (exergaming) and energy expenditure in college students. Int J Exerc Sci 2009;2(3):165-174 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20407622]
- Horstmann H, Krost E, Welke B, Kerling A, Hanke A, Jakubowitz E, et al. The determination of the validity of an application-based knee-training device. Assist Technol 2018 Feb 21:1-8. [doi: <u>10.1080/10400435.2018.1441924</u>] [Medline: <u>29465298</u>]
- 17. Hardt S, Schulz MRG, Pfitzner T, Wassilew G, Horstmann H, Liodakis E, et al. Improved early outcome after TKA through an app-based active muscle training programme-a randomized-controlled trial. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2018 Nov;26(11):3429-3437. [doi: 10.1007/s00167-018-4918-2] [Medline: 29589050]
- Horstmann H, Clausen JD, Krettek C, Weber-Spickschen TS. [Evidence-based therapy for tendinopathy of the knee joint : which forms of therapy are scientifically proven?]. Unfallchirurg 2017 Mar;120(3):199-204. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00113-017-0310-9</u>] [Medline: <u>28138766</u>]
- Horstmann H, Colcuc C, Lobenhoffer P, Krettek C, Weber-Spickschen TS. Evaluation of the acceptability of a sphygmomanometer device in knee extension training following surgical procedures of the knee. Int J Orthop Trauma Nurs 2017 May;25:42-47. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijotn.2016.10.003] [Medline: 28256419]
- 20. Cordeiro d'Ornellas M, Santos Machado A, de Moraes JP, Cervi Prado AL. A serious game for anterior cruciate ligament rehabilitation: software development aspects and game engagement assessment. Stud Health Technol Inform 2017;245:1217. [Medline: 29295304]
- Eysenbach G, CONSORT-EHEALTH Group. CONSORT-EHEALTH: improving and standardizing evaluation reports of Web-based and mobile health interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 31;13(4):e126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1923] [Medline: 22209829]
- Idriss M, Tannous H, Istrate D, Perrochon A, Salle JY, Ho Ba Tho MC, et al. Rehabilitation-oriented serious game development and evaluation guidelines for musculoskeletal disorders. JMIR Serious Games 2017 Jul 04;5(3):e14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.7284] [Medline: 28676468]
- Chen P, Wei S, Hsieh W, Cheen J, Chen L, Kao C. Lower limb power rehabilitation (LLPR) using interactive video game for improvement of balance function in older people. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2012;55(3):677-682. [doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2012.05.012] [Medline: 22795360]
- 24. Amado I, Brénugat-Herné L, Orriols E, Desombre C, Dos Santos M, Prost Z, et al. A serious game to improve cognitive functions in schizophrenia: a pilot study. Front Psychiatry 2016;7:64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00064] [Medline: 27148093]
- 25. Tannous H, Istrate D, Benlarbi-Delai A, Sarrazin J, Idriss M, Ho Ba Tho MC, Tien Tuan Dao. Exploring various orientation measurement approaches applied to a serious game system for functional rehabilitation. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2016 Aug;2016:1987-1990. [doi: 10.1109/embc.2016.7591114] [Medline: 28268719]
- Grindem H, Risberg MA, Eitzen I. Two factors that may underpin outstanding outcomes after ACL rehabilitation. Br J Sports Med 2015 Nov;49(22):1425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-095194] [Medline: 26238870]
- 27. Heijne A, Ang BO, Werner S. Predictive factors for 12-month outcome after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2009 Dec;19(6):842-849. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2008.00852.x] [Medline: 19508651]
- 28. Csapo R, Hoser C, Gföller P, Raschner C, Fink C. Fitness, knee function and competition performance in professional alpine skiers after ACL injury. J Sci Med Sport 2018 Jun 28. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2018.06.014] [Medline: 29980379]
- Labruyère R, Gerber CN, Birrer-Brütsch K, Meyer-Heim A, van Hedel HJA. Requirements for and impact of a serious game for neuro-pediatric robot-assisted gait training. Res Dev Disabil 2013 Nov;34(11):3906-3915. [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2013.07.031] [Medline: 24025439]
- Bower KJ, Louie J, Landesrocha Y, Seedy P, Gorelik A, Bernhardt J. Clinical feasibility of interactive motion-controlled games for stroke rehabilitation. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2015 Aug 02;12:63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12984-015-0057-x] [Medline: 26233677]
- Manera V, Petit P, Derreumaux A, Orvieto I, Romagnoli M, Lyttle G, et al. 'Kitchen and cooking,' a serious game for mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: a pilot study. Front Aging Neurosci 2015;7:24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00024] [Medline: 25852542]

Abbreviations

RenderX

ACL: anterior cruciate ligament ANCOVA: analysis of covariance IKDC: International Knee Documentation Committee Subjective Knee KOOS: Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score

https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14282

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 05.04.19; peer-reviewed by M Rashid, G Stapleton, D Katz; comments to author 08.05.19; revised version received 13.05.19; accepted 14.05.19; published 24.01.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u>
Clausen JD, Nahen N, Horstmann H, Lasch F, Krutsch W, Krettek C, Weber-Spickschen TS
Improving Maximal Strength in the Initial Postoperative Phase After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction Surgery: Randomized
Controlled Trial of an App-Based Serious Gaming Approach
JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e14282
URL: https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14282
doi:10.2196/14282
PMID:32012046

©Jan-Dierk Clausen, Niclas Nahen, Hauke Horstmann, Florian Lasch, Werner Krutsch, Christian Krettek, Thomas Sanjay Weber-Spickschen. Originally published in JMIR Serious Games (http://games.jmir.org), 24.01.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Serious Games, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://games.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Engaging African American Youth in the Development of a Serious Mobile Game for Sexual Health Education: Mixed Methods Study

Loral Patchen¹, PhD, MSN, MA; Lindsey Ellis¹, MSN, MPH; Tony Xuyen Ma², MS; Corilyn Ott³, PhD; Katie H K Chang², MS; Brook Araya³; Sravanthi Atreyapurapu², MS, MSc; Amal Alyusuf², MD, MPH; Robin Gaines Lanzi³, PhD, MPH

¹MedStar Washington Hospital Center, Washington, DC, United States

²Benten Technologies, Manassas, VA, United States

³University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Loral Patchen, PhD, MSN, MA MedStar Washington Hospital Center 110 Irving Street NW Washington, DC, 20010 United States Phone: 1 2028777128 Email: loral.patchen@medstar.net

Abstract

Background: Although teen pregnancy rates decreased dramatically in the United States over the past decade, the rates of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) among adolescents and young adults increased. STI rates disproportionately affect African American youth and young adults. Innovative, accessible, and culturally relevant sexual health interventions are urgently needed.

Objective: This study aimed to identify the optimal modality for a game-based sexual health intervention; develop the educational, entertainment, and technological aspects of the serious game; and demonstrate its usability and acceptance by the target population.

Methods: This project was grounded in formative data collection with community-based participatory research principles and practices combined with a user-centered design and development approach. Sexually Active Adolescent–Focused Education (SAAFE) was developed using input and feedback from African American youths aged 15 to 21 years who participated in a youth advisory board and focus group discussions to inform the co-design and cocreation of the serious game. The process was highly iterative with multiple sessions for user input following design changes. It proceeded in 3 stages. Social cognitive theory and problem-solving theory were leveraged to provide evidence-based, trauma-informed education through a serious game. Usability testing assessed the quality of user experience with the prototype.

Results: Across all 3 stages, a total of 86 self-identified African American males and females aged 15 to 21 years from the District of Columbia and Birmingham, Alabama, participated. Participants requested a dating simulation game. They wanted SAAFE to be customizable, realistic, entertaining, educational, modern, and experiential, linking consequences to their gameplay decisions. Usability testing resulted in an initial System Usability Survey score of 77.7, placing the game in the 82nd percentile and above average for usability.

Conclusions: Initial results suggest that the SAAFE prototype is a promising intervention to engage African American youth in sexual health education using a role-playing game. If proven efficacious, the game has the potential to meet the need for sex education, counterbalance unhealthy portrayals of sex in popular media, and respond to the disparities in the STI epidemic.

(JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e16254) doi:10.2196/16254

KEYWORDS

RenderX

sexual health; sex education; African Americans; youth; adolescents; video games; games, experimental; community-based participatory research; user-centered design

Introduction

Background

The sexual health of adolescents and young adults in the United States remains a public health crisis. Youths aged 15 to 24 years acquire half of all new sexually transmitted infections (STIs), yet many do not obtain screening [1]. A 2013 survey revealed that only 27% and 9.8% of 15- to 25-year-old sexually experienced females and males, respectively, had been tested for STIs in the past 12 months [2]. Significant disparities in sexual health also exist among the youth. African Americans make up 13% of the US population, but in 2017, they accounted for 27.7% of new chlamydia infections, 31.8% of new syphilis infections, 39.7% of new gonorrhea infections, and 43% of new HIV infections [1,3]. African American high school students are significantly more likely than other race and ethnic groups to identify 4 or more sexual partners within their lifetime [4].

Improving the sexual health of adolescents and young adults and reducing racial disparities are public health priorities included in Healthy People 2020. However, analysis of the Center for Disease Control and Prevention's National Survey of Family Growth found that receipt of formal sex education is both inadequate and on the decline in the United States. Between 2011 and 2013, although approximately three-quarters of teens received education on STIs and HIV, less than three-quarters were taught how to say no to sex and only half received education on condoms [5]. New approaches to the delivery of sexual health content that is engaging to the youth and culturally specific are needed.

Serious video games are increasingly used for health education purposes and show promise as educational tools [6]. A serious video game is defined as "an interactive computer application, with or without a significant hardware component, that has a challenging goal, is fun to play with, incorporates some concept of scoring, and imparts in the user a skill, knowledge or attitude which can be applied in the real world" [7]. The main difference between a serious video game and a video game in general is that the former is developed for pedagogical purposes beyond the entertainment and recreational goals of the latter [8].

Young Americans, regardless of race or ethnicity, are prolific video game players [9]. About 90% of teens and 67% of young adults report playing video games, and about a quarter of teens believe that they spend *too much time* on these games [10-12]. African Americans are more likely to view video games positively (ie, promote teamwork and communication and problem-solving and strategic thinking skills), which may reflect greater engagement among this group [13]. Video games can be played on a mobile device (such as a phone or a tablet), a gaming console, or a computer, but African American youth are more likely to depend on their mobile devices to access video games on the Web [14].

Sexual health is an emerging focus for serious video games, and the results are promising [15]. A good example is *PlayForward: Elm City Stories* developed by the Play2Prevent Lab at the Yale Center for Health & Learning Games. It showed promise in improving sexual health knowledge and skills among

http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e16254/

youths of color aged 11 to 14 [16]. Another example is *It's Your Game* developed by the University of Texas Prevention Research Center. *It's Your Game* is a computer-based sexual health education game designed for middle schoolers of any race and ethnicity in a classroom setting; it demonstrated effectiveness in delaying initiation of sexual activity [17-19]. However, no comprehensive sexual health game has been developed *with* older African American adolescents and young adults for use on a mobile platform.

Objectives

This study describes the development of a mobile-based serious video game for sexual health education, Sexually Active Adolescent–Focused Education (SAAFE), designed specifically with and for youths who identify as African American. The goal of our intervention is to promote healthy sexual behaviors that, among other things, help reduce the disproportionate burden of STIs among African American youth.

Before launching intervention development, our multidisciplinary scientific team convened a panel with expertise in clinical service delivery of adolescent sexual health, developmental psychology, and mobile health (mHealth) technology. The purpose of the panel was to assist our team with content development, align the project with existing research, and identify behavioral targets of interest.

Social cognitive theory (SCT) and problem-solving theory (PST) provided theoretical frameworks for design and development decisions. SCT describes the multiple, reciprocal influences on health behaviors, including individual experiences, beliefs, and environmental factors [20]. SCT states that "knowledge of health risks and benefits of different health practices, perceived self-efficacy, outcome expectations about the expected costs and benefits, health goals people set for themselves, and perceived facilitators and social and structural impediments" can translate knowledge into effective health practices [20]. Building self-efficacy (confidence in one's ability to perform a desired health behavior) and self-regulation (goal setting and planning) are key constructs of SCT that guided the development of SAAFE. PST describes a problem-solving process whereby an individual "gains new pieces of information and finds out gradually which circumstances affect, or don't affect the removal of the cause, the conflict or the difficulty" [21].

This paper describes the scope and process of our work, presents findings, describes the research leading to the final serious game, shares lessons learned, and outlines plans to proceed to the next phase: an outcome evaluation; gaming optimization; and, if impact is demonstrated, widespread implementation.

Methods

Overview

A community-based participatory research approach, integrated with user-centered design and development methods, effectively informed the development of SAAFE. The process was highly iterative, with multiple sessions for user input following design changes. It proceeded in 3 stages, described below. Across all stages, a total of 86 self-identified African American males and

females aged 15 to 21 years from the District of Columbia (DC) and Birmingham, Alabama (AL), participated.

First, a youth advisory board provided input to develop a game prototype. This prototype was then tested for usability. Subsequently, we conducted a series of focus groups to further develop and finalize the game. We adopted an Agile methodology, which is an iterative process whereby the game is built incrementally in biweekly development cycles, called *sprints*, that allows for user feedback after each cycle. Editing and developing the game between focus groups allowed participants to systematically review our progress. Figure 1 shows an illustration of this framework for SAAFE development.

Figure 1. User-centered design processes. SAAFE: Sexually Active Adolescent–Focused Education; SUS: System Usability Scale.



This study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of the MedStar Health Research Institute and the University of Alabama at Birmingham.

Participants

African American youths aged 15 to 21 years were included in the study. Females who were pregnant or within 6 weeks post-partum were excluded because attitudes and behaviors during the prenatal and immediate postpartum period may be systematically different. Written informed consent was obtained for participants aged 18 years or older; parental consent with the adolescent's assent was obtained for participants younger than 18 years.

Initially, 6 African American youths were recruited from the DC area to participate in the youth advisory board and inform the initial prototype development. Participants of the youth advisory board responded to a description of the work made available at nonprofit organizations focused on the youth and an adolescent health center. A study team member met with the interested youths to explain the project, review eligibility criteria, and obtain consent and assent to participate.

New participants then tested the SAAFE game prototype and completed a usability survey. Recruitment occurred at an adolescent health center in DC over 4 weeks. Prospective participants were informed about the study by a health center team member. If interested, they were asked to complete a short

http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e16254/

RenderX

questionnaire to verify eligibility as described above, and then, the participants signed an informed consent document. They were then provided access to the game.

Usability data were obtained for the prototype to ensure acceptability. Results were promising, so the team held a series of focus groups with new participants to guide additional development. To capture additional geographic variability in youth perspectives, we expanded our sample to include Birmingham, AL. Like DC, AL has a high STI burden. Participants were recruited from adolescent health and community centers to participate in focus groups over the course of 9 months. Many youths took part in 2 or more focus groups. Each focus group lasted about 2 hours and included 6 to 10 youths. Two groups ran concurrently and reviewed the same topics in AL; 1 group included youths who identified as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer/questioning, intersex, or asexual (LGBTQIA) and the second group included youths in which LGBTQIA status was not specified. The LGBTQIA status of the DC groups was not specified. Focus group discussions were held in private rooms and were led by a trained focus group moderator. Participants were asked to sign an agreement to keep the identity of others confidential. They received a US \$50 cash incentive for participating in each focus group.

Game Development Process

The project began with a review of the scientific literature and consultation with a panel of experts in the fields of adolescent

sexual health, child development, and mHealth intervention strategies to define outcome parameters and behavioral health targets. We then recruited the youth advisory board to inform initial design decisions and prototype development. Gaming experts with graduate and undergraduate degrees programmed the game with assistance from graphic artists, script writers, and audio/visual specialists.

Youth Advisory Board

Guided by our design and development framework of maximizing engagement of community users, the initial design and features of the game were driven by 4 meetings with the youth advisory board that took place in DC over the course of 8 months with 2 months between the first 3 meetings and 4 months between third and fourth meetings. An overview of the topics discussed is presented in Textbox 1. The initial SAAFE game prototype—an initial version of the game—was developed and refined based on feedback obtained after each meeting.

Textbox 1. Overview of the topics explored with the youth advisory board.

Meeting 1
• Introduction
• Video game use habits
Sexual health topics
Sexual language identification
Meeting 2
Game concept
• Storyline, character, and scene design
Meeting 3
Storyboard design
Game navigation
Meeting 4
• Game play
Feedback on graphics and game content

The resulting prototype was then shared with the youth advisory board. They were given tablets with the game preinstalled. Members reviewed the game instructions and provided feedback on clarity, language, length, and ease of understanding. They played the prototype for at least an hour and provided feedback on content, artwork and design, minigames, dialogue, and entertainment value. Meeting facilitators recorded the session and developed a list of key recommendations from members. The design team listened to the recording and used the key recommendations list to inform the final refinements before usability testing.

Usability Testing

Youths participating in usability testing were provided a tablet with the game preinstalled and a unique user code. They played the game for an hour and then completed the System Usability Scale (SUS), a highly reliable (Cronbach alpha of .91) 10-item Likert scale that measures the user's experience with an electronic tool [22]. Specifically, SUS measures function, efficiency, effectiveness, and satisfaction. It is the most common questionnaire used in assessing system usability. Possible scores range from 0 (not usable) to 100 (perfectly usable). A score of 68 is considered average, so a score above 68 implies that a tool has greater than average usability. We asked 4 additional questions with a 1 to 5 scale (strongly disagree to strongly agree): "I would consider downloading the SAAFE game to play," "I learn a lot about STIs using the SAAFE game," "I would recommend the SAAFE game to a friend," and "Overall, I am satisfied with playing the SAAFE game." The goal was to achieve an average score of 4 or higher.

Focus Groups

Usability metrics for the SAAFE prototype were promising, so we proceeded to conduct focus groups, which were an integral part of our user-centered, highly iterative process of cocreation. Focus group participants reviewed content and design, and we modified the game based on those findings. We used Microsoft PowerPoint and YouTube videos to aid in discussions of features and scenarios. We discussed dialogue with printouts given to each participant. We provided tablets with the game preinstalled for gameplay. Feedback from each focus group was analyzed, compared and contrasted, and incorporated into the game before the next focus group. Table 1 provides an overview of the topics explored in each focus group.



Table 1. Overview of focus group discussion topics.

Patchen et al

Focus group number	Торіс	Sample questions
Focus groups 1 and 2	General feedback and features	 What are your general impressions? How do you feel about the game's destinations and setting, characters and interactions, multiplayer capability, minigames, and education? What are the most important changes we should make? What ideas do you have for other features?
Focus groups 3 and 4	Scenarios	Review of storylines and possible outcomesAre the scenarios realistic?What else would you like to see happen?
Focus groups 5-7	Dialogue	 Line-by-line dialogue review Does the dialogue resonate with you? What would you change?
Focus group 8 (District of Columbia only)	General feedback and gameplay	 Extended gameplay What are your general impressions? What do you like about the game? What do you not like? Would you play this game?

Each focus group session was audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim, omitting all identifying data. Transcribed documents were downloaded onto a password-protected computer for data analyses. NVivo 11 was used to begin the open coding process and the hierarchical coping model–guided analysis as themes emerged. Findings were shared with the game development team throughout the process to inform game development and refinements.

Results

Participants

In total, 86 youths identifying as African American aged between 15 and 21 years participated in this study. Overall, 6 individuals, 3 males and 3 females, participated in the youth advisory board. One female member withdrew because of school and work conflicts after the first session. Finally, 26 youths participated in usability testing, and 54 individuals, 23 from AL and 31 from DC, participated in focus groups. A total of 8 focus groups were held in DC, 7 were held in AL with the LGBTQIA group, and an additional 7 were held in AL with the LGBTQIA status-unspecified group.

Regarding focus group participants, half of the participants (27/54) identified as male and 30% (16/54) identified as LGBTQIA. Most participants, 67% (36/54), were engaged in some kind of employment, and 65% (35/54) of the participants were in high school. Moreover, 35% (19/54) of the participants reported never playing video games, whereas 22% (12/54) of the participants reported playing games daily. Two-thirds of the participants (36/54) reported a history of sexual activity. Among participants with a history of sexual activity, 64% (23/36) reported using a condom during their most recent sexual encounter and 72% (26/36) had been tested for STIs at least once. Complete demographics and descriptive information are available in Table 2.



Table 2. Demographics, gaming habits, and sexual history of focus group participants.

Participant response		Value, n (%) ^a
Sex		
	Male	27 (50)
	Female	26 (48)
	Trans female	1 (2)
Age	e (years)	
	15	5 (9)
	16	7 (13)
	17	10 (19)
	18	14 (26)
	19	6 (11)
	20	8 (15)
	21	4 (7)
Ide	ntify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer/questioning, intersex, or asexua	al
	Yes	16 (29)
	No	36 (67)
	NR ^b	2 (4)
Sch	ool status	
	High school	35 (65)
	College	18 (33)
	Not in school	1 (2)
Em	ployed	
	Yes	36 (67)
	No	18 (33)
Vid	eogame play frequency	
	Never	19 (35)
	1-2 days per week	12 (22)
	3-4 days per week	7 (13)
	5-6 days per week	3 (6)
	Everyday	12 (22)
	NR	1 (2)
Eve	r sexually active	
	Yes	36 (67)
	No	15 (28)
	NR	3 (6)
If y	es, age at first sex (years)	
	<11	1 (3)
	11	3 (8)
	13	4 (11)
	14	6 (17)
	15	8 (22)
	16	6 (17)



XSL•FO RenderX

Patchen et al

Participant response	Value, n (%) ^a	
17	4 (11)	
18	2 (6)	
NR	2 (6)	
Condom use during last sex		
Yes	23 (64)	
No	11 (31)	
NR	2 (6)	
Ever used condoms		
Yes	32 (89)	
No	2 (6)	
NR	2 (6)	
Ever tested for STIs ^c		
Yes	26 (72)	
No	9 (25)	
NR	1 (3)	
Ever had an STI		
Yes	5 (14)	
No	29 (81)	
NR	2 (6)	
Number of sex partners now		
0	9 (25)	
1	22 (61)	
2	1 (3)	
4	2 (6)	
Number of sex partners in the last month		
0	5 (14)	
1	20 (56)	
2	3 (8)	
4	2 (6)	
5	2 (6)	
>5	1 (3)	
NR	3 (8)	
Number of sex partners in the last year		
0	1 (3)	
1	14 (39)	
2	6 (17)	
3	3 (8)	
4	4 (11)	
5	2 (6)	
>5	1 (3)	



XSL•FO RenderX

JMIR SERIOUS GAMES	Patcl	hen et al
Participant response	Value, n (%) ^a	
NR	5 (14)	

^aSome percentages do not add up to 100 because of rounding.

^bNR: not reported.

^cSTI: sexually transmitted infection.

Youth Advisory Board: Initial Prototype Development

Participants in the youth advisory board informed the design and development of the prototype SAAFE game. The main contributions of the youth advisory board are described below.

A *dating simulation game* was the preferred game concept. The research team presented 3 other choices to the youth advisory board: an American Idol or rap storybook, a professional athlete role play, and Game of Life board game. Members quickly and unanimously expressed preference for the dating simulation game. They were energized about creating their own character and making decisions through simulated real-life situations. The research team also presented minigames to embed within the game to enhance player engagement. Members liked all the games, which included *STI Shooter, Condom Run,* and *Fact Pop*.

Youth advisory board members wanted *characters that were realistic and customizable*. When asked about character design, they did not want cartoons and preferred characters that reflected their own ages. Characters should have different body types and skin tones, with many options for customization through clothing, tattoos, and accessories.

Members wanted *realistic settings, situations, and dialogue*. They preferred an urban setting and rejected settings they interpreted as *rich* or that seemed too perfect. The research team introduced options for situations and dialogue, and again, they wanted it to be as *real* as possible, often rejecting attempts at humor and preferring language they use in their everyday lives.

Youth advisory board members recommended that *instructions* be part of game play. Initial game instructions were tedious and too long and used words unfamiliar to them. Members would skip past them and *figure it out* as they played. They also pointed out that the meaning of status bars was unclear. For example, if the fatigue bar was full, members were not sure if their character was tired or well rested.

Members recommended *more sexual health education* in the game. They enjoyed game play but expected to learn more.

They recommended that the pop-ups and dialogues deliver more information.

All youth advisory board feedback was incorporated before initiating usability testing of the SAAFE prototype.

Usability Testing of the Initial Prototype

According to a review of usability studies, 20 participants are sufficient to identify at least 95% of existing usability problems for a prototype [23]. Overall, 26 participants completed the SAAFE prototype usability testing and 23 completed the SUS survey. SAAFE's average SUS score was 77.7, which is higher than the average SUS score of 68 [24]. A SUS score of 80.3 or higher would place a game in the top 10% with regard to usability and is the point at which a user would recommend a game to a friend [25]. This benchmark score is within SAAFE's average score margin of error.

In addition, 25 of the 26 users responded to the 4 additional questions and agreed or strongly agreed that "I would recommend the SAAFE game to a friend" and "Overall, I am satisfied with playing the SAAFE game," with mean scores of 4.4 and 4.32, respectively. "I would consider downloading the SAAFE game to play" had an average score of 3.92, and "I learn a lot about STIs using the SAAFE game" had an average score of 3.96. These scores approached the goal score of 4, indicating that participants on average agreed with these statements or felt neutral.

Focus Group Findings: Game Development

The promising usability findings for the SAFFE prototype justified additional game development. Focus groups yielded the following key insights: offer extensive opportunities for avatar customization, including sexual orientation; create realistic and relatable storyboards; strike a balance between education and entertainment; use current technology that is as sophisticated as other games; allow youths to experiment and experience the consequences of their actions through storyboards; and include elements of competition and game-play incentives. A summary of the main themes is provided in Table 3.



Patchen et al

Table 3. Themes emerging from focus groups regarding the game development.

Theme and its description	Representative quotes
Realistic	
Participants wanted the game to resemble the real world as much as possible	 "The whole point is to educate about what type of things go in your real life. It needs to be realistic." "I feel like it's a small world right there." "If you could add like a moving likemoving itemslike a car driving aroundadd movement and to make it realisticMaybe a bird or a planein the distance that will be good."
Relatable	
Participants wanted to relate to the language, situations, and characters	 "Also may be like adding stuff about like the LGBT communityLGBTQ community as well cuzit seems very heterosexual in there." "You should be able to pick the person who you want to be and not be just the generic." "This is just an ideaBut if he gave people the option to customize their own avatar basicallythey're going to want to do it cuz it's like it's themthey can be who they want and they can letyou know they can learn moreBut if you give them a random personthey will be like I didn't want that personif it is a dudea 30 year old girl will be like I don't want a dudeI am not dude." "I also think some the language that they were using is a little bit like make me wanna roll my eyes a little bit like the way that they were talking to thethe narrator was talking to us like I don't know I can't remember what he said exactly but some of the stuff we were like whatI did not feel like authentic."
Customizable	
Participants wanted the ability to choose the gender, ap- pearance, sexual orientation, and personality of the avatar; the type of community; and the education that they would be exposed to	 "If we had a really short hair option for girls." "I just like for at least there to be a lot of options for dark skin." "I think that when you have that at such a young age, they're not going to think anything of it and I think it is more likely to reinforce that dialogue is something that is acceptable."
Entertaining	
Participants preferred less text, more audio, and more entertainment to maintain engagement	 "The information that they were giving were really goodI think that there needs to be a little bit more fun though cuz I think it's like someonewouldn't play." "Even though like it is important information like you can shorten it for fun because it would be bored." "Ya coz there is a lot of reading seems unnecessary."
Experiential	
Participants desired to experiment with high-risk behav- iors and experience consequences of those behaviors	 "I think there should be a little bit of a scare in the game." "If you get pregnant, it's just like game over." "In real life, you can't go back, but in this game, you can learn." "If you die you're going to be mad, you're going to be mad, but it's like you know you did that Victory Royaleyou will be like I did itI got it."
Modern technology	
Participants reported that they are accustomed to having many high-quality, high-functionality videogame options and would be unlikely to endure a game that was per- ceived to be outdated or difficult to use	 "You know video games are like really realistic now and so if you're trying to get [early teens] to want to pay attention to it, you're going to want something that's going to catch their eyes. If it is something like [school], they are going to just keep tapping until it is over." "Because you don't, you don't want to make this whole game and go through this whole hassle and people are just tapping tapping and getting these coins and it's all for nothing."

Customization was a frequent topic of conversation and a high priority for focus group participants. Participants wanted their game avatars to better represent themselves. They wanted to choose the gender, appearance, clothing, sexual orientation, and personality of their avatar. Focus group participants specifically recommended offering a variety of skin tones, facial features, hair colors and styles, clothes, head coverings, jewelry, and

http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e16254/

XSL•FO RenderX gender-neutral options and elimination of binary options. Customizing the community—urban or suburban and high income or low income—was also suggested. Nearly all participants responded well to location-specific information about sexual health sites where they could get STI testing or free condoms, among other services. In addition, there was a

props. Participants that identified as LGBTQIA requested

discussion about customization of content for different age groups. For example, many older adolescent participants wanted to see vivid pictures of STIs but thought that might not be appropriate for younger teens. They suggested different game versions for different age groups.

Achieving a *realistic and relatable* game was a high priority for participants across focus groups. According to participants, the virtual world in the first version of the game looked like a *rich neighborhood* and unlike their own urban neighborhoods. They also expected the health center to look more like an emergency room, which was perceived to be a more routine place to obtain health care. The virtual world also needed more locations. Suggested locations included a restaurant, store, mall, friend's house, hotel, place of employment, library, school or college campus, dorm room, sports arena, movie theater, concert, club, bar, house party, and sex party.

Language, situational relevance, and dialogue proved to be highly nuanced and variable depending on the geographic location. For example, the slang term lit (meaning exciting or excellent) was agreed upon in both locations. Mumbo sauce (a condiment) is most popular in DC and raised questions in Birmingham. Both groups felt that baking a cake was not relatable, so it was swapped with making a pizza. In addition, early focus groups felt that dialogue with nonplayer characters was too short and that sexual proposals were too abrupt. Participants wanted real-life relationship building to be reflected in the game, which was further developed with dialogue and expanded storylines. In addition, 1 group discussed the importance of using language that discusses sex and sexual behavior in a way that is a matter of fact, positive, and not shaming. Some felt that the game assumed emotional intimacy in sexual relationships, although in reality, that is not always the case.

The appeal for *incentives and competition* in the game was nearly universal. All groups recommended that storylines include rewards for safe, healthy behaviors and consequences for high-risk behaviors. They suggested the ability to make and spend money within the game, perhaps for avatar enhancements such as a greater range of hairstyles. Some participants wanted to invite and compete with other players and to share their scores on social media. Minigames were offered as a way to earn and use *currency*. The minigames are sexual health themed and intended to be entertaining more than educational so that players stay engaged. An arcade was added featuring a range of minigame options to keep the players engaged and to earn money for use in the game.

Focus groups universally desired to *experiment* with high-risk behaviors and experience the sometimes unpleasant and difficult consequences of those behaviors. According to the youth, experiencing harsh consequences of risky behaviors in the virtual world would facilitate learning that could be applied to the real world. It would enhance the game's realism as well. One group suggested poor appearance or death as an outcome if you drink too much or do not get STI treatment. Participants were eager to replay a scenario so that they could choose a different behavior and see how the outcomes changed.

```
http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e16254/
```

The youths expected the SAAFE technology, functionality, and graphics to be *modern and sophisticated*. They reported that they are accustomed to having many high-quality, high-functionality videogame options and would be unlikely to endure a game that was perceived to be outdated or difficult to use. They expected character animations—such as walking and dancing—and graphics to be more realistic and novel. One participant requested "maybe a bird or a plane in the distance." Nearly all participants expected music and audio features.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The main findings of this study were that a sample of African American youth in DC and AL preferred a dating simulation game that allowed experimentation with high-risk behaviors and that was customizable, entertaining, educational, realistic and relatable, incentivized and competitive, and modern and sophisticated. The SAAFE game was developed in partnership with the youth, and the youth found the SAAFE game to be highly usable.

Sexually Active Adolescent–Focused Education Game

Findings from focus groups led to the refinement and development of the final SAAFE game described here. The SAAFE game centers on visiting different locations in the virtual world and interacting with other nonplayer characters to build relationships and have intimate encounters. In response to focus group findings, 7 sexual health-themed storylines, or missions, were developed. Each mission represents a content area with learning objectives. Missions can be played sequentially or randomly. The first storyline New Kid on the Block introduces the player to the game and discusses the use of condoms and dental dams. The second storyline Getting Tested centers on STIs: transmission, health impacts, symptomology, testing modalities, and treatment, and a health care visit is modeled. Making PrEParations discusses the transmission, natural history, and treatment of HIV/AIDS and the use and benefits of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) in preventing HIV/AIDS. Storyline 4 Just Say Yes or No teaches about sexual assault, coercion, and incapacity and models sexual consent. Storyline 5 Use It centers on condom negotiation. Storyline 6 All Romance simulates relationship building and healthy communication about sex. The final storyline Sex, Drugs, and Rock N' Roll reviews the impact of substance use on sexual behaviors. Subthemes that run across multiple storylines include behaviors that mediate STI risk; abstinence and limiting sex partners; accessing health care; and responsible technology use, including sexting and pornography.

Findings emphasize the importance of players having the ability to customize their avatar's appearance and sexual orientation (see Figure 2 for a screenshot of character design). To improve the delivery of game-play instructions, we followed focus group guidance and oriented players to game features as part of the first mission (see Figure 3 for a screenshot of the Studenton city map). Game settings were developed based on focus group suggestions, including different school locations (cafeteria, homeroom, and sex education classroom) and city locations (movie theater, clinic, gym, store, video arcade, house party,

XSL•FO RenderX

and home; see Figure 4). As players interact with nonplayer characters, they are asked to select responses and behaviors that become increasingly sexually intimate and potentially high risk. As desired by our participants, healthy behaviors and learning are rewarded with coins and increases in health and attractiveness and relationship meters, whereas unhealthy behaviors are discouraged through decreases in the same meters. Undesirable outcomes such as STI acquisition, breakups, and loss of friends also occur in response to unhealthy behaviors (see Figure 5 for a screenshot of dialogue with a nonplayer character at home).

Delivery of educational content is consistent with focus group preferences. Players attend sex education class and converse with elders for more traditional didactic information exchange (see Figure 6). They can elect to view posters and videos that are located throughout Studenton. Pop quizzes, pop-ups, and links to outside resources are also scattered throughout the game (see Figure 7), and the arcade includes a sexual health trivia minigame (see Figure 8). Learning and skill building also occur as players move through the storylines and experience the rewards or consequences of their actions.

Figure 2. Screenshot of character design.



Figure 3. Screenshot of Studenton city map.





RenderX

Figure 4. Screenshot of the clinic.



Figure 5. Screenshot of dialogue with a nonplayer character at home.





Figure 6. Screenshot of sex education class.



Figure 7. Screenshot of a pop quiz.





Figure 8. Screenshot of the arcade.



The mobile elements of SAAFE provide opportunities to customize content to local communities and specific audiences. For example, a link to or listing of local resources that provide sexual health care services and free condoms can be embedded. The legal status of sexual health services—for example, the age at which youths can consent to STI testing without parental involvement—varies geographically, and this information may be customized in the game. Videos and infographics embedded in the game can be swapped to meet the educational needs of specific audiences. This feature allows SAAFE to be useful and valuable to a multitude of entities, such as schools and health centers, and across geographic locations.

Creating and fostering community-engaged research with African American youth was critical to the successful development of the SAAFE game. The initial high usability index was a direct result of the partnership with the youth to ensure the game was not only relatable but also fun. This study has further elucidated how community-based participatory research can enable a transfer of knowledge and skills between the community and academic scientists. Indeed, youths participating in this project were highly engaged and committed and contributed sophisticated and nuanced insight. Adopting an Agile game development methodology also proved invaluable. Editing and developing the game between focus groups allowed participants to systematically review our progress. This interactive approach allowed the design team to collaborate effectively and ensure SAAFE appropriately reflected the feedback from focus groups.

Regarding theoretical frameworks, SAAFE applies SCT and PST by presenting information, modeling behaviors, and allowing players to experiment with behaviors that lead to desirable and undesirable outcomes. The youth are provided with engaging and educational pop-ups, quizzes, videos, and links to outside resources. Avatar-based realistic scenarios task

```
http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e16254/
```

RenderX

youths with making sexual health decisions, and they virtually experience the outcomes of their decisions. Unhealthy behaviors may result in STIs, pregnancy, or the end of relationships. Ideally, players will develop self-efficacy, self-regulation, and problem-solving skills with regard to sexual health behaviors that will translate to the identification and adoption of those behaviors in real life.

Challenges and Lessons Learned

The sexual exposures and learning needs of youths aged 15 to 21 years are quite different. The information was novel, yet sometimes overwhelming, for younger youths, whereas older youths appreciated more detail and nuance but were already familiar with much of the information. Greater age specificity may be beneficial. Technology today is sophisticated, and the youth have many game and entertainment choices. Keeping pace with their high expectations and competing to win their attention will continue to be a challenge as long as a gap remains in research and development of commercial entertainment and serious game products.

Striking the right balance between education and entertainment was complex. Youths will engage more meaningfully with the game if they are entertained, yet the game is intended to be educational, and the youth expect to learn something. They expressed frustration with an imbalance either way. The game in its current form does not contain all educational content that we would have liked, most notably, contraception. Our team plans to develop reproductive health themes with next steps and additional resources.

Developing a game that is both customizable to the user while also being relatable and relevant to the larger demographic group proved challenging. We learned that it was easier to develop dialogue and content regarding facts. It was harder to develop dialogue and content to cultivate intimate communication skills

and obtaining sexual consent. Dialogue, in particular, required many iterations. Geographic variations in language, culture, and access to health care led the team to adopt more generic language and information at the cost of specificity. The option to customize the game to different regions of the United States via a built-in dialogue engine mitigates this concern.

Thoughtful use of language was key. It was important to discuss sex and sexual behaviors in a way that is trauma informed, direct, nonjudgmental, and nonshaming. Youths also preferred language that was familiar and realistic. The development team desired language that was scientifically accurate and attentive to the psychological and emotional impact of words. This was perhaps the most complex aspect of developing SAAFE.

By modeling behaviors and conversations that are healthy and respectful, this game is part of a solution to contemporary social problems such as sexual assault and marginalization of persons living with HIV. We endeavored to counter stereotypes and include groups that have historically been excluded, including women, people of color, and LGBTQIA individuals. Participants in this project defied stereotypes that the youth are ill informed, reckless, and thrill seeking. On the contrary, youths desire to be responsible and healthy. The final game ensures to represent the youth in a manner that is accurate and respectful.

Implications

SAAFE is a highly usable mobile game that effectively engages African American youth to learn about and simulate healthy sexual behaviors. Further research, in the form of a larger randomized control trial, is currently underway to evaluate the game's ability to deliver health education, promote condom utilization, and prompt the youth to seek STI testing and treatment. Secondary outcomes of interest include PrEP knowledge and sexual consent knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors. Future versions will also include comprehensive contraception content.

Our Agile and community-based participatory research methodologies can be applied to the development of other serious games, particularly those of the simulation or role-play genres. Our results and lessons learned are also generalizable to serious game developers.

The initial findings suggest that SAAFE has the potential to help meet the need for innovative approaches to sex education and that SAAFE offers an opportunity to augment more traditional didactic sexual health education in an effort to promote healthy sexual behaviors and reduce the burden of STIs among African American youth.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful for the time, creativity, and honest conversations the focus group members contributed to this project. The authors also wish to acknowledge the input of the following advisory members: Jason Beverly, Georgetown University; Ralph Joseph Diclemente, New York University; W Douglas Evans, George Washington University; Aurora Muñoz, Young Women's Project; and Tina Simpson, Department of Pediatrics, Children's of Alabama, University of Alabama at Birmingham. Research reported in this publication was supported by National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (1R43 HD072823-01 and 2R44 HD072823-02) and the University of Alabama at Birmingham Center For AIDS Research, a National Institutes of Health–funded program (P30 AI027767) that was made possible by the following institutes: National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Cancer Institute, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institute on Drug Abuse, National Institute of Mental Health, National Investigation Agency, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research, and Office of AIDS Research. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

Conflicts of Interest

LP discloses participation in the Diclegis Speakers Bureau for Duchesnay Pharmaceuticals. Other authors have nothing to disclose.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Powerpoint presentation of study highlights with screenshots. [PPTX File, 11999 KB - games v8i1e16254 app1.pptx]

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2018 Sep. Sexually Transmitted Disease Surveillance 2017 URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/std/stats17/2017-STD-Surveillance-Report_CDC-clearance-9.10.18.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-11-11]
- Cuffe KM, Newton-Levinson A, Gift TL, McFarlane M, Leichliter JS. Sexually transmitted infection testing among adolescents and young adults in the United States. J Adolesc Health 2016 May;58(5):512-519. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.01.002] [Medline: 26987687]
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2018. HIV in the United States (Racial/Ethnic Groups) URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/statistics/overview/ataglance.html</u> [accessed 2019-11-11]

- 4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2018 Aug 22. Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/index.htm</u> [accessed 2019-11-11]
- 5. Lindberg LD, Maddow-Zimet I, Boonstra H. Changes in adolescents' receipt of sex education, 2006-2013. J Adolesc Health 2016 Jun;58(6):621-627 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.02.004] [Medline: 27032487]
- Gentry SV, Gauthier A, Ehrstrom BL, Wortley D, Lilienthal A, Car LT, et al. Serious gaming and gamification education in health professions: Systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 28;21(3):e12994 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12994] [Medline: 30920375]
- 7. Bergeron B. Appendix A: Glossary. In: Developing Serious Games. Rockland, MA: Charles River Media; 2006:398.
- Gorbanev I, Agudelo-Londoño S, González RA, Cortes A, Pomares A, Delgadillo V, et al. A systematic review of serious games in medical education: quality of evidence and pedagogical strategy. Med Educ Online 2018 Dec;23(1):1438718
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10872981.2018.1438718] [Medline: 29457760]
- 9. Brown A. Pew Research Center. 2017 Sep 11. Younger Men Play Video Games, but So Do a Diverse Group of Other Americans URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/09/11/</u>
- younger-men-play-video-games-but-so-do-a-diverse-group-of-other-americans/ [accessed 2019-11-11]
 Anderson M, Jiang J. Pew Research Center. 2018 May 31. Teens, Social Media & Technology 2018 URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2018/05/31/teens-social-media-technology-2018/</u> [accessed 2019-11-11]
- Duggan M. Pew Research Center. 2015 Dec 15. Gaming and Gamers URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/12/15/gaming-and-gamers/</u> [accessed 2019-11-11]
- 12. Perrin A. Pew Research Center. 2018 Sep 17. 5 Facts About Americans and Video Games URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2018/09/17/5-facts-about-americans-and-video-games/</u>[accessed 2019-11-11]
- 13. Anderson M. Pew Research Center. 2015 Dec 17. Views on Gaming Differ by Race, Ethnicity URL: <u>http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2015/12/17/views-on-gaming-differ-by-race-ethnicity/</u> [accessed 2019-11-11]
- 14. Pew Research Center. 2019 Jun 12. Internet/Broadband Fact Sheet URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/</u> internet-broadband/ [accessed 2019-11-11]
- Guse K, Levine D, Martins S, Lira A, Gaarde J, Westmorland W, et al. Interventions using new digital media to improve adolescent sexual health: a systematic review. J Adolesc Health 2012 Dec;51(6):535-543. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.03.014] [Medline: 23174462]
- Fiellin LE, Hieftje KD, Pendergrass TM, Kyriakides TC, Duncan LR, Dziura JD, et al. Video game intervention for sexual risk reduction in minority adolescents: Randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2017 Sep 18;19(9):e314 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8148] [Medline: 28923788]
- 17. Tortolero SR, Markham CM, Peskin MF, Shegog R, Addy RC, Escobar-Chaves SL, et al. It's Your Game: Keep It Real: delaying sexual behavior with an effective middle school program. J Adolesc Health 2010 Feb;46(2):169-179 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.06.008] [Medline: 20113923]
- Shegog R, Markham C, Peskin M, Dancel M, Coton C, Tortolero S. 'It's your game': an innovative multimedia virtual world to prevent HIV/STI and pregnancy in middle school youth. Stud Health Technol Inform 2007;129(Pt 2):983-987. [Medline: <u>17911862</u>]
- Markham CM, Tortolero SR, Peskin MF, Shegog R, Thiel M, Baumler ER, et al. Sexual risk avoidance and sexual risk reduction interventions for middle school youth: a randomized controlled trial. J Adolesc Health 2012 Mar;50(3):279-288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.07.010] [Medline: 22325134]
- 20. Bandura A. Health promotion by social cognitive means. Health Educ Behav 2004 Apr;31(2):143-164. [doi: 10.1177/1090198104263660] [Medline: 15090118]
- 21. Dostál J. Theory of problem solving. Procedia Soc Behav Sci 2015;174:2798-2805. [doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.970]
- 22. Bangor A, Kortum PT, Miller JT. An empirical evaluation of the System Usability Scale. Int J Hum Comput Interact 2008;24(6):574-594. [doi: 10.1080/10447310802205776]
- 23. Faulkner L. Beyond the five-user assumption: benefits of increased sample sizes in usability testing. Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput 2003 Aug;35(3):379-383. [doi: 10.3758/bf03195514] [Medline: 14587545]
- 24. US Department of Health & Human Services. System Usability Scale (SUS) URL: <u>https://www.usability.gov/how-to-and-tools/methods/system-usability-scale.html</u> [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 25. Shegog R, Brown K, Bull S, Christensen JL, Hieftje K, Jozkowski KN, et al. Serious games for sexual health. Games Health J 2015 Apr;4(2):69-77. [doi: <u>10.1089/g4h.2014.0139</u>] [Medline: <u>26181800</u>]

Abbreviations

AL: Alabama DC: District of Columbia LGBTQIA: lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer/questioning, intersex, or asexual mHealth: mobile health PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis PST: problem-solving theory



RenderX

SAAFE: Sexually Active Adolescent–Focused Education SCT: social cognitive theory STI: sexually transmitted infection SUS: System Usability Scale

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 13.09.19; peer-reviewed by A Aventin, S Brigitte, D Levine; comments to author 02.10.19; revised version received 27.11.19; accepted 16.12.19; published 31.01.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Patchen L, Ellis L, Ma TX, Ott C, Chang KHK, Araya B, Atreyapurapu S, Alyusuf A, Gaines Lanzi R Engaging African American Youth in the Development of a Serious Mobile Game for Sexual Health Education: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e16254 URL: <u>http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e16254/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/16254</u> PMID:<u>32012041</u>

©Loral Patchen, Lindsey Ellis, Tony Xuyen Ma, Corilyn Ott, Katie H K Chang, Brook Araya, Sravanthi Atreyapurapu, Amal Alyusuf, Robin Gaines Lanzi. Originally published in JMIR Serious Games (http://games.jmir.org), 31.01.2020. This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution open-access License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Serious Games, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://games.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Design Strategies for Virtual Reality Interventions for Managing Pain and Anxiety in Children and Adolescents: Scoping Review

Naseem Ahmadpour¹, PhD; Melanie Keep², PhD; Anna Janssen³, PhD; Anika Saiyara Rouf⁴, MSc; Michael Marthick³, MPH

¹Design Lab, Sydney School of Architecture, Design and Planning, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

²Faculty of Health Sciences, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Naseem Ahmadpour, PhD Design Lab Sydney School of Architecture, Design and Planning The University of Sydney Rm 280 Wilkinson Building G04, 148 City Road Sydney, NSW 2006 Australia Phone: 61 286275649 Email: naseem.ahmadpour@sydney.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Virtual reality (VR) technology has been explored in the health sector as a novel tool for supporting treatment side effects, including managing pain and anxiety. VR has recently become more available with the launch of low-cost devices and apps.

Objective: This study aimed to provide an updated review of the research into VR use for pain and anxiety in pediatric patients undergoing medical procedures. Specifically, we wanted to gain an understanding of the techniques and goals used in selecting or designing VR apps in this context.

Methods: We performed a scoping review. To identify relevant studies, we searched three electronic databases. Two authors screened the titles and abstracts for relevance and eligibility criteria.

Results: Overall, 1386 articles published between 2013 and 2018 were identified. In total 18 articles were included in the review, with 7 reporting significant reduction in pediatric pain or anxiety, 3 testing but finding no significant impact of the VR apps employed, and the rest not conducting any test of significance. We identified 9 articles that were based on VR apps specifically designed and tailored for pediatric patients. The findings were analyzed to develop a holistic model and describe the product, experience, and intervention aspects that need to be considered in designing such medical VR apps.

Conclusions: VR has been demonstrated to be a viable choice for managing pain and anxiety in a range of medical treatments. However, commercial products lack diversity and meaningful design strategies are limited beyond distraction techniques. We propose future VR interventions to explore skill-building goals in apps characterized by dynamic feedback to the patient and experiential and product qualities that enable them to be an active participant in managing their own care. To achieve this, design must be part of the development.

(JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e14565) doi:10.2196/14565

KEYWORDS

virtual reality; distraction; pain; anxiety; children; adolescents; design



RenderX

³Research in Implementation Science and eHealth Group, Charles Perkins Centre, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

⁴School of Life and Environmental Sciences, Charles Perkins Centre, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

Introduction

Background

In recent years, virtual reality (VR) technology has been explored in the health sector as a novel tool for supporting and monitoring treatment [1]. This increased interest in VR reflects recent advancements in commercial VR headsets (eg, Oculus Rift by Oculus VR, LLC) and mobile VR capabilities (eg, Samsung Gear VR by Samsung Electronics Co), leading to more affordable and feasible implementation of VR in health care. This use of VR in health care was pioneered by Hoffman et al, who, in the early 2000s, created SnowWorld, a VR gaming system that was able to reduce pain perception during burn wound care in both adolescent [2] and adult patients [3]. Since then, a number of studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of VR as a nonpharmacologic intervention for managing treatment side effects, such as pain, anxiety, or distress [4]. Typically, VR interventions involve a head-mounted display (HMD) worn by users, which allows them to experience 3D content (eg, videos and games) in an immersive virtual environment (VE). VR technology can afford health care providers greater capacity to improve patients' adherence to painful or distressing procedures while reducing the risk of the side effects associated with pharmacologic alternatives such as opioid dependency in pain management [5]. As a consequence, VR technology can improve patients' quality of life and satisfaction with care [6]. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of 20 studies found evidence in support of significant reduction of acute pain in adults, with promising results for chronic pain [7]. Another review found similar evidence of efficacy for VR as an analgesic; however, it revealed a need for more research into mechanisms underpinning the success of VR apps to inform the design of future VR systems [8].

Pain and anxiety management using VR is often hypothesized to occur through distraction, by diverting a person's attention away from painful stimuli [9]. According to the neuromatrix theory of pain [10], cognitive, sensory, and affective inputs as well as factors influencing those, such as attention, can change pain perception and ultimately a person's response to it. Accordingly, by engaging the cognitive resources of a person in a task (eg, by watching or playing something through VR), offering them sensory stimulation (eg, visual and auditory), or offering them positive affective experiences (eg, enjoyment or success), limited capacity remains for the person to process or attend to pain [11].

Alternative applications of VR for managing pain and anxiety are explored through nondistraction techniques and tested in a range of settings from experimental to treatment (eg, fibromyalgia, burn wound care, and pediatric chronic headache) [12]. Instead of diverting a person's attention to unrelated tasks, those applications suggest that VR is effective when used to empower the user by allowing them to directly control their affective response to the painful stimuli. For instance, Loreto-Quijada et al [13] designed a VR app that enabled the user to manipulate unpleasant audio-visual aspects of a virtual object to create a more pleasant form and achieve a sense of calm and relief in the process. In another example, Shiri et al [14] created a virtual doppelgangers app to support the treatment of pediatric chronic headache. This involved a photorealistic capture of a user's facial expression combined with biofeedback to mimic their real-time emotional state. The app mediated an exercise of relaxation by bringing the user's attention to self and requiring them to focus on changing the virtual facial expression from a state of agony to calm [14].

The recent strategies for VR interventions in pain and anxiety management have yet to be systematically compared. This is needed to design VR experiences that are effective for use in health care and offer patients new opportunities for self-reflection and lasting impact on pain management capabilities. Beyond distraction therapy, there is currently little variation among VR strategies for pain and anxiety treatment [12]. VR technology is increasingly accessible to consumers who will be less impressed by the novelty of this technology and its power to *distract* in the near future. We will soon need better design strategies and the ability to predict the outcomes of VR intervention to help individuals with complicated health needs. Currently, though, there is limited understanding of the key design elements of effective VR experiences for health care. A model for understanding the strategies underlying VR for pain and anxiety management is needed to guide the design of successful VR interventions for patients across ages, health conditions, interaction constraints, and well-being goals. This study presents findings from a scoping review on VR for managing pain and anxiety in pediatric patients and synthesizes them to propose a model for designing such apps.

Objectives

This study followed a scoping review methodology specified by Arksey and O'Malley [15]. The scoping review aimed to investigate the breadth of the design and application of VR technology used for managing pain and anxiety in pediatric patients undergoing medical procedures. The outcome is summarized to identify a gap in the existing literature. We have chosen this population, as there is currently little evidence to support the systematic design of tailored VR apps. Recent research has indicated the increasing awareness of children about VR technology, as a survey of 1917 children aged 2 to 15 years in the United States found that only 18.9% (364/1917) of them had not heard of VR technology, and 43.9% (843/1917) of participants expressed extreme interest in VR [16]. Therefore, it is important to understand how we can leverage a technology well known to children for its potential health benefits.

The search was limited to articles published after 2012, the year the commercial Oculus Rift VR technology was first announced, as the launch of this device made VR technology readily accessible and available. The scoping review explored three questions: (1) What are the proposed intervention techniques and goals for VR apps to reduce pain and anxiety in pediatric populations? (2) What are the design considerations for VR experiences for reducing pain and anxiety around various medical procedures in pediatric populations? and (3) What tools and evaluation methods were used for assessing the efficacy of VR?

These questions are developed to inform the design of future VR apps for pediatric patients to reduce pain and anxiety. Recent literature suggested that although there is sufficient evidence on the efficacy of VR for reducing pain and anxiety, there is a visible gap in research on guiding strategies for designing such VR apps [8]. Through our first two research questions (RQs), we aim to understand the details on design directions and guiding principles of VR as an analgesic for pediatric population. The third RQ investigates how the designed apps are evaluated to reveal potential gaps in the assessment of the intervention and the outcomes. Findings from the scoping review were then synthesized and used for developing a model on the design elements that characterize VR apps for managing pain and anxiety.

Methods

Search Strategy and Eligibility Criteria

A literature search was undertaken between October 2018 and December 2018 in Scopus, Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), and PsycINFO, using combinations and variations of the following search terms: children, adolescent, virtual reality, distraction, and anxiety, stress, and pain. A detailed search strategy is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1. The search terms were chosen to align with the research aims and retrieve articles that use VR technology (bespoke design and commercial) in a wide range of contexts. The databases were chosen as those were more likely to include publications relevant to the RQs, given the exploratory nature of this research into the principles that informed the design of the VR apps. In particular, the ACM digital library includes publications from the fields of interaction design and human-computer interaction that are likely to explore bespoke VR designs. The inclusion of studies was then carried out as follows.

Peer-reviewed articles, published in English after 2012, and describing a VR intervention for managing or reducing, or both, pain, anxiety, or stress, or their combination, in children and adolescents (aged <18 years) undergoing medical procedures or treatment were included. Studies that investigated the use of VR for patient education, social skills training, or rehabilitation were not included. Studies that specifically addressed interventions for managing phobias were also excluded, as the underlying treatment is often long term and vastly different to the management of pain or anxiety. Papers were excluded if they focused on infants or children with intellectual disability, autism spectrum disorder, cerebral palsy, neurodevelopmental disorders or permanent cognitive disorders, or physical impairment. Those studies were excluded because the interventions would potentially involve strategies specific to a condition or a population group and may not be possible to generalize.

Study Selection

Overall, 1386 articles were identified. Two authors screened the titles and abstracts for relevance and eligibility criteria. If a decision could not be made based on abstract text, the full text was retrieved to make the assessment. After the title and abstract review, 20 articles were selected for a full-text review, of which 2 were duplicates and were removed. In total, 18 articles were included in the final shortlist for the scoping review. The elimination process is shown in Figure 1.

Figure 1. Flowchart of the literature screening and selection process. ACM: Association for Computing Machinery.



Evaluation Process

A data collection form was developed to extract the following study details: authors, year, medical procedure being addressed, sample size, age range, gender distribution, type of headset used, commercial product or bespoke design, description of VR app, description and design qualities of VR app (if available), study design, control group (if present), intervention goal, dependent variable, tools for measurement, and a summary of results. Those details allowed us to generate information relevant to the three RQs and specifically identify the intervention techniques and goals relevant to each VR app (RQ1), the design considerations for the app and the technology (RQ2), and trials and assessment details (RQ3). The key characteristics of the included studies are summarized qualitatively and tabulated in Multimedia Appendix 2.

Results

Scoping Review Results

Among the 18 articles that were reviewed, VR interventions for pain or anxiety were attributed to a wide range of medical treatment in children: magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and radiology examinations [17]; wound debridement [18], specifically, burn wound [19-22]; venipuncture [23,24]; phlebotomy or blood draw [25,26]; cold pressor experiment [27]; preoperative care in hospital and anesthesia [28,29]; cancer treatment and chemotherapy [30,31]; injection, for instance, botulinum toxin [32]; and local anesthesia in dental care [33]. One study described the design of a VR app for broadly defined medical procedures, without specifying one [34].

Among those that specified a procedure, 7 articles addressed pain directly [18,21,24,26,33], whereas 6 articles addressed anxiety associated with pain during a procedure [20,22,23,25,32]. In addition, 4 articles addressed anxiety linked to a medical procedure [17,28-30].

The average age range specified for children and adolescents in the selected articles varied between 5 and 21 years, and one study reported participants aged between 8 and 57 years [18]. In terms of equipment, 10 articles used mobile phones to deploy VR apps on low-cost headsets, such as Google Cardboard, Samsung Gear, and View Master. One article described the design of a 360° video tour of the operation room and suggested that the outcome can be used on any platform [28]. Six articles used commercial high-end VR HMD, such as Oculus Rift and Sony HMZ T2. One article involved adolescents with burn injuries to head and, therefore, used a Kaiser Optics SR80a VR helmet mounted on a custom-built, articulated-arm tripod device to avoid any further wound damage because of wearing HMD. The details relevant to specific research questions are discussed in the following sections.

Research Question 1: What Are the Proposed Intervention Techniques and Goals for Virtual Reality Apps to Reduce Pain and Anxiety?

We reviewed the articles to identify any intervention goal (and relevant techniques to achieve those goals) that were specified or somewhat described and were used to select or design the

http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14565/

XSL•F() RenderX VR technology. In total, 9 studies employed commercially available content, among which 4 studies used *SnowWorld*. As this game has been widely used in the past two decades, it is categorized as a commercial VR app. A total of 9 articles discussed a bespoke VR app specifically tailored for children and adolescent patient populations. We then classified the goals into three categories: those that aimed to distract the patient, those that aimed to strategically shift the patient's attention, and those that aimed to help patients build capacities to modulate pain through the use of the VR app. The studies in each category are discussed in the following paragraphs.

Several studies cited distraction as the main goal of the intervention; that is, attentional resources are temporarily engaged through VR, so there is limited capacity remaining for processing pain or anxiety-inducing stimulus. In its simplest form, distraction therapy involved entertaining media (eg, watching videos) [21,26,32,33]. Others used interactive games, such as SnowWorld game [18,24], Nintendo Wii *Sonic and the Secret Rings* game [27], and *Bear Blast* developed by AppliedVR [25]. The degree of interaction varied among those games; SnowWorld and Sonic and the Secret Rings games are played using a hand controller, whereas Bear Blast involves hands-free and gaze-based interaction (users gaze at a direction to move or perform in-game tasks).

A number of games were characterized as distraction therapy but cited more specific focus-shifting techniques for modulating pain or anxiety output. For instance, Birnie et al [30] suggested that enabling the user to maintain a point of focus on an object in front of them is important and designed a game where children can shoot rainbow balls at moving objects. Furthermore, Piskorz and Czub [23] used a Multiple Object Tracking paradigm to set priorities for cognition and shifting the player's attention from one virtual object to another during a venipuncture procedure. Players engaged with that task through head movement and gaze-based interaction.

Grishchenko et al [34] suggested a strategy to build further capacity in patients by creating a fixed reference point in the frame of view while facilitating deep breathing through game mechanics. Their gaze-based game, Voxel Bay, used audio command to make the game interactive and help players exhale more deeply to help prevent hyperventilation, a common side effect in children receiving painful treatment. Grishchenko et al [34] also suggested that relaxing audio can assist with regulating pain or anxiety and block anxiety-inducing noises of medical treatment. This point was also emphasized by Birnie et al [30] and Ko et al [22]. Finally, some articles used exposure to potentially distressing stimulus in a safe environment to alleviate fear and anxiety before the medical appointment. Liszio and Masuch [17] designed a game to introduce children to their MRI appointment. O'Sullivan et al [28] and Ryu et al [29] created 360° video tours of the hospital to familiarize children with anesthesia procedure before their operation.

Research Question 2: What Are the Design Considerations for Virtual Reality Experiences for

Reducing Pain and Anxiety Around Various Medical Procedures in Pediatric Populations?

We identified three clear groups of considerations that guided the design or selection of VR apps in review articles: creating a perception of autonomy and control for the user, providing a perception of safety by using familiar elements, and fostering empathy through the narrative. Further considerations linked to those groups also emerged, as discussed below.

An example of the first design consideration, autonomy and control, is the VR app developed by Birnie et al [30] to reduce needle-related anxiety in young cancer patients. The product was created through an iterative participatory design process with direct input from children, resulting in a game of treasure hunt and shooting rainbow balls at underwater creatures. Birnie et al [30] described principles, such as simplicity, interactivity, and aesthetic qualities such as colorful environment, which are important for mediating user engagement. Those principles seem to be relevant to the design of the product (the VR app). The researchers also suggested considerations important for creating a good experience for the user. For instance, they found that the ability to control the exploration within the game environment and to have fun impacts the user's sense of presence in the VE, which is crucial for increased attention to distractors and, therefore, the efficacy of the VR intervention [30]. Similarly, Ng et al [31] suggested that it is important that VR apps help cancer patients overcome boredom to manage treatment side effects. In another example, Gold and Mahrer [25] suggested that product aspects such as the complexity of a player's in-game progress can keep children and adolescents engaged during procedural distraction by eliminating worry about their performance. Gold and Mahrer [25] used Bear Blast, a commercial game where the user controls a firing cannon in VE and enters a new level every 2.5 min. Similar to the VR app developed by Birnie et al [30], Bear Blast intends to facilitate experience aspects such as positive reinforcement of experimentation and activity [25]. The importance of experiencing a sense of empowerment and autonomy was also emphasized by Grishchenko et al [34] in their game Voxel Bay, an audio command-activated game where deep exhales (into a microphone) assist the player to move a boat in VE. To keep the player interested and, therefore, distracted, Voxel Bay employs a narrative whereby the player controls some elements of their adventure (through playing diverse short games) but also experiences surprise, as the clinician controls the overall game navigation from their remote control station [34].

The second design consideration, using familiar elements to elicit a sense of safety, was demonstrated in familiar product qualities or creating familiarity through the experience. Familiar product qualities were often linked to featured elements in VE, such as references to popular games (eg, Minecraft and Lego [34] or SimCity [31]). Creating familiarity through the experience then involved creating a precedence for the medical procedure, for instance, by locating the game in the hospital environment [17,28,29]. This type of familiarization aimed to eliminate cognitive appraisal of elements that may be perceived negatively by children and adolescents and allow them to safely prepare for their appointment at a convenient time and place.

The third design consideration pertained to creating comfort for the patient by fostering a sense of empathy in VE. A number of games employed in-game companion characters to achieve that. For instance, Grishchenko et al [34] allowed children to choose an animal character to accompany them on a journey, and Ng et al [31] designed a companion cow character in a virtual farm for cancer patients to care for during chemotherapy. Ng et al [30] argued that symbolizing hope and growth and providing everyday motivation within the game (to interact and collect rewards) can enhance a sense of well-being in players with life-altering conditions such as cancer and used metaphors such as growing vegetables to signify that. Overall, narrative elements were used in all bespoke apps that were purposefully designed for children and adolescents. Some examples included hunting for treasures along a journey [27,34]; adventure [22,30]; playful interaction with animal characters; farming vegetables [31]; and shooting snowballs [18,24] or rainbow balls [30], or cannons [25] at animated objects.

Research Question 3: What Tools and Evaluation Methods Were Used for Assessing the Efficacy of Virtual Reality Interventions for Pain and Anxiety in Children?

In all, 10 articles used some form of control group in testing (eg, baseline control); 7 of which were randomized controlled trials, with sample sizes ranging between 13 and 143 participants. Without the assessment of usability or user experience, there is little evidence on the impact of design choices on patient experience or ability to manage pain. Outcomes were not consistently or systematically assessed among the reviewed studies. In all, 3 papers described the design of a VR app but did not test the outcome [22,28,34]. Others used interview and focus groups [31] and feedback on the usability and experiences of users [21] or caregivers [32] and used that feedback to tailor the design to children's needs [30]. One article presented a case study with one participant [19].

Overall, 7 studies showed that VR interventions significantly reduced anxiety [29], pain [18,20,24,27], or both [23,25]; and 3 studies tested but found no significant impact of the VR intervention [17,26,33].

All studies that tested anxiety and pain outcomes used self-report, mostly, standardized anxiety (eg, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children and Yale Preoperative Anxiety Scale), pain severity (eg, through Visual Analogue Thermometer and Adolescent Pediatric Pain Tool), and worry related to pain (Wong-Baker Faces Pain Scale) scales. In some cases, numeric scales were developed by researchers to measure pain, nausea, stress, or satisfaction. A number of studies relied on expert evaluation of observed pain indicators by using tools such as Faces, Legs, Activity, Cry, and Consolability [32]. One study [24] evaluated the impact of VR intervention on multiple aspects of pain: cognitive component (time spent thinking about pain), affective component (unpleasantness), and perceptive component (worst pain). Only one study combined self-report with physiological assessment of pain output through pulse rate [33].

http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14565/

XSL•FO

Summary of Findings

A range of considerations were identified through our literature review that are important for creating bespoke VR apps for pain and anxiety management. These are summarized in Table 1 and include two categories of considerations for creating virtual reality apps: intervention considerations (underlined by three types of goals, namely distraction, focus shifting, and skill building) and design considerations. A close examination of the findings relevant to RQ1 and RQ2 reveals that some design considerations are specific to the product aspects (the VR app and the technology and its content), whereas other design considerations are specific to the aspects of experience that the patient might have as the result of interacting with the product (such as their emotional experience and enjoyment). Examples and articles relevant to each of those categories are provided.

Table 1. Classification of findings relevant to considerations for creating virtual reality apps for managing pain and anxiety.

Considerations Examples		Articles	
Intervention consideration	ons		
Distraction	• Engaging the patient's attention through VR ^a content through entertaining videos or games, for example, <i>Sonic and the Secret Rings</i> (Nintendo Wii) and <i>SnowWorld</i>	Faber et al [18], Hoffman et al [19], Jeffs et al [20], Scapin et al [21], Atzori et al [24], Gold and Mahrer [25], Gerçeker et al [26], Chau et al [32], Al-Habibi et al [33]	
Focus shifting	• Engaging the patient's cognitive resources through game- led tasks, for example, multiple object tracking	Piskorz and Czub [23], Birnie et al [30]	
Capacity or skill building	• Engaging the patient in game-led activities to build ca- pacities for self-regulation, for example, deep breathing in <i>Voxel Bay</i>	Liszio and Masuch [17], O'Sullivan et al [28], Ryu et al [29], Grishchenko et al [34]	
Design considerations			
Product	 Tailoring simplicity and interactivity to improve control Removing barriers to engagement to improve a sense of autonomy Diversifying sensory inputs Diversifying sensory output and stimulation Improving sense of presence 	Gold and Mahrer [25], Birnie et al [30], Ng et al [31], Grishchenko [34]	
Experience	 Improving ability to attend to distractors Creating a sense of safety through familiar design elements or familiarity with medical procedure Incorporating narrative elements Cultivating growth and motivation Fostering empathy and compassion 	Liszio and Masuch [17], Jeffs et al [20], Ko et al [22], Atzori et al [24], Gold and Mahrer [25], Sil et al [27], O'Sullivan et al [28], Ryu et al [29], Birnie et al [30], Ng et al [31], Grishchenko et al [34]	

^aVR: virtual reality.

Product aspects for designing VR apps for managing pain or anxiety in children and adolescents can be achieved in several ways, for instance, by (1) tailoring simplicity and interactivity of VR for young users, taking into account aesthetic qualities that conform to the user's expectations and prior experiences with digital technologies (eg, colorful environment inspired from familiar themes); (2) removing barriers to engagement to allow young players to proceed in game regardless of their performance; (3) diversifying sensory input modalities in user-device interaction, for instance, by combining audio commands with gaze input to instigate a game action; (4) diversifying sensory stimulation, for instance, by incorporating music, to further divert attention from painful stimuli; and (5) improving immersion in VE by combining sensory (audio, visual, and tactile) and affective (eg, fun) experiences in active interaction with virtual objects in a game environment to help users be immersed in VR.

The experience aspects can be tailored in multiple ways, for instance, by (1) empowering users with the ability to attend to distractors through engaging features; (2) eliciting comfort and positive affect through interpersonal interaction (eg, doctors

```
http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14565/
```

control some game elements) or familiarity (eg, familiar design elements and understanding medical procedure)—our review suggests that a full spectrum of human affect (eg, positive emotions such as pride) is not explored in many examples we reviewed, and there is scope for further investigation; (3) incorporating narrative elements (eg, treasure hunt); (4) enhancing motivation through cultivating personal growth (eg, introducing daily incentives such as caring for a garden); and (5) fostering empathy and companionship, for instance, through virtual companion characters in games.

These aspects, in combination with the intervention aspects (such as goals), can be used to characterize a VR intervention for mediating self-management of pain or anxiety. The intervention aspects include strategies informed by the three identified goals for managing pain and anxiety. Those may involve a varying degree of user engagement from passive participation (eg, watching a video, with no interaction and receiving no feedback) to active (eg, interactive games, providing interactive feedback to the user, which can align with a pain management strategy). We distinguish between distraction and focus shifting in VR, as the latter involves active

XSL•FO RenderX

participation in cognitive tasks with feedback to guide the user's interaction and consequently their response to pain. Typical examples of focus shifting in VR offer one or multiple *points of focus* for users (eg, multiple object tracking) within a game environment, for example, treasure hunt. Some VR interventions go even further, engaging the patient in active self-regulation, for example, relaxation through deep breathing in Voxel Bay [34]. Evidence on those types of intervention is scarce (*Voxel Bay* was not tested in a clinical trial), and more research is needed to examine the range and effectiveness of such interventions.

In an attempt to detail the relationship among the components of the holistic model, we propose a continuum to summarize the multitude of intervention strategies for managing pain and anxiety in VR, ranging from distraction to skill building, as shown in Figure 2. This elaborates further on patient experience and role (ranging from passive to active), depending on the intervention goal (ranging from distraction to skill building) and the VR product design (level of feedback provided to the patient).

Figure 2. VR interventions for pain and anxiety on a continuum; characterized in terms of patient experience and role (passive to active), VR design (feedback to user from none to interactive feedback) and intervention goal (distraction to skill-building).



Discussion

Overview

Through reviewing a selection of 18 articles that employed VR technology, we found a number of areas where this technology is currently administered to modulate pain and anxiety in children: acute (eg, wound care) and chronic (eg, cancer treatment) pain or anxiety, needle phobia (eg, blood draw), and procedural care (eg, MRI and preoperative care) in children and adolescents. We searched for goals and considerations to generate insight to support the design of future VR apps for pediatric patients. This resulted in two main contributions. The first is a classification of the range of intervention goals in pain management into distraction, focus shifting, and skill building. This classification is then used to inform our second contribution, a holistic model of considerations for designing medical VR apps.

A Holistic Model to Support the Design of Medical Virtual Reality Apps

The holistic model (shown in Figure 3) proposes that the way a VR product is perceived by the users (product aspects), combined with the experience and emotions it elicits (experience aspects), mediates intervention goals for managing pain or anxiety (intervention aspects). The model is unique, as it aligns a human-centered approach consisting of VR product and experience aspects with a medical approach consisting of intervention aspects appropriate for reducing pain or anxiety. Previous research has discussed elements of VR analgesia beyond distraction [12,13]; however, those fall short of exploring the design opportunities provided by our holistic model. The details and theoretical relevance of each aspect of the model are described in the following paragraphs.

Experience aspects subscribe to the definition of an experience, a multifaceted personal narrative, with a beginning and an end [35], that can be articulated retrospectively and characterized based on interactions, feelings, meanings, and actions [36]. In human-computer interaction research, experiential aspects are attributed to affect and human psychological needs. There are several approaches to defining psychological needs. At a basic level, Peters et al [37] propose fulfilling three needs suggested by the self-determination theory (autonomy, competence, and relatedness) as proxies for a well-being-supportive design. In a study on VR exercise platforms, Ijaz et al [38] found that two of those needs (autonomy and competence) strongly correlate with positive affect (eg, enjoyment) in immersive VR platforms for health and exercise. In technology-mediated experiences, affect (encompassing various constructs with feelings, such as emotions and moods) is often regarded as an integral part of an experience, and positive affect is central to enabling achievement of personal goals for well-being [36]. On the basis of the above, the experience aspects of VR for managing pain and anxiety can be described in terms of the narrative of the experience and emotions that are elicited through interaction.



Figure 3. A holistic model to support design of VR interventions for managing pain and anxiety.



Product aspects are described in terms of the user's subjective perceptions of the product content and technology. Hassenzahl et al [36] defined product aspects as how people perceive a product or translate its features (eg, screen and controls), material, style, and interaction form into qualities such as fun or complicated. Hassenzahl [39,40] suggested the way we perceive a product complements our experience of it and identified two main groups of product qualities that contribute to its experience. One group is pragmatic or instrumental qualities (eg, predictable, manageable, and simple) and refers to the judgment of a product's capability to support what we can do with it. The other group is hedonic qualities (eg, stylish and professional) and refers to how the product supports pleasure and ownership in use [36]. In this paper, we uncovered VR product qualities that are relevant to pain or anxiety management in the literature. For instance, immersion is an important aspect of VR products and defined as sensory stimulations linked to the perception of presence in VE, that is, feeling as if one is there. This was deemed important by some papers [30], as achieving a sensation of presence in VR can override our perception of pain or distressing stimuli and therefore results in better distraction during medical procedures [41]. Hedonic qualities include aesthetic, playful, and adventurous [22,30] or familiar [31,34].

Intervention aspects are linked to the intended health goals and well-being outcomes for the user. Although the ultimate goal for VR interventions in this study is pain or anxiety management, the strategy for achieving such goal may vary from simple distraction to active participation in a self-regulatory process. Liszio and Masuch [17] suggested that an intervention for pain and anxiety management might take a cognitive approach (ie, address the appraisal of the stimulus

```
http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14565/
```

RenderX

that is perceived harmful or stressful) or an affective approach (ie, provide an emotional coping strategy for the individual). Therefore, understanding those strategies through specific goals and subgoals provides a roadmap for the intervention and can guide practitioners and researchers in advising treatment regimen and configuring complex VR systems that support self-regulation.

Our proposed holistic model can be used as a lens to examine the trends and evidence of VR interventions. It can also be employed as a proxy to devise design strategies to achieve the intervention goals. There is currently no other model that puts those elements in perspective. As this model is based on evidence from our scoping review, it can be considered feasible for design and interdisciplinary examination of evidence in the fields of interaction design and medicine.

Finally, through a review of current methods for evaluating intervention outcomes in selected studies, we identified a lack of evidence on degrees, forms, and strategies of interaction suitable for the severity of pain and anxiety in medical treatments. Although VR is widely accepted as a viable distraction from pain, our review identified 3 studies (published between 2017 and 2018), where such distraction did not generate any significant difference in pain or anxiety. A closer look reveals that 2 of those studies relied on passive user engagement through videos to reduce pain and anxiety. We note that children are increasingly familiar with VR technology, and perhaps, a lack of technology novelty and interactive feedback is responsible for those failed interventions. A link between age and response to VR interactivity should be considered, as research has shown a significant increase in pain tolerance in children aged 10 to 15 years who used VR compared with younger children aged 6 to 9 years [20].
Limitations

A notable limitation in reviewed articles is a lack of assessment measures for establishing the efficacy of novel VR interventions for children and adolescents. Only 10 of 18 studies conducted testing or trials on the efficacy of VR apps. These studies consistently used self-report to establish the success of the intervention based on anxiety, pain severity, stress, or worry associated with pain variables. Only 1 study [24] addressed pain as a multifaceted experience with cognitive, affective, and perceptive components. This highlights a research gap on the impact of design elements (product or experience aspects) and strategy (distraction, focus shifting or skill building) on the pain or anxiety outcome, challenging the reliability of outcomes. Future research should use product, experience, and intervention aspects to describe the design and assess the outcomes in controlled trials and combine self-report with physiological indicators of pain and anxiety to determine efficacy. In addition, it is important to investigate differences between VR intervention goals (eg, distraction vs skill building) in relation to treatment outcomes. Overall, our observation leads us to believe there is a lack of interdisciplinary collaboration and research in relation to medical VR technology for pain and anxiety management, as a number of publications that involved a bespoke VR app did not present clinical testing, whereas the clinical trials consistently used commercial products and did not observe the impact of design on the intervention outcome.

Conclusions

VR has been used widely in the health sector and has been demonstrated to be effective for modulating pain and anxiety in a range of settings, including pediatrics. A scoping review of 18 papers published between 2013 and 2018 revealed that VR has been adopted as a viable intervention for managing pediatric pain and anxiety in a range of medical treatments. However, only half of the reviewed studies attempted to design the VR app specifically for the context it was intended for. Consequently, there are limited guidelines to inform the design of effective VR apps for supporting patients in the pediatric setting. We propose that a holistic approach to designing VR in health care involves consideration of product, experience, and intervention aspects. We also propose future VR explore skill-building goals in apps interventions to characterized by dynamic feedback to the patient and experiential and product qualities that enable them to be an active participant in managing their own care.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the eHealth and Health Delivery Research Theme Seed grant, funded by the University of Sydney.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Search strategies used on databases Scopus, ACM and PsycINFO. [DOCX File , 25 KB - games v8i1e14565 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 A summary of reviewed articles. [DOCX File , 20 KB - games_v8i1e14565_app2.docx]

References

- Chirico A, Lucidi F, de Laurentiis M, Milanese C, Napoli A, Giordano A. Virtual reality in health system: beyond entertainment. A mini-review on the efficacy of VR during cancer treatment. J Cell Physiol 2016 Feb;231(2):275-287. [doi: 10.1002/jcp.25117] [Medline: 26238976]
- Hoffman HG, Doctor JN, Patterson DR, Carrougher GJ, Furness TA. Virtual reality as an adjunctive pain control during burn wound care in adolescent patients. Pain 2000 Mar;85(1-2):305-309. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0304-3959(99)00275-4</u>] [Medline: <u>10692634</u>]
- Hoffman HG, Patterson DR, Carrougher GJ. Use of virtual reality for adjunctive treatment of adult burn pain during physical therapy: a controlled study. Clin J Pain 2000 Sep;16(3):244-250. [doi: <u>10.1097/00002508-200009000-00010</u>] [Medline: <u>11014398</u>]
- 4. Li A, Montaño Z, Chen VJ, Gold JI. Virtual reality and pain management: current trends and future directions. Pain Manag 2011 Mar;1(2):147-157 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2217/pmt.10.15] [Medline: 21779307]
- Chirico A, D'Aiuto M, Pinto M, Milanese C, Napoli A, Avino F. The elapsed time during a virtual reality treatment for stressful procedures. A pool analysis on breast cancer patients during chemotherapy. In: Pietro G, Gallo L, Howlett R, Jain L, editors. Intelligent Interactive Multimedia Systems and Services 2016. Cham: Springer; 2016:731-738.
- 6. Glowacki D. Effective pain management and improvements in patients' outcomes and satisfaction. Crit Care Nurse 2015 Jun;35(3):33-41; quiz 43. [doi: <u>10.4037/ccn2015440</u>] [Medline: <u>26033099</u>]

- 7. Mallari B, Spaeth EK, Goh H, Boyd BS. Virtual reality as an analgesic for acute and chronic pain in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Pain Res 2019;12:2053-2085 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/JPR.S200498] [Medline: 31308733]
- 8. Ahmadpour N, Randall H, Choksi H, Gao A, Vaughan C, Poronnik P. Virtual Reality interventions for acute and chronic pain management. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2019 Sep;114:105568. [doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2019.105568] [Medline: 31306747]
- Tashjian VC, Mosadeghi S, Howard AR, Lopez M, Dupuy T, Reid M, et al. Virtual reality for management of pain in hospitalized patients: results of a controlled trial. JMIR Ment Health 2017 Mar 29;4(1):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.7387] [Medline: 28356241]
- 10. Melzack R. Pain and the neuromatrix in the brain. J Dent Educ 2001 Dec;65(12):1378-1382 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11780656]
- Arane K, Behboudi A, Goldman RD. Virtual reality for pain and anxiety management in children. Can Fam Physician 2017 Dec;63(12):932-934 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29237632]
- 12. Gupta A, Scott K, Dukewich M. Innovative technology using virtual reality in the treatment of pain: Does it reduce pain via distraction, or is there more to it? Pain Med 2018 Jan 1;19(1):151-159. [doi: <u>10.1093/pm/pnx109</u>] [Medline: <u>29025113</u>]
- Loreto-Quijada D, Gutiérrez-Maldonado J, Nieto R, Gutiérrez-Martínez O, Ferrer-García M, Saldaña C, et al. Differential effects of two virtual reality interventions: distraction versus pain control. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2014 Jun;17(6):353-358. [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2014.0057] [Medline: 24892197]
- Shiri S, Feintuch U, Weiss N, Pustilnik A, Geffen T, Kay B, et al. A virtual reality system combined with biofeedback for treating pediatric chronic headache--a pilot study. Pain Med 2013 May;14(5):621-627. [doi: <u>10.1111/pme.12083</u>] [Medline: <u>23659372</u>]
- 15. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005;8(1):19-32. [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- Yamada-Rice D, Mushtaq F, Woodgate A, Bosmans D, Douthwaite A, Douthwaite I, et al. DigiLitEY. UK: Turner; 2017. Children and Virtual Reality: Emerging Possibilities and Challenges URL: <u>http://digilitey.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/</u> <u>CVR-Final-PDF-reduced-size.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-01-14]
- Liszio S, Masuch M. Virtual Reality MRI: Playful Reduction of Children's Anxiety in MRI Exams. In: Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Interaction Design and Children. 2017 Presented at: IDC'17; June 27 - 30, 2017; California, Stanford, USA p. 127-136. [doi: 10.1145/3078072.3079713]
- Faber AW, Patterson DR, Bremer M. Repeated use of immersive virtual reality therapy to control pain during wound dressing changes in pediatric and adult burn patients. J Burn Care Res 2013;34(5):563-568 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/BCR.0b013e3182777904] [Medline: 23970314]
- Hoffman HG, Meyer WJ, Ramirez M, Roberts L, Seibel EJ, Atzori B, et al. Feasibility of articulated arm mounted Oculus Rift Virtual Reality goggles for adjunctive pain control during occupational therapy in pediatric burn patients. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2014 Jun;17(6):397-401 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2014.0058] [Medline: 24892204]
- 20. Jeffs D, Dorman D, Brown S, Files A, Graves T, Kirk E, et al. Effect of virtual reality on adolescent pain during burn wound care. J Burn Care Res 2014;35(5):395-408. [doi: 10.1097/BCR.000000000000019] [Medline: 24823326]
- Scapin SQ, Echevarría-Guanilo ME, Fuculo PR, Martins JC, Barbosa MD, Pereima MJ. Use of virtual reality for treating burned children: case reports. Rev Bras Enferm 2017;70(6):1291-1295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/0034-7167-2016-0575] [Medline: 29160492]
- 22. Ko S, Shin J, Kim SJ. Development of a VR rehabilitation system for pediatric burn patients using Kinect and Google Cardboard. Adv Sci Lett 2017;23(10):10414-10418. [doi: 10.1166/asl.2017.10464]
- 23. Piskorz J, Czub M. Effectiveness of a virtual reality intervention to minimize pediatric stress and pain intensity during venipuncture. J Spec Pediatr Nurs 2018 Jan;23(1). [doi: 10.1111/jspn.12201] [Medline: 29155488]
- 24. Atzori B, Vagnoli L, Messeri A, Grotto RL. Virtual reality for pain management among children and adolescents: applicability in clinical settings and limitations. In: Antona M, Stephanidis C, editors. Universal Access in Human-Computer Interaction. Virtual, Augmented, and Intelligent Environments. Cham: Springer; 2018:15-27.
- 25. Gold JI, Mahrer NE. Is virtual reality ready for prime time in the medical space? A randomized control trial of pediatric virtual reality for acute procedural pain management. J Pediatr Psychol 2018 Apr 1;43(3):266-275. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsx129] [Medline: 29053848]
- 26. Gerçeker GO, Binay S, Bilsin E, Kahraman A, Yılmaz HB. Effects of virtual reality and external cold and vibration on pain in 7- to 12-year-old children during phlebotomy: a randomized controlled trial. J Perianesth Nurs 2018 Dec;33(6):981-989. [doi: 10.1016/j.jopan.2017.12.010] [Medline: 29559294]
- 27. Sil S, Dahlquist LM, Thompson C, Hahn A, Herbert L, Wohlheiter K, et al. The effects of coping style on virtual reality enhanced videogame distraction in children undergoing cold pressor pain. J Behav Med 2014 Feb;37(1):156-165. [doi: 10.1007/s10865-012-9479-0] [Medline: 23184062]
- 28. O'Sullivan B, Alam F, Matava C. Creating low-cost 360-degree virtual reality videos for hospitals: a technical paper on the dos and don'ts. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jul 16;20(7):e239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9596] [Medline: 30012545]
- 29. Ryu J, Park S, Park J, Kim J, Yoo H, Kim T, et al. Randomized clinical trial of immersive virtual reality tour of the operating theatre in children before anaesthesia. Br J Surg 2017 Nov;104(12):1628-1633. [doi: 10.1002/bjs.10684] [Medline: 28975600]

- Birnie KA, Kulandaivelu Y, Jibb L, Hroch P, Positano K, Robertson S, et al. Usability testing of an interactive virtual reality distraction intervention to reduce procedural pain in children and adolescents with cancer [formula: see text]. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2018;35(6):406-416. [doi: 10.1177/1043454218782138] [Medline: 29950139]
- Ng J, Lo H, Tong X, Gromala D, Jin W. Farmooo, a virtual reality farm simulation game designed for cancer pediatric patients to distract their pain during chemotherapy treatment. Electronic Imaging 2018;2018(3):432-1-432-4. [doi: 10.2352/ISSN.2470-1173.2018.03.ERVR-432]
- 32. Chau B, Chi B, Wilson T. Decreasing pediatric pain and agitation during botulinum toxin injections for spasticity with virtual reality: Lessons learned from clinical use. J Pediatr Rehabil Med 2018;11(3):199-204. [doi: 10.3233/PRM-180534] [Medline: 30223406]
- 33. Al-Habibi M, Bashra N, Al-Nerabieah Z. Effectiveness of audio-visual distraction using virtual reality eyeglasses versus tablet device in child behavioral management during inferior alveolar nerve block. Anaesth Pain Intensive Care 2018;22(1):55-61 [FREE Full text]
- Grishchenko A, Luna J, Patterson J. Voxel bay: VR as a Distraction for Pediatric Pain. In: Proceedings of International Conference on Computer Graphics and Interactive Techniques. 2016 Presented at: SIGGRAPH'16; July 24 - 28, 2016; California, Anaheim. [doi: 10.1145/2897839.2927403]
- 35. Forlizzi J, Battarbee K. Understanding Experience in Interactive Systems. In: Proceedings of the 5th conference on Designing interactive systems: processes, practices, methods, and techniques.: ACM Digital Library; 2004 Presented at: DIS'04; August 1 4, 2004; MA, Cambridge, USA p. 261-268. [doi: 10.1145/1013115.1013152]
- Hassenzahl M, Wiklund-Engblom A, Bengs A, Hägglund S, Diefenbach S. Experience-oriented and product-oriented evaluation: psychological need fulfillment, positive affect, and product perception. Int J Human-Comput Interact 2015;31(8):530-544. [doi: 10.1080/10447318.2015.1064664]
- 37. Peters D, Calvo RA, Ryan RM. Designing for motivation, engagement and wellbeing in digital experience. Front Psychol 2018;9:797 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00797] [Medline: 29892246]
- Ijaz K, Wang Y, Ahmadpour N, Calvo RA. Physical Activity Enjoyment on an Immersive VR Exergaming Platform. In: Proceedings of the 2017 IEEE Life Sciences Conference.: IEEE; 2017 Presented at: LSC'17; December 13-15, 2017; Sydney, Australia p. 59-62. [doi: 10.1109/lsc.2017.8268143]
- 39. Hassenzahl M. The Thing and I: Understanding the relationship between user and product. In: Blythe MA, Overbeeke K, Monk AF, Wright PC, editors. Funology: From Usability to Enjoyment. Berlin: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 2003:31-42.
- 40. Hassenzahl M. The Thing and I (Summer of '17 Remix). In: Blythe MA, Monk AF, editors. Funology 2: From Usability to Enjoyment. Cham: Springer; 2018:17-31.
- Dahlquist LM, McKenna KD, Jones KK, Dillinger L, Weiss KE, Ackerman CS. Active and passive distraction using a head-mounted display helmet: effects on cold pressor pain in children. Health Psychol 2007 Nov;26(6):794-801. [doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.26.6.794] [Medline: 18020853]

Abbreviations

ACM: Association for Computing Machinery HMD: head-mounted display MRI: magnetic resonance imaging RQ: research question VE: virtual environment VR: virtual reality

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 02.05.19; peer-reviewed by P Washington, E Meinert; comments to author 03.10.19; revised version received 26.11.19; accepted 16.12.19; published 31.01.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ahmadpour N, Keep M, Janssen A, Rouf AS, Marthick M Design Strategies for Virtual Reality Interventions for Managing Pain and Anxiety in Children and Adolescents: Scoping Review JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e14565 URL: <u>http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14565/</u> doi:10.2196/14565 PMID:32012042

©Naseem Ahmadpour, Melanie Keep, Anna Janssen, Anika Saiyara Rouf, Michael Marthick. Originally published in JMIR Serious Games (http://games.jmir.org), 31.01.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and

reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Serious Games, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://games.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Learning to Read by Learning to Write: Evaluation of a Serious Game to Foster Business Process Model Comprehension

Michael Winter¹, MSc; Rüdiger Pryss¹, Prof Dr; Thomas Probst², Prof Dr; Manfred Reichert¹, Prof Dr

¹Institute of Databases and Information Systems, Ulm University, Ulm, Germany ²Department for Psychotherapy and Biopsychosocial Health, Danube University Krems, Krems, Austria

Corresponding Author: Michael Winter, MSc Institute of Databases and Information Systems Ulm University James-Franck Ring 1 Ulm, 89069 Germany Phone: 49 7315024126 Email: <u>michael.winter@uni-ulm.de</u>

Abstract

Background: The management and comprehension of business process models are of utmost importance for almost any enterprise. To foster the comprehension of such models, this paper has incorporated the idea of a serious game called Tales of Knightly Process.

Objective: This study aimed to investigate whether the serious game has a positive, immediate, and follow-up impact on process model comprehension.

Methods: A total of two studies with 81 and 64 participants each were conducted. Within the two studies, participants were assigned to a game group and a control group (ie, study 1), and a follow-up game group and a follow-up control group (ie, study 2). A total of four weeks separated study 1 and study 2. In both studies, participants had to answer ten comprehension questions on five different process models. Note that, in study 1, participants in the game group played the serious game before they answered the comprehension questions to evaluate the impact of the game on process model comprehension.

Results: In study 1, inferential statistics (analysis of variance) revealed that participants in the game group showed a better immediate performance compared to control group participants (P<.001). A Hedges g of 0.77 also indicated a medium to large effect size. In study 2, follow-up game group participants showed a better performance compared to participants from the follow-up control group (P=.01); here, a Hedges g of 0.82 implied a large effect size. Finally, in both studies, analyses indicated that complex process models are more difficult to comprehend (study 1: P<.001; study 2: P<.001).

Conclusions: Participants who played the serious game showed better performance in the comprehension of process models when comparing both studies.

(JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e15374) doi:10.2196/15374

KEYWORDS

business process model comprehension; business process modeling; serious games; learning; research design

Introduction

Background

RenderX

The application of game designs and their related principles constitutes a promising approach to encouraging learning and to playfully imparting knowledge [1,2]. More specifically, this could mean integrating a game design and its principles into a nongame context (eg, administrative work). Among others, serious games have received attention as a potential alternative

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15374
```

for fostering professional development by stimulating an active learning process [3]. By using specific design principles derived from video games (eg, competition, curiosity, and collaboration), serious games integrate these into a nongame context to improve motivation when completing or addressing complex or bothersome tasks [4]. Accordingly, there have been reviews and studies that investigated the potential impact of such games on learning and skill enhancement [5]. For example, Wouters et al [6] evaluated several game features (eg, role play) and

outlined that serious games and their respective features can improve cognitive skills (eg, problem-solving). Furthermore, Von Wangenheim and Shull [7] demonstrated that serious games are an effective approach for learning, especially for the reinforcement of knowledge.

Owing to the increasing positive awareness of serious games, various disciplines (eg, education, health care, and business) have adapted the use of serious games according to their purposes [8-10]. Based on this, the computer science discipline that deals with the creation and understanding of process models is also suitable for the utilization of serious games [11]. A process model is a type of diagram that represents the procedures, workflows, and algorithms [12], but it specifically documents all steps, decisions, and involved persons needed to achieve a specific goal. Therefore, process models have been widely adopted in different domains (eg, computer science, and health care) [13,14]. In this context, business process models constitute an extension of process models, which are predominantly used in the field of business and industry for the documentation of respective business processes [15]. The creation of business process models (ie, business process modeling) and understanding them (ie, process model comprehension) are essential factors for enterprises to capture and work with their business processes daily [16]. In this context, the modeling and comprehension of processes and respective models are demanding tasks. Consequently, knowledge about the process to be modeled/understood, as well as respective expertise, is required to be able to use the advantages of business process models [17].

Knowledge in process modeling and the expertise to properly comprehend a process model are often acquired through work experience, formal training, or through educational institutions (eg, universities). Therefore, a proper education or training in process modeling must be ensured to understand how to model business processes correctly and, thus aim to create high-quality process models [18]. Furthermore, the capability to properly understand process models is accompanied by learning how to both create and model them. Vice versa, the inverse is only conditionally applicable; that is, learning to comprehend process models only fosters the ability to model processes to a limited extent [19].

In the context of our research, to foster the comprehension of process models, the application of serious games for training for process modeling and understanding offers promising opportunities to significantly improve them [20,21]. For process modeling and process model comprehension, specific research exists evaluating the potential use of serious games in this context. For example, a serious game approach with an emphasis on process enactment and a discussion about opportunities in the context of business process management has been elaborated on in a study by Herzberg and Kunze [22]. Vuksic and Bach [23] also gave suggestions about introducing a simulation game environment to foster an overall understanding of using business processes. Based on virtual environments, Ribeiro et al [24] introduced a serious game for teaching business process modeling, model comprehension, and process simulation. In turn, in a study by Aysolmaz et al [25], an office environment was virtualized using a three-dimensional virtual world to enable

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15374
```

an immersive experience for improving process model comprehension. The results and insights obtained from a field study in which a serious game based on a business process model is used to familiarize employees with a complex process of a manufacturer were discussed in a study by Rosenthal and Strecker [26]. Finally, Mendling et al [27] discussed viewing characteristics of process modelers (eg, level of theoretical knowledge of modeling). Afterward, the characteristics that influence process model comprehension were investigated by taking gamification into account.

Beside expertise gained in process modeling and comprehension during the accomplishment of practical tasks, interestingly, many business analysts or process modelers learn more about business process modeling and their importance for enterprises in tertiary institutions (eg, universities) [28]. Nowadays, well-trained process modelers are crucial for enterprises to overcome many daily challenges. Understanding these models is also of utmost importance, as, for example, people need to know about their responsibilities and where to get relevant information from [29]. For example, enterprises must flexibly react to changes in the market. Therefore, they need to be able to align their business processes accordingly to satisfy technological and environmental evolutions or constraints. Thus, ensuring proper comprehension of process models through good education in the business process field should be a key factor for enterprises.

Objective

To address this and enhance our understanding of process model comprehension, this paper presents a serious game to investigate its impact on the comprehension of process models. In particular, the presented serious game teaches the essentials of the business process modeling standard Business Process Model and Notation (BPMN) version 2.0 [30] to foster the general comprehension of process models. Furthermore, it must be noted that the objective of the serious game is not conveying the subtleties of BPMN version 2.0 but rather creating a fundamental understanding of working with process models. Therefore, the serious game introduces core concepts for process modeling. It also teaches the most common modeling elements of BPMN version 2.0 and their precise meaning for the creation of proper process models, including correct comprehension of the used modeling elements. Overall, to evaluate the impact of the serious game on process model comprehension, the following two research questions are addressed in this study: (1) is the comprehension of process models directly after playing the serious game better in participants playing the game than in those who did not play, and does this depend on the model complexity; and (2) is the comprehension of process models four weeks after playing the serious game better in participants who played than in those who did not and does this depend on the model complexity?

Two studies were conducted to investigate the raised questions. For question 1, process model comprehension of the participants who played the serious game was compared to the performance of those who did not play the serious game. For question 2, exactly four weeks after conducting the first study, the performances of the same participants who played the serious

XSL•FO RenderX

game during study 2 but not in study 1 were compared with each other. Therefore, question 2 was concerned with whether the serious game fostered comprehension of process models at the follow-up study. Finally, for both questions, the level of process model complexity was considered to evaluate whether the learning process is affected by the complexity of the process models.

Methods

Tales of a Knightly Process

The serious game, Tales of a Knightly Process, tells the story of King Rex, the ruler of the kingdom Processia. Unfortunately, via a raven messenger, the king gets to know that his future princess, Calidia, was abducted by the Black Knight. With all his fervor, King Rex mobilizes all his troops to release his beloved princess from the Black Knight's claws.

The story of the serious game is divided into 3 acts, including a separate prologue and epilogue. Each act contains a set of levels in which a process model (expressed in terms of the BPMN version 2.0) has to be modeled for a specific situation (eg, a siege of the Black Knight's castle). In total, 13 processes have to be modeled as a BPMN version 2.0 process model while playing the serious game. In the beginning, simple processes have to be modeled, but as one progresses, the processes become more and more complex. In the first half of the serious game, basic process modeling elements (eg, activities) and constructs (eg, loops) of BPMN version 2.0 are introduced and explained via narration by the king. In the second half of the serious game, the previously learned aspects of BPMN version 2.0 and process modeling are mainly repeated. Furthermore, in the first half of the game, the modeling of processes is the main focus, while in the second half of the game, there is an emphasis on process model comprehension. For a better overview, the BPMN version 2.0 elements used in the game are explained:

- Activities: An activity is an atomic or nonatomic task and describes an executable step in a process (eg, place order).
- Event: An event indicates that something is happening in the process which affects its flow (eg, error detected).
- Gateway: A gateway allows for control as well branching, and merges the process flow (eg, decision points).
- Sequence flows: Sequence flows connect all elements in a process model and represent the direction of the flow (eg, choreography).

- Pool: A pool describes an independent (organizational) unit with clearly defined boundaries in a process (eg, enterprise).
- Lane: A lane represents concrete people, roles, or departments within a pool (eg, sales department).
- Subprocess: A subprocess allows the modularization of (complex) process models into smaller models to reduce the complexity and increase comprehensibility.

Serious Game Mechanics

The story is told with the use of dialogue from the perspective of King Rex (see Figure 1). To save his princess, the king must reach the Black Knight's fortress. On his way, he must prepare his troops, gather resources, and overcome dangers. Thus, these situations must be modeled in the serious game in terms of BPMN version 2.0 process models.

To continue the story, a process model must be created for each level, which is done using a separate process modeling environment (see Figure 2). In this environment, only specific elements are available, all of which must be used to complete the level. Therefore, these particular elements must be placed and connected as specified in BPMN version 2.0. After a process model has been created, it is checked to determine whether it is correct. Progress to the next level is made only with a correct process model. Otherwise, the process model must be adapted accordingly.

For further assistance during process modeling, the serious game provides scrolls that contain hints and additional information about previously learned BPMN elements and constructs (see Figure 3). Specifically, the use of elements and their respective meanings are described in more detail alongside an example of their use. The main focus of the serious game is on the imparting of knowledge about BPMN version 2.0 and how to use it for process modeling, with an addition goal of fostering the comprehension of process models. However, the serious game also emphasizes the added value of curiosity and competition to hopefully induce higher motivation and an enhancement of the learning process. Therefore, the serious game offers additional concepts from video games, such as resource management and item crafting (see Figure 4). Furthermore, the serious game is designed to have a supporting narrative storyline, as the story is tailored by the choices made therein, thus increasing replayability.



Figure 1. Storytelling of the serious game.



Figure 2. Process modeling environment.





Figure 3. Description and help text.



Figure 4. Troop and resource management.



Comprehension Questions

For the evaluation of the impact of the serious game (ie, immediate [study 1] and follow-up [study 2]), all participants in both studies had to answer ten true or false comprehension questions on five different process models in a separate questionnaire. Specifically, two comprehension questions were asked per process model, which were expressed in terms of BPMN version 2.0. The five process models represented five

different levels of complexity (ie, beginner, basic, intermediate, advanced, and expert).

The beginner process model was only composed of basic modeling elements. With the rising level of complexity, new BPMN version 2.0 elements were added, and the total number of elements was increased. The guidelines from studies by Becker et al and Mendling et al [31,32] as well as an adopted cognitive complexity measure proposed in a study by Gruhn and Laue [33], were used in the creation of the process models to allow categorization into these five levels of complexity. The

XSL•FO RenderX

process models documented no concrete scenario, and single alphabetic letters were used to label the process model elements (ie, abstract labeling type). The ten comprehension questions referred to the syntactic and semantic dimension of the process models and were used to evaluate the impact (ie, immediate and follow-up) of the serious game. The comprehension questions were defined by two process modeling experts in a consensus-building process.

In study 1, both groups received the same questionnaire with the same ten comprehension questions. In study 2, to ensure comparability between both studies, a similar but still different set of process models and related comprehension questions were used. More specifically, a small change was made in the structure of the process models and respective element labeling. For the comprehension questions, different questions were used, but they referred further to the syntactic and semantic dimensions of the process models.

Participants

In study 1, the sample size comprised 81 students from an entry course in Business Process Management at Ulm University. Until the beginning of study 1, the entry course introduced the fundamentals of business process modeling to the students.

Overall, 36 participants were female and the average age was 23.67 years (SD 3.19). Based on a demographic questionnaire, 47 participants stated they had little to no experience in process modeling and comprehension as well as in working with BPMN version 2.0 (ie, 0), while 20 participants had average experience (ie, 1), and 14 participants had a high level of experience (ie, 2). The participants were divided into two groups (ie, control group and game group) using the round-robin approach (ie, alternating assignment into one of the two groups). Moreover, the round-robin approach ensured that both groups had similar

characteristics in terms of baseline variables. Due to restrictions on the availability of mobile devices, 3 participants who belonged to the game group had to be assigned to the control group instead. In total, the control group consisted of 44 participants and the game group consisted of 37 participants. The baseline comparisons between the control and the game group participants are presented in Table 1. *P* values presented were calculated using the Fisher exact test.

In study 2, 64 students were enrolled from the same Business Process Management entry course at Ulm University. During the period between study 1 and study 2, the entry course taught the process modeling aspects that are included in the serious game.. For this reason, a general increase in the comprehension question scores was expected in study 2. All participants were divided into a follow-up control group and a follow-up game group. Specifically, 30 participants who played the serious game in study 1 (ie, identified by a generated pseudocode) were allocated to the follow-up game group [ie, FU Game]. However, seven game group participants from study 1 did not participate in study 2 because of term fluctuation. A total of 34 participants who either participated in study 1 and did not play the game (n=31) and new participants who were not part of study 1 (n=3)were allocated to the follow-up control group [ie, FU_Control]. A total of 13 control group participants from study 1 did not participate in study 2 again because of term fluctuation. Overall, 27 females participated in study 2, and the average age was 23.50 years (SD 3.18). From the demographic questionnaire, 37 participants with little to no experience, 19 participants with average experience, and 8 participants with high experience in process modeling and comprehension took part in the study. The control and game group participants were compared along baseline variables, and the results are presented in Table 2. P values presented were calculated using the Fisher exact test.

Table 1. Sample description and comparison of study 1 in baseline variables.

Variables	Control (n=44)	Game (n=37)	P value
Sex, n (%)			.65
Female	21 (52)	15 (41)	
Male	23 (48)	22 (59)	
Average age (years), mean (SD)	23.23 (3.09)	24.20 (3.25)	
Age, n (%)			.24
Aged <25 years	32 (73)	22 (59)	
Aged >24 years	12 (27)	15 (41)	
Experience, n (%)			>.99
0 (none to little)	26 (59)	21 (57)	
1 (average)	11 (25)	9 (24)	
2 (high)	7 (16)	7 (19)	



Table 2. Sample description and comparison of study 2 in baseline variables.

Variables	FU_Control (n=34)	FU_Game (n=30)	P value
Sex, n (%)			.45
Female	16 (47)	11 (37)	
Male	18 (53)	19 (63)	
Average age (years), mean (SD)	23.15 (3.09)	23.90 (3.24)	
Age, n (%)			.43
Aged <25 years	25 (73)	19 (63)	
Aged >24 years	9 (27)	11 (37)	
Experience, n (%)			>.99
0 (none to little)	20 (59)	17 (57)	
1 (average)	10 (29)	9 (30)	
2 (high)	4 (12)	4 (13)	

Comprehension Questions Score

To investigate the immediate and follow-up impact of the serious game, participants were asked to answer ten true or false comprehension questions on five different process models (ie, two questions each). The process models were categorized into five different levels of complexity, and five questions had to be answered per process model. The sum of the correct answers was used as the respective performance measure in study 1 and study 2.

Study Design

The design of the study is based on the guidelines set out by Wohlin et al [34]. Before conducting the two studies, a pilot study of the serious game was performed that involved three participants who did a playtest with a think-aloud protocol. All three participants had experience with process modeling and comprehension as well as with BPMN version 2.0. The playtest ensured that no severe bugs or design flaws were in the final game. Think-aloud protocols support the identification of misunderstandings and usability problems that can be addressed accordingly. Following this, several quality improvements were implemented in the game's final version, which included, among others, the improvement of the use of the single BPMN version 2.0 elements and the process models that needed to be modeled. Also, apart from the perceived fun factor, the educational emphasis of introducing BPMN version 2.0 and corresponding elements was discernible. Furthermore, for the evaluation of the immediate and follow-up impact of the serious game on process model comprehension, a longitudinal study design with two measurement time points was chosen. The time between the two measurements was four weeks.

The procedure of study 1 (ie, focus on the immediate impact of the serious game) was as follows: the study participants were welcomed, and the overall study procedure was explained. Following this, the participants were divided according to the round-robin approach (ie, alternating assignment into one of the two groups) into a control group and game group. After this step, study materials (ie, study description, demographic questionnaire, and study trial) were handed out to the participants. In the control group, first, the study description

https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15374

XSL•FO RenderX had to be read. Then, the participants needed to answer the demographic questionnaire to capture relevant demographic data (eg, age and gender).

After the demographic questionnaire was answered, participants had to answer ten true or false comprehension questions on five differently complex (ie, beginner, basic, intermediate, advanced, and expert) process models (ie, two comprehension questions per process model). The comprehension questions solely referred to the syntactical rules or the semantic description of the process models. After completing this step, the study ended. Thus, the control group did not play the serious game and only answered the comprehension questions. The game group, in turn, played the serious game on mobile devices after answering the demographic questionnaire to evaluate the immediate impact thereof. The serious game was played only once, with a playthrough taking about 20 minutes to complete. After playing the serious game, ten true or false comprehension questions (ie, the same as in the control group) on five differently complex process models had to be answered.

In study 2 (ie, focus on the follow-up impact of the serious game), four weeks after study 1, participants were identified by a generated pseudocode based on if they had played the serious game in study 1 or not. Those who played the serious game in study 1 made up the follow-up game group, and those who did not play the game (either control group participants in study 1 or new participants) were the follow-up control group. The serious game was not played again in study 2. Afterward, all participants had to answer ten true or false comprehension questions on five process models of varying complexity. The comprehension questions and respective process models were like the ones used in study 1 to ensure comparability between the studies. The entire study design for study 1 and study 2 is outlined in Figure 5. During the four weeks between the two measurements (ie, study 1 and study 2), the entry course on Business Process Management introduced the aspects of BPMN version 2.0 used in the game to the participants as part of the syllabus. For this reason, we expected an increase in the comprehension question score in study 2 compared to study 1 for both groups.

Figure 5. Study design.



Results

Descriptive Statistics

Regarding study 1, Table 3 presents descriptive results obtained from the control group and game group immediate after study 1. It shows the average correct answers per complexity level as well as the sum thereof. As can be seen from Table 3, participants who played the serious game (ie, game group) achieved a better result in the comprehension questions compared with participants who did not play the serious game (ie, control group). In general, the control group achieved a mean of 5.70 (SD 1.46), whereas the game group achieved a mean of 6.86 (SD 1.55). Furthermore, a decrease in the score is noticeable in both groups with rising level of process model complexity. Regarding study 2, Table 4 shows descriptive results from both groups (ie, follow-up control group and follow-up game group). Once again, the table shows the average correct answers per complexity level and the sum thereof for the ten true or false questions that were asked. In general, there is an increase in the comprehension question score between study 1 and study 2. This general increase is explained by the fact that participants spent considerable time working with process models as well as BPMN version 2.0 in the context of the entry course. However, comparing the results from the follow-up control group and follow-up game group, the same observation as seen in study 1 is discernible. Specifically, after four weeks, participants who were in the game group in study 1 achieved a better result at answering comprehension questions compared to participants who did not play the serious game. The participants of the follow-up control group achieved a mean comprehension score of 6.65 (SD 1.63), while the follow-up game group achieved a mean score of 7.90 (SD 1.37).

Table 3. Descriptive results from study 1.

Group	Level of complexity (score), mean (SD)					
	Beginner	Basic	Intermediate	Advanced	Expert	Sum
Game (n=37)	1.68 (0.53)	1.59 (0.55)	1.41 (0.64)	1.16 (0.65)	1.03 (0.76)	6.86 (1.55)
Control (n=44)	1.55 (0.59)	1.23 (0.71)	1.23 (0.68)	0.95 (.53)	0.75 (.61)	5.70 (1.46)



Table 4. Descriptive results from study 2.

Group (n)	Level of complexity (score), mean (SD)					
	Beginner	Basic	Intermediate	Advanced	Expert	Sum
FU_Game (n=30)	1.87 (0.35)	1.73 (0.52)	1.57 (0.50)	1.57 (0.50)	1.17 (0.70)	7.90 (1.37)
FU_Control (n=34)	1.61 (0.49)	1.44 (0.70)	1.38 (0.60)	1.24 (0.74)	0.97 (0.67)	6.65 (1.63)

Inferential Statistics

To evaluate the reported descriptive results for statistical significance, analyses of variance for repeated measurements were performed with the performance measure score as dependent variable (Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied). For these analyses, the within-subject factor had five levels and was the level of process model complexity, and the between-subject factor had two levels and consisted, for all research questions, of the sample comparison of interest (ie, control vs game and follow-up control vs follow-up game). The main effects of the level of complexity and sample comparison, as well as the interaction effect (ie, complexity×sample comparison), were evaluated. In addition, in the event of significance for the level of complexity and the interaction effect, repeated contrasts were employed. Finally, for question 1 and questions 2, Hedges g was calculated to quantify the effect of the serious game. Effect sizes will be interpreted as follows: 0.20=small effect, 0.50=medium effect, and 0.80=large effect. All two-tailed statistical tests were performed, and the significance value was set to P < .05.

Results for Research Question 1

 Table 5 presents the results for the performance measure score for research question 1.

Main effect 1, the level of complexity, was significant (P<.001), and repeated contrasts showed that complexity 2 (P=.04) had a lower score (mean 1.40; SD 0.66) than complexity 1 (mean 1.60; SD 0.56) and, in addition, complexity 3 (P=.36) did not have a lower score (mean 1.31; SD 0.66) than complexity 2. However, complexity 4 (P=.02) had a lower score (mean 1.05; SD 0.59) than complexity 3, whereas complexity 5 (P=.08) did not have a lower score (mean 0.88; SD 0.70) than complexity 4. Furthermore, main effect 2, the sample comparison, reached statistical significance (P<.001), and the control group had significantly lower scores than the game group. The interaction effect did not reach significance. Finally, a Hedges g was determined for each level of complexity and the sum thereof as between-group effect size. Hedges g for beginner, basic, intermediate, advanced, and expert was 0.23, 0.56, 0.27, 0.35, and 0.41, respectively, and Hedges g for sum was 0.77.

 Table 5. Inferential statistics for research question 1.

Effect	Performance measure score		
	F test (df)	P value	
Main effect of the level of complexity	17.19 (3.68, 290.50)	<.001	
Main effect of sample comparison	12.05 (1, 79)	<.001	
Interaction effect	0.45 (3.68, 290.50)	.76	

Results for Research Question 2

Table 6 shows the results for the performance measure score with respect to research question 2.

Main effect 1, the level of complexity, was significant (P<.001), and repeated contrasts showed that complexity 2 (P=.11) did not have a lower score (mean 1.58; SD 0.64) than complexity 1 (mean 1.74; SD 0.45) and, in addition, complexity 3 (P=.26) did not have a lower score (mean 1.47; SD 0.56) than complexity 2. Furthermore, complexity 4 (P=.50) did not have a lower score

(mean 1.39; SD 0.66) than complexity 3, whereas complexity 5 (P=.002) had a lower score (mean 1.06; SD 0.69) than complexity 4. Moreover, main effect 2, the sample comparison, reached statistical significance (P=.01), and the follow-up control group had significantly lower scores than the follow-up game group. Furthermore, the interaction effect did not attain significance. Finally, a Hedges g was determined for each level of complexity and the sum thereof as a between-group effect size. Hedges g for beginner, basic, intermediate, advanced, and expert was 0.60, 0.46, 0.34, 0.51, and 0.29, respectively, and Hedges g for sum was 0.82.

```
        Table 6. Inferential statistics for research question 2.
```

Effect	Performance measure score	
	F test (df)	P value
Main effect of the level of complexity	12.28 (3.81, 236.45)	<.001
Main effect of sample comparison	10.89 (1, 62)	.01
Interaction effect	0.19 (3.81, 236.45)	.94

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study evaluated a serious game to foster business model comprehension. First, we evaluated whether participants who played the serious game showed a better immediate performance than participants who did not play the serious game, and also whether this depended on the level of complexity of the process models (ie, research question 1). We found that participants who played the serious game had a significantly better immediate performance measure than participants who did not play the serious game and that this difference between the game group and control group was not affected by process model complexity. The corresponding between-group effect size was medium to large for the sum score of model comprehension (g=0.77). Based on the presented results, it can be concluded that the serious game had a significant, positive, immediate, impact on process model comprehension. Moreover, in this scenario, the comprehension of process models is not improved through direct approaches focusing on respective comprehensibility. In turn, with an indirect approach about how to model processes, an improvement in process model comprehension was addressed.

Second, we analyzed whether participants who played the serious game showed a better follow-up performance measure than participants who did not play the serious game. It was again analyzed whether this depended on the level of complexity of the process models. We found that participants who played the serious game had a significantly better follow-up performance measure than participants who did not play the serious game and that this group difference was not affected by the process model complexity. Furthermore, Hedges g implied a large effect for the sum score of model comprehension (g=0.82). Thus, the serious game had a significant positive impact on process model comprehension at follow-up.

Finally, for both research questions, main effect 1 reached significance all the time, indicating that process models are more difficult to comprehend when they are more complex.

Limitations

First, the external validity and generalizability are limited because only students were examined. Second, to investigate the impact of the serious game on process model comprehension, participants needed to answer ten true or false comprehension questions on five different process models. To ensure comparability of the comprehension questions between studies 1 and 2, different but still similar process models were used (ie, similar process model structure but different element labeling style). Thus, participants in study 2 might have noticed similarities in the process models while answering the comprehension questions and, consequently, answering of respective questions could have been easier. Third, the potential fun factor while playing the serious game may have affected the motivation of participants in answering the comprehension questions. If a task that is associated with some fun factor is completed, then the attitude for the following task is likely to be different and potentially more positive. Accordingly, the motivation of participants of study 1 in the game group could

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15374
```

have been different from the control group, resulting in a better comprehension questions score. Fourth, there were participants (n=3) who participated in study 2 but not in study 1. These participants were considered to be a part of the control group instead. Fifth, the better comprehension question scores of the follow-up game group could also be explained by the fact that those participants spent more time working with process models and BPMN in the period between the two measurements (ie, four weeks between study 1 and study 2) during the entry course. Finally, the number of participants in study 1 and study 2 was not the same because there is a typical decrease in the number of students in a course during the term.

Implications

The provided insights have several implications for practice and research. Particularly noteworthy is the positive immediate and follow-up impact of the serious game in the context of process model comprehension. As known from other domains, this positive effect from serious games may be used to improve formal training in process model comprehension for practitioners or domain experts [35]. Furthermore, existing tools in this context may be enriched with features or aspects of the serious game to improve respective model comprehension.

Moreover, a tool can be developed using the aspects of the serious game to increase general motivation [36]. Practitioners or domain experts can also be supported in their comprehension as well as the creation of process models. Moreover, research on process model comprehension can better investigate the precise impact of specific aspects from a serious game, particularly, which aspects of these game (eg, high score and item crafting) have a beneficial impact and which aspects have an opposite effect [37]. With the use of serious games, another approach can be used to investigate learning success as well as engagement in process model comprehension. Compared to serious games, other game-based principles (eg. gamification and playful interaction) and their impact on process model comprehension can be considered in future research [38]. Finally, research questions may address the impact of a serious game on, for example, cognitive load [39], or if a serious game supports the reduction of the perceived cognitive load while comprehending process models.

Future Work

In general, based on the insights of study 1 and study 2, the application of the developed serious game had a positive, immediate, and follow-up impact on process model comprehension. Although results look auspicious, additional studies are needed to replicate these findings. The participants of the current study were students taking part in a Business Process Management entry course at a university and studies with other samples are needed to enhance generalization of the results (external validity). For example, it is interesting to investigate the impact of the serious game while including domain experts from different fields (eg, doctors) to investigate whether domain experts are able to learn how to comprehend process models while playing the serious game. Such studies including samples that are not familiar with process modeling should include an assessment of process model comprehension performance at baseline, i. e. before the game group plays the

serious game in order to evaluate pre-post changes in the game group vs. control group. The current study included only postand follow-up assessments, since participants were familiar with business process modeling at least to some extent at the start of the study. To enhance internal validity, a randomized controlled study would be welcome, since the current studies are based on a quasi-experimental design.

The game will also be continuously enriched with new features. These include the introduction of additional BPMN version 2.0 process modeling elements, which has been considered to enable the comprehension of complex or even real-world process models. The focus of the paper at hand was on process model comprehension, and thus we will investigate the impact of the serious game in the context of process modeling as well. Therefore, a feature is currently being implemented that records the steps of process modeling for participants. The recording feature, in turn, will allow us to examine the single steps of process modeling in more detail to enhance our general understanding of working with these models. Finally, support for other process modeling languages (eg, event-driven process chains and Unified Modeling Language activity diagram [40]) will be the subject of future developments.

Summary

This paper presented the serious game, Tales of a Knightly Process, which introduces the basics of process modeling to foster the comprehension of these models. We also evaluated the immediate and follow-up impact of the serious game on process model comprehension. The results obtained from both studies showed that the serious game had a significant, positive, immediate and follow-up impact on the comprehension of process models. Furthermore, it was observed that process models are increasingly difficult to comprehend with a rising level of model complexity. Altogether, the obtained results highlight the positive impact of the serious game in the field of process model comprehension. With this work, we can therefore confirm and recommend the use of game designs as well as related principles (ie, serious games and gamification) in a nongame context (ie, process model comprehension).

Authors' Contributions

MW substantially contributed to Tales of a Knightly Process, study design, data acquisition, data analysis, and data interpretation, and drafted and revised the paper. RP substantially contributed to Tales of a Knightly Process and data interpretation and revised the paper. TP substantially contributed to data analysis and data interpretation and revised the paper. MR substantially contributed to Tales of a Knightly Process and revised the paper.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Swartz RJ, Perkins DN. Teaching Thinking: Issues and Approaches. First Edition. New York: Routledge; 2018.
- 2. Kangas M. Creative and playful learning: learning through game co-creation and games in a playful learning environment. Think Skills Creat 2010;5(1):1-15. [doi: 10.1016/j.tsc.2009.11.001]
- 3. Michael DR, Sandra LC. Serious Games: Games that Educate, Train and Inform. First Edition. Boston: Course Technology PTR; 2005.
- 4. Breuer J, Bente G. Why so serious? On the relation of serious games and learning. J Comput Game Cult 2010;4(1):7-24 [FREE Full text]
- 5. Connolly TM, Boyle EA, MacArthur E, Hainey T, Boyle JM. A systematic literature review of empirical evidence on computer games and serious games. Comput Educ 2012;59(2):661-686. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.compedu.2012.03.004</u>]
- 6. Wouters P, van der Spek E, van Oostendorp H. Current practices in serious game research: a review from a learning outcomes perspective. In: Connolly T, Stansfield M, Boyle L, editors. Games-Based Learning Advancements for Multi-Sensory Human Computer Interfaces: Techniques and Effective Practices. Hershey: IGI Global; 2009:232-250.
- 7. von Wangenheim CG, Shull F. To game or not to game? IEEE Soft 2009;26(2):92-94. [doi: 10.1109/MS.2009.54]
- 8. Landers RN, Callan RC. Casual social games as serious games: The psychology of gamification in undergraduate education and employee training. In: Ma M, Oikonomou A, Jain LC, editors. Serious Games and Edutainment Applications. London: Springer; 2011:399-423.
- 9. Graafland M, Schraagen JM, Schijven MP. Systematic review of serious games for medical education and surgical skills training. Br J Surg 2012 Oct;99(10):1322-1330. [doi: 10.1002/bjs.8819] [Medline: 22961509]
- 10. Freire M, Serrano-Laguna A, Iglesias B, Martínez-Ortiz I, Moreno-Ger P, Fernández-Manjón B. Game learning analytics: learning analytics for serious games. In: Spector M, Lockee BB, Childress MD, editors. Learning, Design, and Technology: An International Compendium of Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy. Cham: Springer; 2016:1-29.
- Leyer M, Brown R, Aysolmaz B, Vanderfeesten I, Turetken O. 3D virtual world BPM training systems: process gateway experimental results. In: Proceedings of the 31st International Conference on Advanced Information Systems Engineering. 2019 Presented at: CAiSE'19; June 3-7, 2019; Rome, Italy p. 415-429. [doi: <u>10.1007/978-3-030-21290-2_26</u>]

- Johansson L, Wärja M, Carlsson S. An evaluation of business process model techniques, using Moody's quality criterion for a good diagram. In: Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on perspectives in business informatics research. 2012 Presented at: BIR'12; September 24-26, 2012; Nizhny Novgorod, Russia p. 54-64. [doi: <u>10.1007/978-3-642-33281-4</u>]
- 13. Aguilar-Savén RS. Business process modelling: review and framework. Int J Produc Econ 2004;90(2):129-149. [doi: 10.1016/S0925-5273(03)00102-6]
- 14. Thakur R, Hsu SH, Fontenot G. Innovation in healthcare: issues and future trends. J Bus Res 2012;65(4):562-569. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2011.02.022]
- 15. Dumas M, Rosa M, Mendling J, Reijers HA. Fundamentals of Business Process Management. Second Edition. Heidelberg: Springer; 2018.
- 16. Becker J, Kugeler M, Rosemann M. Process Management: A Guide for the Design of Business Processes. Second Edition. Heidelberg: Springer; 2011.
- 17. Gartner. Transforming Business Through Strategic Process Management. In: Proceedings of the Gartner Business Transformation & Process Management Summit. 2016 Presented at: -; March 16-17, 2016; London, United Kingdom.
- 18. Lohrmann M, Reichert M. Understanding business process quality. In: Business Process Management. Studies in Computational Intelligence. Heidelberg: Springer; 2013:41-73.
- 19. Figl K, Laue R. Cognitive complexity in business process modeling. In: Proceedings of the 23th International Conference on Advanced Information Systems Engineering. 2011 Presented at: CAiSE'11; June 20-24, 2011; London, United Kingdom p. 452-466. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-21640-4_34]
- 20. Herzig P, Ameling M, Schill A. A Generic Platform for Enterprise Gamification. In: Proceedings of the 2012 Joint Working IEEE/IFIP Conference on Software Architecture and European Conference on Software Architecture. 2012 Presented at: WICSA-ECSA'12; August 20-24, 2012; Helsinki, Finland p. 219-223. [doi: 10.1109/wicsa-ecsa.212.33]
- 21. Zimoch M, Kolb J, Reichert M. Considering social distance as an influence factor in the process of process modeling. In: Proceedings of the 16th Working-Conference on Business Process Modeling, Development and Support. 2016 Presented at: BPMDS'16; June 13-15, 2016; Ljubljana, Slovenia p. 97-112. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-39429-9_7]
- 22. Herzberg N, Kunze M. The Business Process Game. In: Proceedings of the 7th Central-European Workshop on Services and their Composition. 2015 Presented at: CEUR-WS'15; February 19-20, 2015; Jena, Germany p. 26-32.
- 23. Vuksic VB, Bach MP. Simulation games in business process management education. Int J Bus Hum Soc Sci 2012;6(9):729-734. [doi: 10.5281/zenodo.1056188]
- 24. Ribeiro C, Fernandes J, Lourenço A, Borbinha J, Pereira J. Using Serious Games to Teach Business Process Modeling and Simulation. In: Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Modeling, Simulation and Visualization Methods. 2012 Presented at: MSV'12; July 16-19, 2012; Las Vegas, USA p. 1-7.
- Aysolmaz B, Brown R, Bruza P, Reijers H. A 3D Visualization Approach for Process Training in Office Environments. In: Proceedings of the 24th International Conference on Cooperative Information Systems. 2016 Presented at: CoopIS'16; October 21-25, 2016; Rhodes, Greece p. 418-436. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-48472-3_24]
- 26. Rosenthal K, Strecker S. Business Process Modelling as Serious Game: Findings From a Field Study. In: Proceedings of the 26th European Conference on Information Systems. 2018 Presented at: ECIS'18; June 23-28, 2018; Portsmouth, United Kingdom p. 165-180.
- 27. Mendling J, Recker J, Reijers HA, Leopold H. An empirical review of the connection between model viewer characteristics and the comprehension of conceptual process models. Inf Syst Front 2018;21(5):1111-1135. [doi: 10.1007/s10796-017-9823-6]
- 28. Drăgan M, Ivana D, Arba R. Business process modeling in higher education institutions. Developing a framework for total quality management at institutional level. Procedia Eco Finance 2014;16:95-103. [doi: 10.1016/S2212-5671(14)00779-5]
- 29. Aysolmaz B, Reijers H. Use Cases for Understanding Business Process Models. In: Proceedings of the 29th International Conference on Advanced Information Systems Engineering. 2017 Presented at: CAiSE'17; June 12-16, 2017; Essen, Germany p. 428-442. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-59536-8 27]
- 30. Object Management Group. 2019. Business Process Model And Notation Specification Version 2.0 URL: <u>https://www.omg.org/spec/BPMN/2.0/</u> [accessed 2019-06-29]
- 31. Becker J, Rosemann M, von Uthmann C. Guidelines of business process modeling. In: van der Aalst W, editor. Business Process Management: Models, Techniques, and Empirical Studies. Heidelberg: Springer; 2002:30-49.
- 32. Mendling J, Reijers HA, van der Aalst W. Seven process modeling guidelines (7PMG). Inf Soft Technol 2010;52(2):127-136. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.infsof.2009.08.004</u>]
- Gruhn V, Laue R. Adopting the cognitive complexity measure for business process models. In: Proceedings of the 5th IEEE International Conference on Cognitive Informatics. 2006 Presented at: ICCI'06; July 17-19, 2006; Beijing, China p. 236-241. [doi: <u>10.1109/coginf.2006.365702</u>]
- 34. Wohlin C, Runeson P, Höst M, Ohlsson M, Regnell B, Wesslén A. Experimentation in Software Engineering. First Edition. Heidelberg: Springer; 2012.
- 35. De Gloria A, Bellotti F, Berta R. Serious Games for education and training. Int J Serious Games 2014;1(1). [doi: 10.17083/ijsg.v1i1.11]

- 36. Romero M, Usart M, Ott M. Can serious games contribute to developing and sustaining 21st century skills? Games Cult 2014;10(2):148-177. [doi: 10.1177/1555412014548919]
- Mildner P, Stamer N, Effelsberg W. From game characteristics to effective learning games. In: Proceedings of the 1st Joint International Conference on Serious Games. 2015 Presented at: JCSG'15; June 3-4, 2015; Huddersfield, United Kingdom p. 51-62. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-19126-3_5]
- Alvarez J, Irrmann O, Djaouti D, Taly A, Rampnoux O, Sauvé L. Design games and game design: relations between design, codesign and serious games in adult education. In: Leleu–Merviel S, Schmitt D, Useille P, editors. From UXD to LivXD: Living EXperience Design. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons; 2019:229-253.
- Jerčič P, Sennersten C, Lindley C. The effect of cognitive load on physiological arousal in a decision-making serious game. In: Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Virtual Worlds and Games for Serious Applications. 2017 Presented at: VS-Games'17; September 6-8, 2017; Athens, Greece p. 153-156. [doi: <u>10.1109/vs-games.2017.8056587</u>]
- 40. Rosa ML, van der Aalst W, Dumas M, Milani FP. Business process variability modeling. ACM Comput Surv 2017;50(1):1-45. [doi: 10.1145/3041957]

Abbreviations

BPMN: Business Process Model and Notation

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 05.07.19; peer-reviewed by P Stourac, M Ruiz; comments to author 28.09.19; revised version received 09.10.19; accepted 20.10.19; published 09.01.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Winter M, Pryss R, Probst T, Reichert M Learning to Read by Learning to Write: Evaluation of a Serious Game to Foster Business Process Model Comprehension JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e15374 URL: <u>https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15374</u> doi:10.2196/15374 PMID:31917374

©Michael Winter, Rüdiger Pryss, Thomas Probst, Manfred Reichert. Originally published in JMIR Serious Games (http://games.jmir.org), 09.01.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Serious Games, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://games.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

The Adoption of a Virtual Reality–Assisted Training System for Mental Rotation: A Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling Approach

Chen-Wei Chang¹, PhD; Shih-Ching Yeh², PhD; Mengtong Li³, MA

¹School of Journalism, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

²Department of Computer Science & Information Engineering, National Central University, Taoyuan City, Taiwan

³Department of Psychology, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Corresponding Author:

Shih-Ching Yeh, PhD Department of Computer Science & Information Engineering National Central University No 300, Zhongda Rd, Zhongli District Taoyuan City, 32001 Taiwan Phone: 886 34227151 ext 35313 Email: <u>shihching.yeh@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Virtual reality (VR) technologies have been developed to assist education and training. Although recent research suggested that the application of VR led to effective learning and training outcomes, investigations concerning the acceptance of these VR systems are needed to better urge learners and trainees to be active adopters.

Objective: This study aimed to create a theoretical model to examine how determining factors from relevant theories of technology acceptance can be used to explain the acceptance of a novel VR-assisted mental rotation (MR) training system created by our research team to better understand how to encourage learners to use VR technology to enhance their spatial ability.

Methods: Stereo and interactive MR tasks based on Shepard and Metzler's pencil and paper test for MR ability were created. The participants completed a set of MR tasks using 3D glasses and stereoscopic display and a 6-degree-of-freedom joystick controller. Following task completion, psychometric constructs from theories and previous studies (ie, perceived ease of use, perceived enjoyment, attitude, satisfaction, and behavioral intention to use the system) were used to measure relevant factors influencing behavior intentions.

Results: The statistical technique of partial least squares structural equation modeling was applied to analyze the data. The model explained 47.7% of the novel, VR-assisted MR training system's adoption intention, which suggests that the model has moderate explanatory power. Direct and indirect effects were also interpreted.

Conclusions: The findings of this study have both theoretical and practical importance not only for MR training but also for other VR-assisted education. The results can extend current theories from the context of information systems to educational and training technology, specifically for the use of VR-assisted systems and devices. The empirical evidence has practical implications for educators, technology developers, and policy makers regarding MR training.

(JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e14548) doi:10.2196/14548

KEYWORDS

virtual reality; computer simulation; educational technology; training programs

Introduction

Background

RenderX

Research on the acceptance of new information systems and technologies provides empirical evidence guiding

```
http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14548/
```

decision-making processes in regard to system developments, educational implications, and other practices. For example, in the fields of information systems and behavioral science, robust models (eg, technology acceptance model, TAM; [1]) have been proposed and repeatedly replicated in different contexts to examine and better understand the processes of accepting new

technologies and systems. In recent years, virtual simulation tools such as the VIVE (HTC Corporation) have been developed and have become more prevalent. These tools create a user experience that better engages cognitive, visual, and motional perceptions. As virtual reality (VR) is different from other information systems—in that users can perceive stereoscopic 3D objects and it is capable of changing fields-of-view while simultaneously interacting with the content via virtual controllers or motion sensors—this study sees a need to explore users' acceptance of such emergent technology.

Although VR technologies are relatively new and require acceptance research, they have been applied to modern learning and training systems and shown effective outcomes (eg, [2,3]). For instance, a recent study conducted by Yeh et al [2] explored using VR for mental rotation (MR) training. MR is a kind of cognitive ability that uses human spatial imagination to rotate an object in a 2D or 3D space [2,4,5]. In a stereoscopic and interactive virtual environment, the results of pretest-posttest comparison suggested that the VR training improved learners' MR ability [2]. These results led to this study's interest in gauging the factors that would encourage learners to use the VR system to enhance their spatial ability, as the MR ability influences an individual's learning activities relying on spatial cognitions including those in the field of medical science. Take anatomy learning as an example. Research has shown that MR ability and the outcome of anatomy learning were positively correlated [6,7]. Hoyek et al [7] conducted an experiment comparing 3 groups of anatomy learning: (1) attending anatomy class and receiving MR training (ie, the treatment group), (2) attending anatomy class only (ie, the comparison group), and (3) neither attending anatomy class nor receiving MR training (ie, the control group). The results concluded that the intervention of MR training positively influenced the students' performance in the anatomy test.

Given the developments and research stated above, this study intended to understand the users' complex psychological processes of accepting the VR-assisted MR training system. The empirical results could extend current theories of acceptance from the context of information systems to educational and training technology, specifically for VR-assisted systems and devices. The main goals of this study were, therefore, to (1) create a behavioral model to better understand the adoption of VR technology for MR training, (2) provide suggestions to educators and technology designers regarding the application and improvement of VR training technology for MR, and (3) establish a stepping stone for future researchers and practitioners interested in incorporating VR technology into other educational and training activities for their users.

Theoretical Framework and Research Hypotheses and Question

To comprehend how an information system is accepted by users, Davis et al [1] proposed the TAM, developed from Fishbein and Ajzen's [8] Theory of Reasoned Action for predicting and understanding an individual's rational behavior and decision making. The TAM model has been frequently used to research the acceptance of a new information and computer system and technology, including those for educational purposes and

```
http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14548/
```

settings (eg, [9,10]) and has recently been applied to better understand the adoption of VR-assisted training and educational systems (eg, [11,12]). Regarding the design of user interface, TAM assumes that perceived ease of use (PEOU) influences users' attitude (ATT) toward an information system and that ATT affects their behavioral intention to use (BIU) it. This study hypothesized that the same effects apply to our VR-assisted MR training system.

H1: Users' PEOU of the MR system predicts their positive ATT toward it.H2: Users' positive ATT toward the system predicts their BIU.

As technology has developed, the TAM model has progressed and evolved. Davis et al [13] found that both extrinsic (eg, perceived usefulness [PU] and PEOU) and intrinsic (eg, cognitive enjoyment) motivations affected users' behavioral intention and actual use of an information system. Extrinsic motivations are involved with the rewards via actual use, such as the enhancement of job efficiency and increase of salary. On the other hand, intrinsic motivations emphasize the rewards in the experience as the ultimate goal, such as the enjoyment of an activity. By empirically testing the relationships of intrinsic and extrinsic motivations, Davies found that PU and perceived enjoyment (PE) were affected by PEOU. Hence, we postulated H3 for the use of our system.

H3: Users' PEOU affects their PE when using the MR training system.

Except for the PU and PEOU as the 2 determinants, researchers started to explore an individual's enjoyable experiences after Davis et al [13]. PE has been verified to have effects on ATT and satisfaction (SAT) with information systems and technology. For example, PE influenced users' positive ATT and intention to use the World Wide Web [14]. In digital learning, trainees' cognitive playfulness affected their learning outcomes, positive mood, and SAT with the training system [15]. On the basis of this evidence, we proposed H4 and H5.

H4: Users' PE predicts their positive ATT toward the MR training system.

H5: Users' PE predicts their SAT with the MR training system.

Previous studies suggested that users' SAT is a predictive factor for the adoption of new information technology. According to expectation-confirmation model (ECM; [16]), users' perception of usefulness and confirmation (ie, whether the experience of information technologies meets their expectation) influences their SAT with the system, and the level of SAT predicts their continued intention to use the system. Ho's [17] study on electronic learning platforms found that users' SAT with the technology also affected their ATT toward the system. Given these findings from previous relevant studies, we hypothesized that trainees' SAT with the VR-assisted MR training system would influence both their ATT toward and intention to use the system.

H6: Users' SAT with the system predicts their positive ATT.

H7: Users' SAT with the system predicts their BIU.

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 1 shows all the proposed hypotheses and the research model for this study.

To better understand how each factor interacts with others to affect learners' intention to use the VR-assisted MR training system and to provide more detailed implications for future researchers and practitioners, we asked the following research question to gauge the indirect effects among the constructs in this study.

RQ: Are there any indirect effects among the constructs in the proposed model?

Figure 1. The proposed theoretical research model includes perceived ease-of-use (PEOU), perceived enjoyment (PE), attitude (ATT), satisfaction (SAT), and behavioral intention to use the system (BIU). H: hypothesis.



Methods

System Design

Shepard and Metzler [18] developed a paper-based MR test. Two 3D objects having the same geometric form but in different orientations were created on a 2D sheet. Trainees were typically asked to identify whether these 2 objects are the same. Developed from Shepard and Metzler's MR tasks, this study adopted 12 stereo and interactive MR tasks (2 for the purpose of practice and 10 for formal training) for our VR-assisted interactive MR training system. OpenGL (Khronos Group) [19], a computer graphic software, was used to create the 3D objects (see Figure 2 for the visual demonstration), and Quad-Buffer Stereo [20] was used in OpenGL to create 120 frames per second for stereovision. For the hardware, RealID shutter glasses (ie, 3D glasses) were used by the participants (Figure 3). The mechanism of stereovision relies on visual persistence and the cross-display of 120 images between 2 eyes. For the interactive experience, Unity engine [21] was applied, so users could virtually rotate the MR subjects via a 6-degree-of-freedom (dof) controller (ie, joystick; Figure 4). In our study, trainees were asked to observe and rotate an MR object and drag it to superimpose a replicate on the other side of the screen that has the same geometric form but a different orientation. Once the 2 MR objects perfectly matched, the specific single MR task was accomplished.

Figure 2. The stereoscopic interactive mental rotation tasks created by the research team.





Figure 3. 3D glasses were used to facilitate the interactive virtual reality experience for mental rotation tasks (written, informed consent was obtained from the individual for publication of the image).



Figure 4. Joystick controller was used to facilitate the interactive virtual reality experience for mental rotation tasks.



Participants and Procedure

This study used partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM) for data analysis. PLS-SEM is one of the most used analytical technique by management information system and marketing researchers, and studies applying PLS-SEM have been published in journals such as *MIS*

http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14548/

XSL•FO

Quarterly [22]. PLS-SEM suggests a 10-time rule for the sample size. The sample size must be 10 times greater than (1) the maximum number of paths a latent variable has and (2) the greatest indicators (items) a latent variable has in the model [23]. This study used a data subset of 55 participants from an earlier developed experimental study [24], which surpassed the

2 threshold requirements. The students in this study were all recruited from the same large research university in Shanghai, China, in early 2018. Each of them received 10 RMB (about US \$1.5) to compensate their time. Their ages ranged from 18 to 26 years (mean 20.29, SD 1.85; median 20.00), with a control of approximate numbers of male (n=29) and female (n=26) participants. They came from diverse majors, including journalism, social science, psychology, Chinese, German, museum studies, mathematics, science, physics. microelectronics, electrical engineering, medicine, medical, chemistry, and electronical information science and technology. For the conditions analyzed in this study, the participants were first asked to watch an instruction video to understand the basic concept of MR and how to use the VR-assisted training equipment. Afterward, they were asked to use the VR equipment (ie, the stereoscopic display and 3D glasses and joystick controller) to perform 2 MR tasks for practice and 10 MR tasks for formal training, which were created by our research team,

followed by a Web-based questionnaire. Owing to the nature of a data subset from a previous experimental study applying a reverse group design, nearly half of the participants in this study had experienced another condition—using a 3-dof computer mouse as the controller before their repeated practice using a 6-dof joystick controller. To prevent potential order effects, we added control variables reflecting the influences caused by the differences between the 2 groups to our analyzed PLS-SEM model. None of the control variable's effect was statistically significant, which indicated a similarity between groups.

Measurement

The measurement for the individual constructs were developed from previous theories and research in information systems and technology, some of which were introduced in the literature review (Table 1). Seven-point Likert scales were applied to PEOU, ATT, PE, and BIU. Semantic measures (7-point scales) were used for the constructs of SAT.

Table 1. Measurement scales.

Construct	Item	Cronbach alpha
Perceived ease of use [25]	 My interaction with this MR^a system was clear and understandable. Interacting with this MR system did not require a lot of my effort. I found this MR system difficult to use (reversed; withdrawn because of a low factor loading). I found it easy to get this MR system to do what I wanted it to do. 	.769
Attitude [26]	 Using this MR system is a good idea. Using this MR system is a wise idea. I dislike the idea of using this MR system (reversed; withdrawn because of a low factor loading). Using this MR system is pleasant. 	.935
Perceived enjoyment [13]	 I found using this MR system to be enjoyable. The actual process of using this MR system was pleasant. I had fun using this MR system. 	.959
Satisfaction [16]	How did you feel about your overall experience of this MR system? (sematic measures): (1) Very dissat- isfied $<-$ >> Very satisfied, (2) Very displeased $<-$ >> Very pleased, (3) Very frustrated $<-$ >> Very con- tented, and (4) Absolutely terrible $<-$ >> Absolutely delighted	.862
Behavioral intention of use [25]	 Assuming I had access to this MR system, I intend to use it. Given that I had access to this MR system, I predict that I would use it. 	.948

^aMR: mental rotation.

Results

This study used IBM SPSS and SmartPLS 3 to analyze data. In SmartPLS 3, the *outer model* represents the *measurement model*, whereas the *inner model* is the same as the "structural model" in other structural equation modeling (SEM) software. Before the SEM analysis, the data were examined for outliers and univariate normality distributions. One case was deleted because of its extreme z-score for a measured item. Afterward, the researchers examined the validity and reliability for the outer model in SmartPLS 3. As can be seen in the measurement, all the latent variables were considered internally consistent according to Nunnally and Bernstein's [27] rule of 0.7 for the Cronbach alpha, as they ranged from 0.769 to 0.959. The convergent validity was met based on 3 criteria: (1) The indicators for individual constructs surpassed the threshold value of 0.7, (2) the composite reliability values were greater than 0.6, and (3) each construct had a coefficient of average variance extracted (AVE) no less than 0.6 ([28,29]; see Table 2 for more details on the convergent validity).



Table 2. Convergent validity.

Construct	Item	Standardized loading	Composite reliability	AVE ^a	$\sqrt{\text{AVE}}$
PEOU ^b	PEOU1	0.837	C	—	_
	PEOU2	0.871	_	_	_
	PEOU4	0.772	0.867	0.685	0.828
ATT ^d	ATT1	0.948	—	—	_
	ATT2	0.955	_	_	_
	ATT4	0.920	0.959	0.886	0.941
PE ^e	PE1	0.971	_	_	_
	PE2	0.970	_	_	_
	PE3	0.942	0.973	0.924	0.961
$\operatorname{SAT}^{\mathrm{f}}$	SAT1	0.793	_	_	_
	SAT2	0.837	_	_	_
	SAT3	0.875	_	_	_
	SAT4	0.853	0.905	0.706	0.840
BIU ^g the system	BIU1	0.975	_	_	_
	BIU2	0.975	0.975	0.951	0.975

^aAVE: average variance extracted.

^bPEOU: perceived ease of use.

^cNot applicable.

^dATT: attitude.

^ePE: perceived enjoyment.

^fSAT: satisfaction.

^gBIU: behavioral intention to use.

For the discriminant validity, the squared root of the AVE value for each construct was compared with the correlations between the construct and other latent variables. The results suggested that the coefficients of \sqrt{AVE} were all greater than other

correlations' Pearson r, which suggests a good discriminant validity for the outer model ([28]; see Table 3). The resulting variance inflation factors also suggested that no significant colinear relationship was identified.

Table 3. Correlation coefficients for discriminant v	/alidity.
--	-----------

Construct	PEOU ^a	ATT ^b	PE ^c	SAT ^d	BIU ^e
PEOU	0.828	f	_	_	_
ATT	0.521	0.941	_	—	_
PE	0.440	0.808	0.961	—	_
SAT	0.214	0.609	0.618	0.840	_
BIU	0.218	0.634	0.549	0.603	0.975

^aPEOU: perceived ease of use.

^bATT: attitude.

^cPE: perceived enjoyment.

^dSAT: satisfaction.

^eBIU: behavioral intention to use.

^fNot applicable.

RenderX

Given that the coefficient of standardized root mean squared residual, an index of model fit in SmartPLS 3, was less than .08 (.076 for the structural model and .079 for the estimated model), the data fit the model well [30]. Afterward, the inner model was

http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14548/

coefficients can be seen in Figure 5. To test their level of statistical significance, a bootstrapping algorithm was calculated 5000 times in the software, as suggested by Hair et al [31]. The

created applying SmartPLS 3's PLS algorithm. All the path

results showed that 4 out of 7 path coefficients were statistically significant at a *P* level of .05. One path was marginally significant at a *P* value of .10 (P=.07), and the other 2 paths were close to marginally significant (P=.11 and .12; see Table

4). The entire model explained 47.7% of the variance of BIU (including and excluding the control variables for groups for BIU: 48.6% and 47.7%, respectively), which is considered moderately explanatory [32].

Figure 5. The partial least squares structural equation modeling structural model for the acceptance of our virtual reality-assisted mental rotation training system. ATT: attitude; BIU: behavioral intention to use; PE: perceived enjoyment; PEOU: perceived ease of use; SAT: satisfaction.



Table 4. Coefficients for the bootstrapping results.

Path	Original beta (O)	Sampling beta	SD	T (O/SD)	P values
ATT ^a ->BIU ^b	.379	.378	0.187	2.028	<.05
PE ^c ->SAT ^d	.627	.634	0.085	7.398	<.001
PE->ATT	.582	.563	0.141	4.136	<.001
PEOU ^e ->ATT	.180	.185	0.112	1.614	.11
PEOU->PE	.414	.442	0.141	2.943	<.01
SAT->ATT	.200	.213	0.128	1.567	.12
SAT->BIU	.362	.359	0.199	1.819	<.10

^aATT: attitude.

^bBIU: behavioral intention to use.

^cPE: perceived enjoyment.

^dSAT: satisfaction.

RenderX

^ePEOU: perceived ease of use.

To better understand how each construct interacted with other variables in the model, indirect effects (mediations) were also examined based on a 5000-time bootstrapping sample. As can be seen from Table 5, all indirect effects (including specific

http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14548/

paths) for endogenous variables were exported and compared. Regarding the indirect effect on the variable of SAT, PE significantly mediated the influence of PEOU on SAT (beta=.259). For the construct of ATT, the indirect effect via

the path PEOU–>PE–>ATT significantly mediated the effect of PEOU on ATT (beta=.241). For BIU, PE and PEOU's effects were both significantly mediated by other variables (beta=.495

and beta=.273). Specifically, PE's effect on BIU consisted of the marginally significant paths of PE->ATT->BIU (beta=.220) and PE->SAT->BIU (beta=.227).

Table 5. Mediation effects (indirect effects).

Construct	Direct effect	s	Indirect effect	ets	Specific paths	Specific effect	ets
	Beta value	P value	Beta value	P value		Beta value	P value
SAT ^a		·		•			
PEOU ^b ->SAT	c	_	.259 ^d	.005	PEOU->PE->SAT	.259 ^d	_
ATT ^e							
PE ^f ->ATT	.582 ^g	<.001	.126	.19	PE->SAT->ATT	.126	
PEOU->ATT	.180	.11	.293 ^h	.01	PEOU->PE->ATT	.241 ^h	—
_	_	_	_	_	PEOU->PE->SAT->ATT	.052	_
BIU ⁱ							
PE->BIU	—	—	.495 ^g	<.001	PE->ATT->BIU	.220 ^j	.05
—	—	_	—	_	PE->SAT->BIU	.227 ^j	.08
_	_	_	_	_	PE->SAT->ATT->BIU	.048	_
PEOU->BIU	—	—	.273 ^d	.002	PEOU->ATT->BIU	.068	_
_	_		_		PEOU->PE->ATT->BIU	.091	_
—	—	_	—	_	PEOU->PE->SAT->BIU	.094	_
—	—	_	—	_	PEOU->PE->SAT->ATT->BIU	.020	
SAT->BIU	.362 ^j	.07	.076	.31	SAT->ATT->BIU	.076	—

^aSAT: satisfaction.

^bPEOU: perceived ease of use. ^cNot applicable. ^dP<.01. ^eATT: attitude. ^fPE: perceived enjoyment. ^gP<.001. ^hP<.05. ⁱBIU: behavioral intention to use. ^jP<.10.

Discussion

Key Findings and Theoretical Discussion

This study created a theoretical model to examine how determining factors from relevant theories of technology acceptance can be used to explain the acceptance of a novel VR-assisted MR training system created by our research team. The results suggested that ATT affected BIU (beta=.379; H2). This finding is consistent with the TAM [1]. We also found that PEOU's effect on ATT was mediated by PE (beta=.241). The indirect effect of PEOU on BIU was mediated by other variables in the model (beta=.273). PEOU has been a crucial factor affecting users' acceptance of information systems. In our study, it is likely that applying VR technology to both the hardware and software of the MR training system was relatively new and novel to the trainees. As most users were new to the VR system,

RenderX

they were not that familiar with its usage compared with other information technology they use in their everyday lives. Therefore, PEOU served as the predictive factor for their ATT toward and intention to use the VR-assisted MR training system. Whenever trainees perceived the use of our MR training system as easier, they had a better ATT toward the system and a higher intention to use it. By examining the key constructs' direct and indirect effects, our study extended the current TAM theory from the context of information technology and systems to VR educational technology and further expanded the findings from recent applications of TAM in other VR-assisted systems (eg, [11,12]).

In addition, this study replicated the finding of the study conducted by Davis et al [13] that PE was affected by PEOU (beta=.414; H3). That is, trainees who regarded the MR training system as more effortless to use would perceive a higher level of enjoyment. In contrast, whenever users felt that using the

system was challenging, their PE decreased. Furthermore, our study suggested that PE not only served as a variable that is influenced by PEOU but also served as the mediator between PEOU and other constructs in the model. Specifically, PE mediated the effect between PEOU and SAT (beta=.259) and partially mediated the effect of PEOU on ATT (beta=.241). Other than these findings, our study also verified that PE affected ATT (beta=.582; H4) and SAT (beta=.627; H5), as we had hypothesized. Those trainees who perceived a higher level of enjoyment had a more positive ATT toward and SAT with the system.

Extending the finding from the study by Davis et al [13] that PE played the predictive role in BIU and actual use, this study showed that PE affected BIU, mediated by ATT and SAT, specifically with the paths of PE–>SAT–>BIU (beta=.227) and PE–>ATT–>BIU (beta=.220). Users' PE first affected their SAT with and ATT toward the system, which later influenced their intention to use the system. Our study, thus, extended Davies' suggested psychological relationship between joyful perception and behavioral intention by adding 2 attitudinal factors, ATT and SAT, between them. In other words, a chain relationship, joyful perception–>attitudinal factors–>behavioral intention, was created. This study suggested the importance of ATT and SAT as the mediators when considering PE's influence on BIU.

Finally, aligning with the ECM [16], we found that trainees' SAT with the MR system directly predicted their intention to use it (beta=.362; H7). Whenever the VR-assisted training system satisfied the users, they were likely to adopt it for learning. SAT, thus, also played a mediating role between PE and BIU (beta=.227), as discussed in the previous paragraph.

Practical Implications

On the basis of the findings of this established model, we also provide practical implications for MR trainers, technology developers, and education professionals. The empirical evidence of this study suggested that trainees' intention to use the novel VR-assisted interactive MR training system was predicted by their PEOU and PE (indirectly via ATT or SAT). Given that the use of an MR training system enhances trainees' MR ability [2], suggestions for technology developers and educators based on the previous 2 exogenous factors are discussed and aimed at helping relevant professionals better apply VR-assisted technologies and systems for education.

The predictive role of PEOU suggests that a user-friendly design is necessary for a VR-assisted MR training system. This requirement is understandable, as VR technology is relatively new and novel to consumers when compared with other information technology and systems on the market. VR technology developers are encouraged to keep improving system's ease-of-use function, specifically with its hardware (eg, stereoscopic glasses and display and interactive controller), as well as the interactive design between the users and MR objects via the controller in the virtual environment. Future systems might want to consider eliminating tools and use of a physical controller and instead develop a motion sensor to completely rely on the trainees' gestures or body movements to interact with the virtual content. These suggested approaches could effectively increase trainees' PEOU, which would eventually lead to their better intention to use the training system.

PE, as we had predicted, served as the predictive factor for the use of the MR training system. We suggest that technology developers might further develop a system that complements the VR head-mounted display (HMD) that completely separates the real and virtual environments. An HMD could further create a better spatial presence by allowing users to actively switch their field-of-view rather than passively observe the content [33]. Previous studies found that whenever spatial presence increased, observers' enjoyment amped up accordingly [34,35], as cited in the paper by Ravaja et al [36]. For the tasks of MR training, game scenarios such as stereoscopic 3D interactive Tetris could be created, which would likely be more playful for users. It is clearly supported by previous studies on digital learning (eg, [37,38]) that users in a game-playing situation perceived increased enjoyment.

Limitations and Future Research

Similar to other studies, this research has its limitations and needs future research to further gauge unanswered questions. First, although all the causal hypotheses were based on established theories and previous studies, the nature of the data for our proposed theoretical model is cross-sectional. Future studies capable of conducting experiments are encouraged to investigate the relationships between the constructs explored in our model. Furthermore, this study explored the acceptance level of VR's educational application in the context of MR. Other educational and training activities, which might apply VR technology in slightly different ways, are also worth further exploration. These extended studies would help researchers and practitioners have a holistic understanding regarding how VR technology can be accepted for educational purposes. Finally, although our proposed theoretical model explained nearly half (47.7%) of the variance of BIU, other VR-specific factors on trainees' use of the novel VR-assisted interactive MR training system, such as perceived simulation and presence, need to be developed and incorporated into the model to better comprehend the remaining unanswered variance for adoption intention.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the School of Journalism at Fudan University and Xijia Great Education Technology Co, Ltd.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



References

- Davis FD, Bagozzi RP, Warshaw PR. User acceptance of computer technology: a comparison of two theoretical models. Manage Sci 1989;35(8):982-1003. [doi: <u>10.1287/mnsc.35.8.982</u>]
- 2. Yeh SC, Wang JL, Wang CY, Lin PH, Chen GD, Rizzo A. Motion controllers for learners to manipulate and interact with 3D objects for mental rotation training. Br J Educ Technol 2013;45(4):666-675. [doi: 10.1111/bjet.12059]
- Merchant Z, Goetz ET, Cifuentes L, Keeney-Kennicutt W, Davis TJ. Effectiveness of virtual reality-based instruction on students' learning outcomes in K-12 and higher education: A meta-analysis. Comput Educ 2014;70:29-40. [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2013.07.033]
- 4. Linn MC, Petersen AC. Emergence and characterization of sex differences in spatial ability: a meta-analysis. Child Dev 1985 Dec;56(6):1479-1498. [doi: 10.2307/1130467] [Medline: 4075870]
- 5. Vandenberg SG, Kuse AR. Mental rotations, a group test of three-dimensional spatial visualization. Percept Mot Skills 1978 Oct;47(2):599-604. [doi: 10.2466/pms.1978.47.2.599] [Medline: 724398]
- Guillot A, Champely S, Batier C, Thiriet P, Collet C. Relationship between spatial abilities, mental rotation and functional anatomy learning. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract 2007 Nov;12(4):491-507. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10459-006-9021-7</u>] [Medline: <u>16847728</u>]
- Hoyek N, Collet C, Rastello O, Fargier P, Thiriet P, Guillot A. Enhancement of mental rotation abilities and its effect on anatomy learning. Teach Learn Med 2009 Jul;21(3):201-206. [doi: <u>10.1080/10401330903014178</u>] [Medline: <u>20183339</u>]
- 8. Fishbein M, Ajzen I. Belief, Attitude, Intention and Behavior: An Introduction to Theory and Research. Boston, Massachusetts, United States: Addison-Wesley; 1977.
- 9. Liu IF, Chen MC, Sun YS, Wible D, Kuo CH. Extending the TAM model to explore the factors that affect Intention to Use an Online Learning Community. Comput Educ 2010;54(2):600-610. [doi: <u>10.1016/J.COMPEDU.2009.09.009</u>]
- 10. Ngai EW, Poon JK, Chan YH. Empirical examination of the adoption of WebCT using TAM. Comput Educ 2007;48(2):250-267. [doi: <u>10.1016/J.COMPEDU.2004.11.007</u>]
- Huang H, Liaw S, Lai C. Exploring learner acceptance of the use of virtual reality in medical education: a case study of desktop and projection-based display systems. Interact Learn Environ 2013;24(1):1-17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10494820.2013.817436]
- 12. Rasimah CM, Ahmad A, Zaman HB. Evaluation of user acceptance of mixed reality technology. Aust J Educ Technol 2011;27(8):1369-1387 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14742/ajet.899]
- 13. Davis FD, Bagozzi RP, Warshaw PR. Extrinsic and intrinsic motivation to use computers in the workplace. J Appl Soc Psychol 2006;22(14):1111-1132. [doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.1992.tb00945.x]
- 14. Moon JW, Kim YG. Extending the TAM for a World-Wide-Web context. Inf Manag 2001;38(4):217-230. [doi: 10.1016/S0378-7206(00)00061-6]
- 15. Martocchio JJ, Webster J. Effects of feedback and cognitive playfulness on performance in microcomputer software training. Pers Psychol 1992;45(3):553-578. [doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.1992.tb00860.x]
- 16. Bhattacherjee A. Understanding information systems continuance: an expectation-confirmation model. Manag Inf Syst Q 2001;25(3):351-370. [doi: 10.2307/3250921]
- 17. Ho CH. Continuance intention of e-learning platform: toward and integrated model. Int J Electron Bus Manag 2010;8(3):206-215 [FREE Full text]
- Shepard RN, Metzler J. Mental rotation of three-dimensional objects. Science 1971 Feb 19;171(3972):701-703. [doi: 10.1126/science.171.3972.701] [Medline: 5540314]
- 19. OpenGL. URL: <u>https://www.opengl.org/</u> [accessed 2019-12-18]
- 20. Theoretical and Computational Biophysics Group. Quad-Buffered Stereo. URL: <u>https://www.ks.uiuc.edu/Research/vmd/</u> <u>current/ug/node102.html</u> [accessed 2019-12-18]
- 21. Unity Real-Time Development Platform. URL: https://unity.com [accessed 2019-12-18]
- 22. Ringle CM, Sarstedt M, Straub DW. Editor's comments: a critical look at the use of PLS-SEM in 'MIS Quarterly'. Manag Inf Syst Q 2012;36(1):iii-xiv. [doi: 10.2307/41410402]
- 23. Barclay D, Higgins C, Thompson R. The partial least squares approach (PLS) to causal modeling, personal computer adoption and use as an illustration. Technol Stud 1995;2(2):285-309 [FREE Full text]
- Chang C, Heo J, Yeh S, Han H, Li M. The Effects of Immersion and Interactivity on College Students' Acceptance of a Novel VR-Supported Educational Technology for Mental Rotation. IEEE Access 2018;6:66590-66599. [doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2878270]
- 25. Venkatesh V. Determinants of perceived ease of use: integrating control, intrinsic motivation, and emotion into the technology acceptance model. Inf Syst Res 2000;11(4):342-365. [doi: 10.1287/isre.11.4.342.11872]
- 26. Taylor S, Todd PA. Understanding information technology usage: a test of competing models. Inf Syst Res 1995;6(2):144-176. [doi: 10.1287/isre.6.2.144]
- 27. Nunnally JC, Bernstein IH. Psychometric Theory. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1967.
- 28. Fornell C, Larcker DF. Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. J Mark Res 1981;18(1):39-50. [doi: 10.1177/002224378101800104]

- 29. Hair JF, Black B, Babin B, Anderson RE, Tatham RL. Multivariate Data Analysis. Sixth Edition. New Jersey: Pearson; 2006.
- Hu L, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. Struct Equ Model 1999;6(1):1-55. [doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118]
- 31. Hair J, Hult GT, Ringle CM, Sarstedt M. A Primer on Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2016.
- Henseler J, Ringle CM, Sinkovics RR. The use of partial least squares path modeling in international marketing. In: Sinkovics R, Ghauri P, editors. New Challenges to International Marketing (Advances in International Marketing, Volume 20). Bingley: Emerald Group Publishing Limited; 2009:277-319.
- van DBA. Observe or Participate: The Effect of Point-of-View on Presence and Enjoyment in 360 Degree Movies for Head Mounted Displays. In: Proceedings of The European Conference on Ambient Intelligence. 2015 Presented at: AmI'15; November 11-13, 2015; Athens, Greece. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-26005-1]
- 34. Heeter C. Communication research on consumer VR. In: Biocca F, Levy MR, editors. Communication in the Age of Virtual Reality. Hillsdale, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 1995:191-218.
- 35. Lombard M, Reich R, Grabe M, Bracken C, Ditton T. Presence and television: the role of screen size. Human Comm Res 2000;26(1):75-98. [doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2958.2000.tb00750.x]
- 36. Ravaja N, Saari T, Turpeinen M, Laarni J, Salminen M, Kivikangas M. Spatial presence and emotions during video game playing: does it matter with whom you play? Presence 2006;15(4):381-392. [doi: 10.1162/pres.15.4.381]
- 37. Fu FL, Su RC, Yu SC. EGameFlow: a scale to measure learners' enjoyment of e-learning games. Comput Educ 2009;52(1):101-112. [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2008.07.004]
- Hsiao HC. A Brief Review of Digital Games and Learning. In: Proceedings of the 2007 First IEEE International Workshop on Digital Game and Intelligent Toy Enhanced Learning. 2007 Presented at: DIGITEL'07; March 26-28, 2007; Jhongli City, Taiwan. [doi: 10.1109/DIGITEL.2007.3]

Abbreviations

ATT: attitude AVE: average variance extracted BIU: behavioral intention to use dof: degree-of-freedom ECM: expectation-confirmation model HMD: head-mounted display MR: mental rotation PE: perceived enjoyment PEOU: perceived ease of use PLS-SEM: partial least squares structural equation modeling PU: perceived usefulness SAT: satisfaction SEM: structural equation modeling TAM: technology acceptance model VR: virtual reality

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 02.05.19; peer-reviewed by S McRoy, S Gallagher; comments to author 31.05.19; revised version received 27.09.19; accepted 29.11.19; published 17.01.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Chang CW, Yeh SC, Li M The Adoption of a Virtual Reality–Assisted Training System for Mental Rotation: A Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling Approach JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e14548 URL: <u>http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e14548/</u> doi:10.2196/14548 PMID:31804184

©Chen-Wei Chang, Shih-Ching Yeh, Mengtong Li. Originally published in JMIR Serious Games (http://games.jmir.org), 17.01.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium,

provided the original work, first published in JMIR Serious Games, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://games.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Using String Metrics to Improve the Design of Virtual Conversational Characters: Behavior Simulator Development Study

Santiago García-Carbajal^{1*}, PhD; María Pipa-Muniz^{2*}, MSc; Jose Luis Múgica^{3*}, MSc

¹Computer Science Department, Universidad de Oviedo, Gijón, Spain

²Cabueñes Hospital, Gijón, Spain

³Signal Software SL, Parque Científico Tecnológico de Gijón, Gijón, Asturias, Spain
 * all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Santiago García-Carbajal, PhD Computer Science Department Universidad de Oviedo Campus de Viesques Office 1 b 15 Gijón, 33203 Spain Phone: 34 985182487 Email: sgarcia@uniovi.es

Abstract

Background: An emergency waiting room is a place where conflicts often arise. Nervous relatives in a hostile, unknown environment force security and medical staff to be ready to deal with some awkward situations. Additionally, it has been said that the medical interview is the first diagnostic and therapeutic tool, involving both intellectual and emotional skills on the part of the doctor. At the same time, it seems that there is something mysterious about interviewing that cannot be formalized or taught. In this context, virtual conversational characters (VCCs) are progressively present in most e-learning environments.

Objective: In this study, we propose and develop a modular architecture for a VCC-based behavior simulator to be used as a tool for conflict avoidance training. Our behavior simulators are now being used in hospital environments, where training exercises must be easily designed and tested.

Methods: We define training exercises as labeled, directed graphs that help an instructor in the design of complex training situations. In order to increase the perception of talking to a real person, the simulator must deal with a huge number of sentences that a VCC must understand and react to. These sentences are grouped into sets identified with a common label. Labels are then used to trigger changes in the active node of the graph that encodes the current state of the training exercise. As a consequence, we need to be able to map every sentence said by the human user into the set it belongs to, in a fast and robust way. In this work, we discuss two different existing string metrics, and compare them to one that we use to assess a designed exercise.

Results: Based on the similarities found between different sets, the proposed metric provided valuable information about ill-defined exercises. We also described the environment in which our programs are being used and illustrated it with an example.

Conclusions: Initially designed as a tool for training emergency room staff, our software could be of use in many other areas within the same environment. We are currently exploring the possibility of using it in speech therapy situations.

(JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e15349) doi:10.2196/15349

KEYWORDS

spoken interaction; string metrics; virtual conversational characters; serious games; e-learning

Introduction

Virtual Conversational Characters

The field of virtual conversational characters (VCCs) is an emerging research field that is growing in importance, both in industrial and academic applications. Our company started to include VCCs as a component of our simulators in 2014, mainly oriented to military and police environments, and recently it was proposed to migrate this type of simulator to hospital environments.

VCCs, also known as embodied conversational agents by Poggi et al [1], are 2D and 3D models of real persons that must be capable of human-like behavior. Apart from high-quality graphics, the most important characteristics that define VCCs are as follows:

- 1. Degree of embodiment: a full embodiment implies rendering a complete body. A talking head is an example of partial embodiment.
- 2. Believable talking: the VCC must be able to maintain a conversation with the human user. The most difficult problem to solve is to manage communication in a way that the human user does not perceive his or her dialogue partner as an emotionally numb agent.
- 3. Gesturing: nonverbal behavior is key when trying to solve the traditional lack of naturalness of VCCs. Nonverbal behavior can be introduced in one or both of the following ways:
 - a. Facial gesture: different models and taxonomies for facial movement have been proposed by Ekman and Friesen [2] and Martinez and Shichuan [3]. An excellent state of the artwork on facial expressions for VCCs is that of Ochs et al [4].
 - Body gesture: this usually involves hand and arm movements while talking, as included by Hartholt et al [5] in the virtual human toolkit.
- 4. Emotional behavior of the character: for a VCC, it is desirable not only to be able to maintain a conversation, but also to do so while showing some kind of personality, mood, or attitude.

In this work, we focus on the dialogue management problem. Involving a VCC in a meaningful conversation often implies huge knowledge databases, syntactic and semantic analysis, and the use of artificial intelligence techniques to achieve a convincing result. Designing conversational situations as graphs in the way described in García et al [6], we restrict the possible states of the dialogue, the sentences to be said by the VCC, and the sets of sentences that it will understand. This method does not decrease the applicability of our behavior simulator, as it is intended to be used in strictly constrained situations. Unfortunately, two problems arise when using such an approach: (1) the need for a huge number of similar but slightly different sentences to be said by the VCC if we want the agent not to appear too repetitive and (2) on the other hand, we want the VCC to be able to understand an order, question, or command expressed in as many ways as possible.

The first problem can be solved merely by including a high number of different ways to express what the VCC is going to say and by randomly picking one of them at execution time. The second problem requires the mapping of the expressions said by the human user to any of those the VCC can accept, converting it into the associated label, and delivering it to the situation manager, all within the execution time. This is where string metrics come into play, as a way of measuring the similarities between sentences said by the human user and the sets of expressions the VCC is expecting.

Related Work

Related works include Rosmalen et al [7], where an existing serious game is extended to include a chatbot, as well as those related to the formalization and use of behavior trees by Johansson and Dell'Acqua [8], Isla [9], or Imbert and de Antonio [10], where COGNITIVA is proposed as an emotional architecture for VCCs. The most closely related works to that reported here are those of Hartholt et al [5] and Morie et al [11], where the virtual human toolkit is described. More recently, a framework for the rapid development of Spanish-speaking characters has been presented in Herrera et al [12].

In this context, our system's characteristics are as follows:

- 1. Full embodiment: our VCCs are complete human models rendered inside a realistic 3D scene.
- 2. We solve the dialogue management problem by defining our training situations as graphs and by introducing a statistical process of strings returned by the speech recognition library as a way of directing the evolution of the exercise.
- 3. Inclusion of a facial action code system, as described by Ekman and Friesen [2], as a way of manipulating the VCC's facial gesture.
- 4. Emotional behavior is based on an emotional engine that permits the design and testing of the underlying personality of the VCC, described in García et al [6], and is mainly oriented to the simulation of violent behaviors, as this has been the main application field of our software.

The rest of the paper is structured as follows:

- 1. The Environment section describes the context where string metrics are being used.
- 2. In the Situation Graphs section, we describe the component of the behavior simulator to be analyzed using string metrics.
- 3. The String Metrics section is devoted to the explanation of some string metrics and their comparison to the one we are using.
- 4. In the Graph Validation section, three different string metrics are applied to an example graph using our graph validation tool.
- 5. Finally, in the Conclusions and Future Work sections, we present the main achievements of our work and some possible future lines of research.

Methods

Environment

In this section, we describe the context in which we are using string metrics. Our simulators are designed to be used in conflict avoidance training contexts, including situations where a member of the security staff must ask a suspect for his or her identity card, begin the initial evaluation process of a patient, or deal with an annoyed relative. Such situations are characterized by the fact that there is a clear policy the trainee must follow in order to fulfill the exercise. Conversely, the VCC will have a small set of expected behaviors. Therefore, we need to build a believable VCC that is able to communicate in a clearly constrained scene.

Our tool lets the user give a formal description of the training exercise. The output of the tool is a directed graph in Graphviz format, following the description of Emden and North [13], that represents the current and possible states of the exercise and defines transitions from one state to another, in terms of the labels associated with each arc. The main components of our behavior simulator are as follows:

- 1. A situation graph, defining the exercise.
- 2. A set of sentences associated with each node of the graph. Whenever the situation enters a state, the system will randomly pick one of the sentences associated with that node. The higher the number of sentences, the lower the probability of repeating a sentence, while increasing the perception of talking to a real human.
- 3. One or various sets of sentences that the VCC must recognize when the graph is in a valid state.

Each node in the graph will be connected to one or more other nodes. The arcs representing these connections will be labeled with names like *Ask_For_ID*, which require an action from the human user. Each label will be associated with a set of sentences that the human user can say in order to trigger that transition. We keep this kind of information stored in files sharing the *.lang* extension. The other elements of the system are as follows:

- 1. An emotional engine that drives the emotional state and behavior of the VCC, as described in García et al [6].
- 2. A body language interpreter that is developed using the Microsoft Kinect sensor, which analyzes the body gesture of the human interacting with the simulator, in order to give advice about good or bad practices while interacting with real humans.

Situation Graphs

Any one of our situation graphs will contain, at least, the following states:

- 1. Init: in this state, the system performs some basic tasks, such as graph file parsing, audio and graphical setup, and some initial calculations that increase performance, which will be explained in the Histogram Matching section.
- 2. Success: this state will be reached when the human performing the training exercise completes it in a satisfactory manner.
- 3. Failure: the opposite of the Success state.

In order to clearly state the role of the situation graph, we will describe an unreal, simple training situation with its associated states and sets of sentences. Describing a medical interview in terms of one of our situation graphs generates a huge image, too big for the illustrative purposes of this section.

We have a situation where the behavior simulator, once initialized, will present the user with a VCC. The goal is to obtain their identification card, to avoid the start of a fight, or to prevent the individual from running away from the scene. The situation graph is shown in Figure 1.

Associated with each state in the graph are a stored set of sentences that the VCC will keep saying until the answer received from the user triggers a transition to another state. The system stores these sets in files named after the state they are associated with; all of them share the *.talk* extension in their file names. Based on the contents of the *.talk* files, the behavior simulator will keep the VCC saying a sentence picked at random from those associated with the current active node of the situation graph. The behavior simulator will also try to map what the human user says into the labels that can trigger a transition from the current state to any other.

At the moment of writing this paper, we have designed four different training situations, or exercises, each with their own learning goals:

- 1. A lost child in the waiting room: the goals are to discover where the child came from and what she is doing at the hospital.
- 2. An aggressive young man under the influence of drugs: the goal is to gain time while security personnel arrive.
- 3. An elderly woman with cognitive impairment: the goals are to make an initial assessment of the woman's condition and to reassure her.
- 4. A nervous young lady asking for information about one of her relatives: the goal is to convince her to leave the area and retire to the waiting room.

Figure 2 shows the system a moment after starting one of these training exercises. The system can be run in silent mode, showing sentences said by the VCC only on the screen in text, and the microphone can be disconnected to allow input of sentences using the keyboard.



Figure 1. Simple situation graph. Init: the state in which the system performs some basic tasks. Success: this state will be reached when the human performing the training exercise completes it in a satisfactory manner. Failure: the opposite of the Success state. *Regular_Chat*: as soon as the exercise starts, the scene enters this state, with the virtual conversational character (VCC) engaging in small talk. *Asked_ID*: the situation enters this state if the user says one of the sentences associated with the *Ask_For_Identification* label; when in this state, the VCC will probabilistically decide to collaborate or not, showing ID, or returning to *Regular_Chat*. The former means reaching the Success state. The latter means that the VCC refused to obey and show their ID card. In practice, this implies remaining in the same state, *Regular_Chat*. *Buying_Time*: if the user does not ask for identification, the scene enters a dumb state, with the VCC trying to escape. If the user continues asking for ID, the situation reaches an impasse. To return to *Regular_Chat*, the security guard must warn the VCC about trying to escape. Any other kind of conversation triggers a Failure.



Figure 2. A user facing the system a moment after starting a training exercise.



String Metrics

Overview

XSL•FO

In order to trigger transitions from one state of the graph to another, we need some kind of metric to evaluate the distance

```
http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15349/
```

between the string returned by the speech recognition library and all the strings that are acceptable for the current state. There is a large number of metrics that can be used to measure the difference between pairs of strings. In this section, we compare two different well-known metrics—that proposed by Levenshtein [14] and the Gestalt pattern-matching algorithm

proposed by Ratcliff and Metzener [15]—when used for our purposes and justify the use of our own metric, which we will call histogram matching.

String distance functions or string similarity metrics are defined between two strings, for example, s and t. Distance functions map a pair of strings s and t to a real number r, where a smaller value of r indicates greater similarity between s and t. Similarity functions are analogous to distance functions, except that larger values indicate greater similarity.

Levenshtein Distance

One important class of distance functions are edit distances, in which distance is the cost of the best sequence of edit operations that converts s to t. Typical edit operations are character insertion, deletion, and substitution, and each operation much be assigned a cost. Levenshtein distance is defined in Levenshtein [14]. However, even in its normalized version proposed by Yujian and Bo [16], it is not useful for us, as it gives high values to pairs of strings that are a word-by-word permutation of the original, for example, "Don't resist, please" and "Please, don't resist." See Table 1 for results.

String	String, Levenshtein distance			
	s1 ^a	s2 ^b	s3 ^c	
s1	0	14	14	
s2	14	0	16	
s3	14	16	0	

Table 1. Levenshtein distances for the strings s1, s2, and s3.

^as1: "Please show me your ID."

^bs2: "Show me your ID please."

^cs3: "Your ID. Show it to me."

Gestalt Pattern Matching

Ratcliff and Metzener's pattern-matching algorithm [15] has been described as a wild-card search process without wild cards. The algorithm builds its own wild cards, based on the matches found between two strings, s and t. First, the algorithm examines s and t and locates the largest common subsequence between them. It then uses this group of characters as an anchor between s and t. Any group of characters found to the left or the right of this anchor is placed on a stack for further examination. The procedure is repeated for all substrings on the stack until it is empty.

The returned value is twice the number of characters found in common, divided by the total number of characters in the two strings; the score is returned as an integer, reflecting a percentage match. We are currently using the SequenceMatcher version of Ratcliff's algorithm, included in the difflib package from Python, version 3.7 (Python Software Foundation), that returns a real number instead.

Histogram Matching

We will now describe the numerical procedure that lets us assign a label to any string returned from speech recognition libraries, such as Microsoft Speech Application Programming Interface (API). When the exercise starts, we take each *.lang* file, and for each sentence we perform the following procedure (see Figure 3, Equation 1):

- 1. Convert the sentence to lowercase letters, discarding any punctuation marks.
- 2. Calculate the number of letter "a"s, "b"s, etc, that the sentence contains. This array is what we call a letter histogram. Letter histograms for every single possible sentence that the human user can potentially say are calculated and stored before the exercise starts.
- 3. Let h(c)s be the number of occurrences of character c inside string s.
- Let T(s) be the sum of h(c)_s for each possible value of c inside string s.

When the exercise starts, we need to know the distance between the words said by the human user as well as all the sentences stored inside the *.lang* files. We define the histogram-matching function between strings s and t as expressed in Equation 2 (see Figure 3). In the histogram-matching formula (see Figure 3, Equation 2), s represents the sentence said by the human user, and t is each one of the sentences included in the *.lang* files that is associated with outgoing arcs from the current active node in the situation graph. The maximum of these values determines the label we assign to the sentence that was said and, eventually, a transition to another node inside the graph.

In Equation 3 (see Figure 3), set (t) is a function returning the set that t belongs to, and set(t) is an outgoing arc.



Figure 3. Equations for our histogram-matching metric.

Equation 1:

Equation 2:
$$HM(s,t) = 100.0 * \left(1 - \frac{\sum_{c='a'}^{c='z'} \|h(c)_s - h(c)_t\|}{T(s) + T(t)} \right)$$

 $T(s) = \sum_{i=1}^{c='z'} h(c)_s$

Equation 3:

 $Label(s) = set(max \{HM(s, t)\forall t\})$

Results

Data Evaluation

In this section we describe the results obtained when applying the three string metrics described in the Methods section to a set of sentences, and the process that we follow to validate a graph.

Levenshtein Distance

Table 1 shows the value of Levenshtein distance for three different strings—s1, s2, and s3—with s2 being a word-by-word permutation of s1, and being very similar to s3, at least semantically. The strings s1, s2, and s3 stand for "Please show me your ID," "Show me your ID please," and "Your ID. Show it to me," respectively.

As we do not process commas, nor any other punctuation marks, s1 and s2 should be equivalent sentences for our system, and the distance between s3 and the others should be minimal. We are showing not-normalized values here, but it can be seen that the distance between s1 and s2 is not equal to zero, forcing us to include all the valid permutations of a sentence in the respective *.lang* file if we want the VCC to understand all of them. This renders the Levenshtein distance metric inappropriate for our labeling needs.

Gestalt Pattern Matching

Table 2 shows the values of the Gestalt pattern-matching algorithm by Ratcliff and Metzener [15] when applied to s1, s2, and s3. It returns a 100% similarity value over the main diagonal, as expected, but the reported value is not symmetric for s2 and s3. Additionally, it gives a similarity value of 68% between s1 and s2, too low for a pair of sentences that must be considered equivalent for our system.

 Table 2. Python SequenceMatcher similarities for the strings s1, s2, and s3, based on the Gestalt pattern-matching algorithm.

String	String, SequenceMatcher similarity			
	s1 ^a	s2 ^b	s3 ^c	
s1	100.0	68.18	32.55	
s2	68.18	100.0	41.86	
s3	32.55	46.51	100.0	

^as1: "Please show me your ID."

^bs2: "Show me your ID please."

^cs3: "Your ID. Show it to me."

Histogram Matching

Table 3 shows histogram-matching values between the strings s1, s2, and s3. The main diagonal values are 100%, as expected, but we also see total similarity between s1 and s2. Reported similarity between s1 and s3, and between s2 and s3, is higher than 70%, which is far from being an almost complete match, but significantly higher than the value reported by the Gestalt pattern algorithm (32%).

Figures 4 and 5 show the letter histograms associated with every sentence included inside the *Stop_Playing.lang* and *Ask_For_Identification.lang* files.

http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15349/

RenderX

The example has been intentionally kept simple but practical, in order to explain how histogram matching works. Similarities between the different sentences associated with the same label (ie, inside the same set) present no practical problem. Problems arise when, for two different labels associated with arcs that come out of the same graph node, any of the sentences included in the corresponding files can be misunderstood as any of those defined for a different transition. In other words, the distance between each of the sentences included in any *.lang* file and those included in a *.lang* file whose initial graph node is the same, should be as large as possible, in order to have the least confusing exercise definition. Additionally, as a reinforcement factor, we also count the number of blank spaces included in

the sentence, to avoid strange coincidences that would confuse the system.

In the exercise we are using as an example, there is only one situation to analyze—there are three different arcs coming out from the *Buying_Time* state, and we need the triggering sentences for these arcs to be as different as possible: (1) *Stop_Playing*, (2) *Ask_For_Identification*, and (2) *Anything_Else*.

Of these three transitions (ie, labels), only the first two are interesting, as *Anything_Else* is a special case that we will assign

if it is not possible to assign any of the others, up to a defined tolerance. We mark this kind of label, leaving the corresponding *.lang* file almost empty, containing only a # symbol. Therefore, it is clear that the exercise would be ill defined if any sentence inside *Stop_Playing.lang* is too similar to any of the sentences included in *Ask_For_Identification.lang*. Our exercise validation tool analyzes this kind of situation and highlights potentially conflicting labels, sentences, and states. The example is analyzed in the Graph Validation section

Table 3. Histogram-matching similarities for the strings s1, s2, and s3.

String	String, histogram-matching similarity			
	s1 ^a	s2 ^b	s3 ^c	
s1	100.0	100.0	70.5	
s2	100.0	100.0	70.5	
s3	70.5	70.5	100.0	

^as1: "Please show me your ID."

^bs2: "Show me your ID please."

^cs3: "Your ID. Show it to me."

Figure 4. Letter histogram for the Stop_Playing.lang file.




Figure 5. Letter histogram for the Ask_For_Identification.lang file.



Graph Validation

For the purpose of explaining how graph validation works, we intentionally added the following sentence to the *Ask_For_Identification* set file: "Don't resist, please."

Besides the lack of utility of such a sentence inside the file that stores different ways of asking a person for his or her hospital identity card, this sentence causes problems: when it is said by the human user, it would lead to ambiguity. In Figures 6 and 7, letter histograms for "Don't resist, please" and "Please, don't resist" are highlighted in red; this is not because of the absolute similarity between them, but because of their similarity to this extra sentence included in another *.lang* file, which would render the system unable to decide which transition is the correct one to be triggered.

The system informs us that sentences highlighted in red can confuse the situation manager when pronounced by the trainee. In this case, the solution is straightforward, as we have artificially generated the problem. The problem is solved simply by removing the extra sentence from the *Ask_For_Identification.lang* file. However, in more complex situations, the person in charge of the exercise design should look for alternatives.

After determining all the conflicting labels, our graph validation tool also marks in red each graph node with ill-defined outgoing arcs, helping in the identification and fixing of such problems. The output is a file in the Graphviz format: see Figure 8, where the graph for the working exercise is colored to highlight problematic nodes. An arc whose arrow is highlighted in red means that triggering transitions from the source state is not possible. Nonproblematic arcs are highlighted in green. The goal is to rewrite the sentences associated with each arc or to modify the graph definition of the exercise until no ambiguity is detected by the tool.

The use of the string metric defined in this paper is not mandatory. In fact, the user can choose one of the following string metrics and select the one that guarantees a better exercise definition to be used by the behavior simulator: (1) Levenshtein distance, as defined by Levenshtein [14], (2) Gestalt pattern matching [15], (3) histogram matching, as proposed in this paper, (4) Damerau-Levenshtein distance [17], or (5) Jaro-Winkler distance [18].

The explanation of each of these string metrics is outside the scope of this paper. In practice, we use the graph validation tool to choose a string metric that guarantees the absence of ambiguities when the simulator is running. If none of them can guarantee such a condition, the *.lang* files must be modified. The main window of the graph validation tool is pictured in Figure 9.



Figure 6. Processed histogram for the Stop_Playing.lang file.



Figure 7. Processed histogram for the Ask_For_Identification.lang file.





Figure 8. Validated graph. Init: the state in which the system performs some basic tasks. Success: this state will be reached when the human performing the training exercise completes it in a satisfactory manner. Failure: the opposite of the Success state. *Regular_Chat*: as soon as the exercise starts, the scene enters this state, with the virtual conversational character (VCC) engaging in small talk. Asked_ID: the situation enters this state if the user says one of the sentences associated with the *Ask_For_Identification* label; when in this state, the VCC will probabilistically decide to collaborate or not, showing ID, or returning to *Regular_Chat*. The former means reaching the Success state. The latter means that the VCC refused to obey and show their ID card. In practice, this implies remaining in the same state, *Regular_Chat*. Buying_Time: if the user does not ask for identification, the scene enters a dumb state, with the VCC trying to escape. If the user continues asking for ID, the situation reaches an impasse. To return to *Regular_Chat*, the security guard must warn the VCC about trying to escape. Any other kind of conversation triggers a Failure.



Figure 9. The main window of the graph validation tool. From this window, the user can (1) choose a Graphviz (.dot file) example to be analyzed, (2) obtain a graphic representation of the training exercise that it encodes, (3) select one of the available string metrics, (4) view letter histograms for each label, and (5) generate a .pdf file summarizing all the problems encountered during the analysis of the graph.



Discussion

XSL•FO

We have developed a system for the fast design and testing of conflict avoidance situations, involving interactions between

```
http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15349/
```

humans and VCCs. VCC-enhanced simulators present many advantages for multimodal communication, but also have the disadvantage of dealing with complex processes in order to provide effective verbal communication between VCCs and the

human user. Speech recognition software is available and working, but we needed a way to assign labels to the outputs produced by these APIs. As the number of possible sentences to be recognized is potentially huge, even for a simple training exercise, we decided to use string metrics as a way of labeling. We have developed a tool that, after designing a training exercise, analyzes the sets of sentences associated with each transition inside the situation graph, highlighting potential signs of ill-defined exercises. The tool is also used to check the existence of all the files needed for the system to work properly before the exercise starts and to dynamically change some settings, such as the minimal matching confidence level required for a positive match, once the simulation has begun. This is useful for cases when the speech recognition library is not working properly, due to suboptimal acoustic conditions of the environment or incorrect vocalization by the human user.

After trying several existing string metrics, we decided to design one of our own: histogram matching. Histogram matching does this work for us at a reasonable speed, as half of the needed calculations are performed as soon as the training exercise is defined and before the whole system is running. The method is working correctly for the exercises we have defined to date. As a result, we can anticipate and solve design problems in the training exercise definition process and improve collaborative work between instructors and our development team.

For the future, we are planning the development of a module that automatically assigns violence levels to the sentences included inside *.lang* files, as a function of the kind of vocabulary employed. There is another feature that has not yet been implemented, which would be very useful in the exercise definition process. That is, being able to check the exercise without the whole graphics system working, running only the speech recognition and language synthesis modules, and allowing the interactive visualization of the active node of the situation graph, histogram-matching level, emotional state of the VCC, etc.

Our software was initially designed to help in the training of staff working for emergency services within a hospital. We think that it could also prove useful in speech therapy as a way of visually representing the differences between any goal sentence and what a human user actually says. We have identified some works using serious games in this field, such as Grossinho et al [19] and Cagatay et al [20]. In this sense, no structural modifications should be needed on our software, just a different philosophy in the design of the training exercises. That is to say, we have a VCC that the human must interact with. The goal would be to speak as correctly as possible in order to, for example, make the VCC do some work for us.

We also think that VCCs, in general, and our system, in particular, can be useful in helping patients make informed decisions when asked about the treatment plan they prefer, as discussed in Sherwin et al [21].

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Poggi I, Pelachaud C, de Rosis F, Carofiglio V, De Carolis B. Greta. A believable embodied conversational agent. In: Stock O, Zancanaro M, editors. Multimodal Intelligent Information Presentation. Text, Speech and Language Technology. Volume 27. Dordrecht, the Netherlands: Springer; 2005:3-25.
- 2. Ekman P, Friesen V. Facial Action Coding System. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press; 1978.
- 3. Martínez A, Shichuan D. A model of the perception of facial expressions of emotion by humans: Research overview and perspectives. J Mach Learn Res 2012;1:1589-1608. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-57021-1_6]
- 4. Ochs M, Niewiadomski R, Pelachaud C. Facial expressions of emotions for virtual characters. In: Calvo R, D'Mello S, Gratch J, Kappas A, editors. The Oxford Handbook of Affective Computing. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2015:261-272.
- 5. Hartholt A, Traum D, Marsella S, Shapiro A, Stratou G, Leuski A, et al. All together now: Introducing the virtual human toolkit. In: Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents, IVA 2013. 2013 Presented at: 13th International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents, IVA 2013; August 29-31, 2013; Edinburgh, UK URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Jonathan_Gratch/publication/</u>285590059 All Together Now_Introducing the Virtual Human_Toolkit/links/58191c8408ae1f34d24aba23/ All-Together-Now-Introducing-the-Virtual-Human-Toolkit.pdf [doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-40415-3_33]
- Carbajal SG, Polimeni F, Múgica JL. An emotional engine for behavior simulators. Int J Serious Games 2015 Jun 17;2(2):57-67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.17083/ijsg.v2i2.76]
- 7. Eikelboom P, Bloemers E, Winzum KV, Spronk P. Towards a game-chatbot: Extending the interaction in serious games. In: Proceedings of the 6th European Conference on Games-Based Learning. 2012 Presented at: 6th European Conference on Games-Based Learning; October 4-5, 2012; Cork, Ireland URL: <u>http://eprints.teachingandlearning.ie/2469/1/</u> <u>Proceedings%20of%206th%20European%20Conference%20on%20Games%20Based%20Learning%202012.pdf</u>
- Johansson A, Dell Acqua P. Emotional behavior trees. In: Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computational Intelligence and Games. 2012 Presented at: IEEE Conference on Computational Intelligence and Games; September 11-14, 2012; Granada, Spain. [doi: 10.1109/cig.2012.6374177]

- Isla D. Handling complexity in the Halo 2 AI. In: Proceedings of the Game Developers Conference. 2005 Mar 07 Presented at: Game Developers Conference; March 7-11, 2005; San Francisco, CA URL: <u>https://www.gamasutra.com/view/feature/ 130663/gdc_2005_proceeding_handling_.php</u>
- Imbert R, de Antonio A. An emotional architecture for virtual characters. In: Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Virtual Storytelling. Berlin, Germany: Springer Verlag; 2005 Presented at: 3rd International Conference on Virtual Storytelling; November 30-December 2, 2005; Strasbourg, France p. 63-72. [doi: 10.1007/11590361_7]
- 11. Morie E, Chance K, Haynes K, Rajpurohit D. Embodied conversational agent avatars in virtual worlds: Making today's immersive environments more responsive to participants. In: Hingston P, editor. Believable Bots: Can Computers Play Like People?. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag; 2012:99-118.
- Herrera A, Herrera L, Velandia Y. HVUAN: A rapid-development framework for Spanish-speaking virtual humans. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Practical Applications of Agents and Multi-Agent Systems. 2018 Presented at: International Conference on Practical Applications of Agents and Multi-Agent Systems; June 20–22, 2018; Toledo, Spain p. 318-321. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-94580-4_29]
- 13. Gansner ER, North SC. An open graph visualization system and its applications to software engineering. Softw Pract Exp 2000 Sep;30(11):1203-1233. [doi: 10.1002/1097-024x(20009)30:11<1203::aid-spe338>3.0.co;2-n]
- 14. Levenshtein V. Binary codes capable of correcting deletions, insertions and reversals. Soviet Physics Doklady 1966;10(8):707-710.
- 15. Metzener D, Ratcliff J. Pattern matching: The gestalt approach. Dr. Dobb's Journal of Software Tools 1988 Jan;13(7):46-47, 59-51, 68-72.
- 16. Yujian L, Bo L. A normalized Levenshtein distance metric. IEEE Trans Pattern Anal Mach Intell 2007 Jun;29(6):1091-1095. [doi: 10.1109/tpami.2007.1078]
- 17. Damerau FJ. A technique for computer detection and correction of spelling errors. Commun ACM 1964;7(3):171-176. [doi: 10.1145/363958.363994]
- 18. Winkler WE. Proceedings of the Survey Research Methods Section. Washington, DC: American Statistical Association; 1990. String comparator metrics and enhanced decision rules in the Fellegi-Sunter model of record linkage URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/William_Winkler/publication/</u> 243772975_String_Comparator_Metrics and Enhanced Decision_Rules in the Fellegi-Sunter_Model of Record Linkage/ <u>links/5522cd090cf2f9c1305447d9/</u> <u>String-Comparator-Metrics-and-Enhanced-Decision-Rules-in-the-Fellegi-Sunter-Model-of-Record-Linkage.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-01-17]
- Guimares I, Grossinho A, Magalhes S, Cavaco S. Robust phoneme recognition for a speech therapy environment. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Serious Games and Applications for Health. 2016 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Serious Games and Applications for Health; May 11-13, 2016; Orlando, FL. [doi: 10.1109/segah.2016.7586268]
- Ege P, Cagatay M, Tokdemir G, Cagiltay N. A serious game for speech disorder children therapy. In: Proceedings of the 7th International Symposium on Health Informatics and Bioinformatics, HIBIT. 2012 Presented at: 7th International Symposium on Health Informatics and Bioinformatics, HIBIT; April 19-22, 2012; Kapadokya, Nevşehir, Turkey p. 18-23. [doi: 10.1109/hibit.2012.6209036]
- 21. Sherwin H, McKeown M, Evans M, Bhattacharyya O. The waiting room "wait": From annoyance to opportunity. Can Fam Physician 2013 May;59(5):479-481 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23673581]

Abbreviations

API: application programming interface **VCC:** virtual conversational character

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 03.07.19; peer-reviewed by P Stourac, A de Gloria, S Sarbadhikari; comments to author 03.10.19; revised version received 13.10.19; accepted 16.12.19; published 27.02.20.

Please cite as:

García-Carbajal S, Pipa-Muniz M, Múgica JL Using String Metrics to Improve the Design of Virtual Conversational Characters: Behavior Simulator Development Study JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e15349 URL: http://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15349/ doi:10.2196/15349 PMID:32130121

RenderX

©Santiago García García-Carbajal, María Pipa-Muniz, Jose Luis Múgica. Originally published in JMIR Serious Games (http://games.jmir.org), 27.02.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Serious Games, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://games.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Learner Analysis to Inform the Design and Development of a Serious Game for Nongaming Female Emerging Health Care Preprofessionals: Qualitative Sample Study

Kevin Glover^{1*}, MEd, MSc; Alec Bodzin^{1*}, PhD

Lehigh University College of Education, Bethlehem, PA, United States ^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Kevin Glover, MEd, MSc Lehigh University College of Education Iacocca Hall 111 Research Drive Bethlehem, PA, 18015 United States Phone: 1 2158202695 Email: krg205@lehigh.edu

Abstract

Background: Overall, 75% of health care practitioners are women, but half of all females do not play digital games of any kind. There is no consensus in the literature regarding optimal design elements to maximize the efficacy of serious games. To capitalize on the promise of serious games in health care education, it is important for instructional designers to understand the underlying learners' values, attitudes, and beliefs that might motivate nongaming female health care preprofessional students to independently choose to persistently play serious games to mastery.

Objective: Specifically, the aim of this study was to seek answers to 2 questions. First, what values, attitudes, and beliefs contribute to the nongaming behaviors of 12th-grade female emerging health care preprofessionals? Second, how do the values, attitudes, and beliefs of 12th-grade female emerging health care preprofessionals align with important design features of serious games?

Methods: In this study, a learner analysis was conducted using semistructured interviews with 8 12th-grade college-bound female health science students to better understand learners' values, attitudes, and beliefs to inform the design and development of a serious game. These interviewees represented a diverse subset of the female emerging health care preprofessionals who self-identified themselves as not playing games at all, not very often, or infrequently.

Results: The findings suggest that the study participants exhibited a complex fusion of desire for both accomplishment and affiliation. The participants were all independent, competitive, and prosocial leaders. They thought strategically and consciously self-limited their leisure time to achieve personally meaningful long-term goals. They embraced overcoming expected failures and aimed to achieve relevant high-stakes wins in all academic, athletic, extracurricular, and leisure activities they valued while consciously avoiding what they considered to be non–goal-oriented activities.

Conclusions: The results of this study reinforce the need for a robust learner analysis to identify the multifaceted behavioral characteristics of targeted learners before the design and development of serious games. The common characteristics of the 12th-grade female health science students in this study suggest that they will choose to invest their limited leisure time playing a personally meaningful, preprofessionally authentic serious game if the collective design elements are aligned with the students' self-conceptualization of their present or future selves.

(JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e16003) doi:10.2196/16003

KEYWORDS

games; health care; education; females; motivation; instructional design

RenderX

Introduction

On the basis of the existing gender-based gaming research, half of all females do not play digital games of any kind [1-7]. This generalized finding is consistent with the digital game play consumption of female health science students. Kron et al reported that female medical students (N=115) played video games rarely (66%) or infrequently (22%), although 97% considered themselves to be basic to intermediate computer users [8]. More recently, the authors described similar results for a population of 17- and 18-year-old 12th-grade health science students (N=44) in which 56.7% of females (n=37) and 14.8% of males (n=7) reported that they did not play games at all or did not play very often. Notably, these female and male students reported that they used computers 86% and 57.1%, respectively, every day [9]. These findings are inconsistent with those of other researchers who suggest that young females who do not play digital games are somehow technologically disadvantaged [3,10]. All the young women (n=37) and men (n=7) in the authors' study were college-bound science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) oriented students [9]. The number of females (84.1%), compared with males (15.9%), in this 12th-grade elective health science class was also consistent with the growing number of women in the health professions [9]. Overall, 75% of health care practitioners are women (N=9,420,000) [11]. Over 40% of physicians and surgeons now in the United States are females. Health care occupations, including pharmacists (63.4%), nurse practitioners (87.2%), physician assistants (72%), occupational therapists (86.8%), and physical therapists (69.5%), are primarily populated by women [11].

A robust targeted learner analysis should precede the design and development of any serious simulation-based or game-based educational intervention, but such analysis rarely occurs or is rarely reported [5,12-17]. The learner analysis described in this study was conducted to better understand the values, attitudes, and beliefs of 12th-grade female college-bound health science students before developing a serious simulation-based game for this population of students.

Background

The use of simulation in clinical education has been associated with positive results in the acquisition of knowledge, confidence, skills, attitudes, and behaviors for nearly 6 decades in modern health care contexts [18]. Simulation-based education provides opportunities for standardized, deliberate practice, with feedback for the correction of errors until reconstruction and encoding of new understandings are achieved. The use of simulation in clinical education approximates a dose-response relationship in which more practice results in increased knowledge, improved confidence, and improved skills [19]. Although the published dose-response results of learning outcomes in non-intervention-simulated settings are abundant and statistically impressive [20], research regarding the transfer and impact of new knowledge and skills gained in simulated settings to real-world clinical practice has been limited [21,22]. In reviews of simulation-based health care education research, only 14 papers, published between 2006 and 2013, reported the

transfer of learning from a simulation laboratory, resulting in improved clinical care or better patient outcomes [23,24]. It has been suggested that integrating game elements into traditional simulation-based health science learning might improve students' knowledge, skills, and performance transfer by triggering intrinsic motivation to choose self-persistence in learning [25]. However, in a systematic review of 42 serious games used to train health care professionals, only 1 reported the transfer of learning from the educational setting resulting in improved patient care [26]. The authors' concluded that although serious gaming in medical education continues to establish itself, more work needs to be done to define best practices for its design, development, and evaluation. More recently, Kuipers et al [27] conducted an extensive systematic review of games and simulations for health care education and found none that included a cognizant design process focused on real-world transfer. A total of 12 of the 15 studies reviewed described subconscious design features that resulted in literal transfer and 3 studies that suggested figural transfer. The authors describe literal transfer as lateral real-world application and figural transfer as the application of new knowledge and skills across different problems or situations. The authors conclude that real-world transfer is mainly mentioned as a desired outcome in research related to games and simulations for health care education, not as a guide in the design process. They suggest that a conscious design rationale is needed to optimize the real-world transfer conditions.

At present, there is no consensus in the literature regarding optimal design elements to maximize the efficacy of serious games for health care education [28]. A serious game is generally described as an interactive digital game that is designed for an educational purpose that presents a challenge that a player needs to overcome to achieve an educational win state. In addition, player feedback is provided during game play (eg, points and penalties) to enable players to monitor their progress toward a win state [29]. Some authors include entertainment as a required design element of serious games, but others do not [28,30]. Other design elements such as narrative (story), competition or collaboration, chance (random events), and levels are often debated as either required or discretionary characteristics of serious games [12,29-32].

If the aim of instruction is to ultimately transfer new knowledge, skills, attitudes, and behaviors from health care academic settings to real-world application, simulation-based or game-based learning for the health professions must have a learner-centric design to facilitate intrinsic motivation so that students self-persist to achieve mastery [5,12,13,15-17]. To capitalize on the promise of serious simulation games in health care education, it is particularly important for instructional designers to understand the underlying values, attitudes, and beliefs that might motivate a predominantly female population of students to independently choose to persistently play to mastery.

Existing gender-based game research related to commercial hardcore and casual games can help serious game designers understand why the design elements of these popular games may alienate many female health science students. Hardcore video games are targeted for and predominantly consumed by

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

males. Typical hardcore games such as Grand Theft Auto feature aggressive, competitive, and violent male protagonists who seek to achieve nonforgiving, high-stakes win states, often surrounded by hypersexualized secondary female characters who are either victims or damsels in distress [1,6,15,16,33-36]. In contrast to hardcore video games, casual video games such as Diner Dash and FarmVille are designed for and consumed predominantly by females. Typical casual games feature achieving forgiving low-stakes objectives in collaborative social settings and involve a manageable investment of small chunks of time in games that are easy to learn [1,35,37]. The stereotypical male/female binary design of such games should be avoided in the development of serious games for any prospective player whose motivation to play games may be much more nuanced [16,37]. Progressive and innovative serious game design should consider nonbiological masculine and feminine characteristics across race, ethnicity, socioeconomic position, nationality, and age. Designers should consider the target audiences' physiological reaction to visual, emotional, and tactile stimuli, and the situational cognitive-social context in which students will be exposed to the game should be understood before its development [5,12,15-17]. Finally, serious game designers need to understand the important affective parasocial connections that prospective players have with media characters in television (TV), movies, music, and books to promote engagement [5,38]. It has been suggested that the design of game characters' attributes that align with existing important affective parasocial media connections may result in greater player engagement through identification, representation, and a deeper sense of relatedness [5,38].

Study Purpose

In this study, semistructured individual interviews were conducted with 12th-grade female health science students who self-identified themselves as not playing games at all, not very often, or infrequently in a prior study by the authors [9]. It was expected that linking the existing gender-based gaming research with the results of these interviews might add a more richly detailed understanding that would inform the design and development of a serious simulation-based game that nongaming female emerging health care preprofessionals would be motivated to play. Specifically, the aim of this study was to seek answer to the 2 following questions:

- What values, attitudes, and beliefs contribute to the nongaming behaviors of 12th-grade female emerging health care preprofessionals?
- How do the values, attitudes, and beliefs of 12th-grade female emerging health care preprofessionals align to important design features of serious games?

Methods

A qualitative sample study design was employed using values and descriptive coding methodology. Values coding is appropriate for studies that seek to explore the values, beliefs, identity, and interpersonal and intrapersonal experiences of purposefully selected participants [39,40]. Semistructured interviews (Multimedia Appendix 1) were conducted with 8 12th-grade female health science students; 2, 5, and 1 of whom reported playing games as *not at all, not very often*, or *1 to 2 times per week*, respectively.

Sample and Participants

A purposeful sampling approach was used to identify 33 12th-grade female health science students who reported playing games as not at all, not very often, or 1 to 2 times per week. A total of 12 young women, representing 6 racially and economically diverse northeastern US high schools, were asked to participate. Overall, 8 students volunteered to take part in the study (Table 1). These interviewees represented a diverse subset of 37 college-bound female STEM students who were dually enrolled in high school and a competitive emerging health professional (EHP) career and technical education (CTE) program. Each of these students had completed the prerequisite coursework for biology, chemistry, and trigonometry and had grade point averages of 3.0 or better. These students spent 1.5 days per week in health science-related coursework at a CTE-affiliated local state university or community college and 1 day per week shadowing health professionals at various local hospital campuses [41]. Two of these students plan to be surgeons after completing their biology/premed undergraduate degrees. Three were enrolled in 5-year accelerated physician assistant programs. One student was enrolled at a university with a guaranteed medical school track; she wants to become a pediatrician. Another student aspiring to be a pediatrician plans to complete her undergraduate degree in health policy administration before enrolling in a medical school as she wants to open her own clinic someday and needs both business and medical knowledge to do so. Finally, 1 student was still undecided regarding the type of physician she wanted to be. "I think I'll figure that out," she said, "as I'm going through my undergraduate degree" as a biology/premed major.

Written consents from both parents and students were obtained for these interviews, and the study was approved by the institutional review board of Lehigh University. The study adhered to the Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research guidelines [42].



Table 1. Participant profile.

Student	Race	Weekly com- puter time	Weekly game time	High school demographics, n (%)				Declared undergraduate major
				White	Hispanic	Black	Asian	
Harper	White	Every day	Not very often	807 (57.81)	382 (27.36)	125 (8.95)	82 (5.70)	Biology/premed
Kim	Black	Every day	Not very often	807 (57.81)	382 (27.36)	125 (8.95)	82 (5.70)	Health policy administration
Carrie	White	Every day	Not very often	2095 (79.99)	235 (8.97)	104 (3.97)	157 (5.99)	5-year physician assistant
April	White	Every day	Not very often	914 (88.91)	44 (4.28)	16 (1.56)	28 (2.72)	5-year physician assistant
Emma	White	Every day	Not very often	687 (91.97)	37 (4.95)	8 (1.07)	15 (2.01)	Biology/premed
Aria	White	Every day	Not at all	2095 (79.99)	235 (8.97)	104 (3.97)	157 (5.99)	Biology/premed
Olivia	Asian	Every day	Not at all	2308 (72.97)	379 (11.98)	94 (2.97)	316 (9.99)	Premed
Mia	White	Every day	1-2 times per week	313 (11.99)	1775 (67.98)	496 (19.00)	26(1)	5-year physician assistant

Data Source and Procedure

Semistructured interviews were conducted with 8 students between April 1 and April 29, 2019. Twelve predetermined self-conceptualization questions were used related to the students' interests; values; and engagement in academic, athletic, extracurricular, volunteer, and leisure activities (Multimedia Appendix 1). Follow-up questions were asked based on the student's responses to the predetermined questions related to associated game design elements such as competition, collaboration, feedback, and personal win state. The duration of interviews ranged between 18 min 35 seconds and 30 min 26 seconds (mean 22 min 37 seconds). The data from transcribed audio recordings of the interviews were systematically coded using the data analysis software, NVivo Plus 12.

Data Analysis

The data analysis process was rigorous, iterative, and occurred concurrently throughout the study, starting with interview transcriptions [39,43]. Specifically, data coding occurred in 2 cycles [40]. The first cycle analysis distilled the data into core topical units using deductive and inductive values and descriptive coding as they emerged during the interviews and transcriptions [40]. New data were compared with previously coded data, with codes added, modified, and/or eliminated as data were analyzed. A blend of 45 deductive and inductive value

and descriptive codes were used for the first cycle coding. A total of 14 deductive value codes were used based upon the expectancy-value motivational theory [44], the theory of expertise and expert performance [45], and the self -determination theory [46]; 21 deductive descriptive codes were based upon those used by other simulation-based learning and serious games researchers [19,25,31,32,47-53]; and 10 additional inductive descriptive codes emerged during the transcription. The codes were eliminated, modified, or recoded to fundamentally similar codes during the first cycle analysis, which resulted in 17 final codes (Table 2). The first cycle coding definitions and illustrative quotations from interviewees can be found in Multimedia Appendix 2.

The second cycle of analysis used axial coding, which synthesized the data from the first cycle coding into 4 broader, more encompassing categories. These categories were further synthesized into 2 dominant themes [40]. The student interviews, coding, and analysis were conducted by the first author. Coding in most small qualitative studies is typically a pragmatic *solitary act* [40] by a single researcher. The first author has been teaching health professionals for 38 years and is a doctoral candidate with training and interview experience in a research-intensive teaching, learning, and technology PhD program. The second author audited the coding and analysis to ensure methodological coherence.



Table 2. Deductive and inductive codes.

First cycle codes	Interviewees, n	Responses, n	Second cycle codes	Themes	
Games	8	52	Return on invested time	Accomplishment	
Work ethic	8	34	Return on invested time	Accomplishment	
Time constraints	6	11	Return on invested time	Accomplishment	
Cost value	7	34	Return on invested time	Accomplishment	
Games	8	52	Achievement orientation	Accomplishment	
Feedback	8	23	Achievement orientation	Accomplishment	
Concrete actionable challenges	4	11	Achievement orientation	Accomplishment	
Purposeful practice	6	7	Achievement orientation	Accomplishment	
Competition	8	23	Achievement orientation	Accomplishment	
Mastery success measures	4	10	Achievement orientation	Accomplishment	
Physical fidelity	5	15	Achievement orientation	Accomplishment	
Games	8	52	Social orientation	Affiliation	
Family/community	8	27	Social orientation	Affiliation	
Beneficence	7	22	Social orientation	Affiliation	
Leadership	5	10	Social orientation	Affiliation	
Games	8	52	Relevance	Affiliation	
Introspection	8	34	Relevance	Affiliation	
Smartest girl in the room	5	9	Relevance	Affiliation	
Personally meaningful stories	8	40	Relevance	Affiliation	
Confidence	4	6	Relevance	Affiliation	

Results

The findings suggest that the study participants exhibit a complex fusion of desire for both *accomplishment* and *affiliation*. They consciously self-regulate their active engagement with the academic, athletic, extracurricular, volunteer, and leisure activities they value. These valued activities are compatible with present or long-term goals that are sequentially reinforced in socially relevant contexts. These findings are aligned with the self-determination theory [46], which is grounded in the assumption that students are intrinsically motivated to seek out challenges and productive activities that extend their existing capabilities. These students expressed internally regulated thinking and behaviors that prioritized their sociocognitive and affective resources based upon activities that foster autonomy, competency, and relatedness.

The findings also support those of other researchers who suggest that targeted female learners cannot be simplistically defined by serious game designers as biological females with stereotypical feminine attributes [5,15,37]. These students articulated a multifaceted mixture of commonly prescribed masculine and feminine characteristics. The masculine characteristics expressed indicated that all students were fiercely independent and competitive leaders. They embraced overcoming expected failures; thought strategically; and voiced tactical, self-regulated, time-investment behaviors to achieve personally meaningful, nonforgiving, high-stakes future win

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e16003
```

RenderX

states. These female students also expressed feminine gender attributes such as empathy and compassion. Prosocial thinking, attitudes, and behaviors were articulated throughout all interviews related to interactions with peers, teachers, coaches, families, and communities. In addition, the parasocial connections that these students have with personally meaningful fictional media personas, synthesized with their mixed gender characteristics, provided a compelling depiction regarding how these students self-conceptualize their present and future selves. Ryan and Deci [46] suggest that student identification, and the need to be socially connected to important others, leads to a more self-determined and autonomous form of motivation that is centrally important for learning activities to be internalized.

Collectively, the overarching themes of *accomplishment* and *affiliation* provide evidence regarding the values, attitudes, and beliefs that contributed to the nongaming behaviors of these female emerging health care preprofessionals. Conversely, these values, attitudes, and beliefs can also be used to inform the design of a serious health science game that these students will be intrinsically motivated to play. These findings support those of Jenson and de Castell [10], Kneer et al [15], and Shaw [5,17] who suggest that a blend of self-conceptualized identity characteristics might be a better predictor of a player's choice to exert focused effort in game immersion than biological sex.

Accomplishment

The theme of *accomplishment* was synthesized through the strongly associated subthemes of *achievement orientation* and

return on invested time. These students devote whatever time is necessary to personally relevant, difficult, practical, and highly competitive endeavors in pursuit of long-term goals while consciously avoiding what they consider to be non-goal-oriented activities, such as playing hardcore, casual, or online video games. Beyond the number 1 ranked priority of schoolwork first, which was expressed by all 8 students, 6 of these students play high school varsity or club sports, and 3 work between 3 and 5 days per week at part time jobs. Regardless of their perception of games as either an appealing or unappealing leisure activity, their active decision-making processes to make the most responsible return on invested time choices were readily transparent in all interviews. One unexpected finding was that the current commercial gaming activities reported by some of these young women on the demographic survey were not consistent with their gaming activities as younger children reported during the interviews. This reprioritization of playing games as a leisure activity between the ages of 18 and 24 years has been reported by others. In their study of 190 female undergraduates, Winn and Heeter [54] reported that the student's lack of available discretionary time was the primary reason for rarely or never playing games.

When she was younger, Harper played Call of Duty with her brother. She also used to play surgery games on her iPad all the time but does not play games very often now as she is so busy with the EHP program which "puts [me] ahead of other kids [my] age." April, Carrie, and Emma, who also reported playing games not very often, prefer card games now to video games. A triple jumper for her varsity track team, April, used to play Mario Kart with her sister when they were younger, but "then just kind of like didn't anymore. I don't know," she says, "It just kind of stopped." April likes to play a variety of card games such as Poker and Spit, "and it gets [way] too competitive," she said. The responses from Carrie and Emma were similar. Carrie reported that she used to play Wii when she was "little" but is no longer interested in video games. She too enjoys playing card games such as Hand and Foot, Spit, and Golf with family and friends during the very limited time she devotes to leisure activities. "I do try to relax or hang out with my mom or friends," Carrie said, "for at least 2 hours on a Friday or Saturday." When asked why she did not play immersive multiplayer games with her devoted gamer boyfriend, she air-mimicked fingering a controller and rolled her eyes while saying:

I wouldn't say there was...isn't a like a particular reason. I just feel...maybe that I would just...I don't want to spend all my time like...like watching a screen. I'd rather like get...I'd rather like go outside or something like that.

A varsity soccer player, Emma, also works as a part time waitress 5 days a week anticipating the need for spending money in college. She has liked some video games such as *Mario Kart* in the past, but now also prefers card games such as *Uno*, "because I'm super good at it." Emma reported not playing video games "like the boys play on like the Xbox." She said, "I do not like those...I don't even like watching them." Emma described the cost-value struggle of making harder future choices saying, "Hanging out with my friends," she said, "is

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e16003
```

obviously the thing I want to do most...but it's kind of hard...when people ask me to hang out and I have to say no because I have work or have to study for an exam." Olivia, who reported not playing any video games at all, admitted to doing so on occasion if she is really bored in class. "I just like open up Fire Boy and Water Girl," she said, "but that's like too rare to write down that I play games." Olivia actively participates in other high-stakes competitive gaming endeavors such as varsity volleyball, where she is currently ranked 17th in conference "kills," as well as the Science Olympiads. Aria confirmed that she "never plays games-not even on my phone" as "it would take up all my time" and "it's not good for me." A varsity soccer player, Aria, also works part-time as a waitress. She also described the cost-value struggle of making present choices to achieve long-term goals saying, "it's kind of hard sometimes...like the juggling...you know...when I feel like having fun but I have to do something else ... that's difficult for me...for sure." Kim, who reported playing games not very often, was an avid gamer when she was younger, citing games such as Wii Athlete, Just Dance, Mario Kart, and Nick Junior, which she played frequently. A varsity track record holder, Kim, said, "I just don't have time" to play games, emphasizing, "I don't even read anymore...like that says a lot." Describing her preferred leisure activity, Kim said:

I loved reading ever since I was little. I would [come home from] the library with like 10, 15, 20 books and I would be stuck in my room. It got to the point when my mom had to hide my books and tell me to come out because I would literally just read book after book after book and not get tired of it.

Given her current academic and athletic priorities, Kim limits her game play to periodic, brief 15-min rounds of *Temple Run* on her phone or playing *Just Dance* or something on the *Wii* "if there's a family thing happening or kids from my church come over...but that rarely happens." Finally, Mia, who reported playing games 1 to 2 times per week, used to play games such as *SimCity* a lot but plays less now because of her busy schedule. A varsity field hockey player, Mia, works a 4-hour shift as a waitress 5 days a week to pay for car insurance, gas, and repairs, in addition to money for college. Although Mia too chooses reading as her preferred leisure activity, she still does play *SimCity* or *BitLife* to relax periodically, but concurrently admits that it "wastes my time."

All 8 students in this study expressed a bias for excellence in all academic, athletic, extracurricular, and volunteer activities, where they chose to invest their time. They reported embracing concrete actionable challenges, expected needing to overcome failure to achieve their goals, and appreciated varying degrees of feedback while practicing to improve incremental performances. The type of feedback that was considered motivational, however, was situational and varied among the students interviewed. When discussing when she played a lot of surgery games on her iPad, Harper shared that she does not like to be fed all the information needed to solve a problem, saying:

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

I like to figure it out for myself. A helpful clue here or there is nice...if you're really stuck...[but]...you have to make mistakes to learn...actually learn.

Carrie echoed this characteristic of independently solving academic challenges herself and only goes to her teacher for helpful suggestions if stuck. April described herself as a visual learner who needed more specific feedback using an example of how watching videotapes helped improve her long jump performance. April's coach used the videotapes to show her what she was doing wrong. "This helped me," she said to see "what I look like" compared with "what it should look like" so "then I can fix it." Conversely, Olivia sometimes likes feedback that is a bit more intense. "I like when people yell at me," Olivia said. "I improved [in Volleyball] the most my sophomore year," with a more clamorous coach, she said. "We would stand on these boxes and then I'd be hitting and [my coach] would be velling...like harder...come on...harder...hit to this spot...and [if] I missed she'd be like...come on...why did you miss it?" Similarly, Kim expressed a need for more demanding feedback. "My coach," said Kim:

he always pushed me...and I could take that from him. He would push me...and I'd say, 'Coach, I can't', and he's like, 'listen, you're fine.'

This type of tough, unforgiving feedback was intimidating for Aria and Emma who stated a preference for a softer, more encouraging approach. "We always played better [soccer]," Aria said, "with the assistant coach who let us have fun...but at the same time...like showed you how to be like the best player you can be." Emma echoed these feelings saying, "I like someone who's able to like tell me what to do...and like respects me as well." Mia described a balance, expressing that the degree of feedback needs to be commensurate with performance expectations. "Our [Field Hockey] coach didn't really discipline us," she said. "I thought that if she did, we would have been better in shape ... and our season probably would have turned out a lot better if there was more discipline." The team, she said, "just joked around ... we weren't really serious about it anymore." In addition, Mia imagined that "we would have respected [the coach] a little bit more" had there been more disciple.

Affiliation

The overarching theme of affiliation was synthesized through the strongly associated subthemes of relevance and social orientation. All 8 young women expressed important relationships with others when describing their academic, athletic, extracurricular, and leisure activities. Their thinking and attitudes about relatedness clearly shaped how these students conceptualized their present and projected future selves. The students' identification with others was influenced by real-world peers, family members, coaches, and mentors. All 8 students valued relevant and personally meaningful shadowing experiences with health professionals at various local area hospital campuses, which validated or helped to reconstruct their future aspirational selves [55]. Five of these students chose to invest their limited leisure time in empathetic prosocial volunteer activities, and 4 were in academic and/or voluntary leadership positions. These students did not perceive themselves to be unimportant or powerless in these roles and often emerged

https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e16003

as active, confident leaders who achieved meaningful results. All 8 students who responded that they played games or participated in athletic activities as a leisure activity in the past or present almost always associated it with a meaningful connection to others.

Affective parasocial connections with favorite fictional characters also appear to have contributed to the students' self-conceptualization [56]. Lucas and Sherry [3] argue that choice in media consumption to meet individual gratification is one possible source of influence in determining future choices. Shaw [5] supports this idea and has suggested that the totality of media consumption across TV, films, books, and music might offer unique insights into an individual's self-conceptualization that can help inform designers to predict potential individual gameplay preferences. Chen et al [38] also urge designers to consider more nuanced audience analysis questions about the specific affective experiences of students as they participate in broader media consumption because girls are typically less drawn toward computer games than boys but do not show differences in their interests for movies. Relevant and personally meaningful fictional characters for this study cohort included 8 female, 2 male, and 1 animated persona. These characters were decidedly different than the hypersexualized females, damsels in distress, or stereotypical beauties that have been described in digital hardcore and casual game research to date such as Laura Croft (Tomb Raider), Daphne (Dragon's Lair), and Kim Kardashian (Kim Kardashian: Hollywood). This finding, in addition to the cited, more gender-neutral, digital games played by these students, suggests that there was no alignment for these health science-oriented students to take on a compatible role of player in such games [16,30,56]. Conversely, the students' identification with their favorite fictional characters, and their stories, was often aligned with descriptions of their cognitive, social, and affective real-world choices and relationships.

April, who is enrolled in an accelerated 5-year physician assistant program after graduation, credits a babysitter who spoke about her EHP experiences for initiating her interest in the medical field. "When I came into this [EHP program]," April said:

I was thinking that I wanted to work in the emergency room as a physician's assistant, but I've had the opportunity to shadow...in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit and Pediatric Intensive Care Units...so now I'm thinking maybe I'll go that way or even the pediatric ER.

She identified her favorite fictional character as Hermione Granger, the overachieving muggle-born witch in the Harry Potter novels, who excels academically. Hermione is someone who does "whatever she wants to do," April said:

[not] what everybody expects her to do. She's kind of like making her own like path...at the end she's like taking like three classes at a time and she's popping from like class to class because that's what she needs to do. She's always like super smart like figuring out how to do everything and thinking on her feet...and

she's like sort of a leader but not always like the leader.

Her description of a super smart Hermione Granger, who is just doing what she needs to do to be successful, may help validate April's self-conceptualization and her prioritization of the unpopular, harder classes that she cares about the most, such as advanced placement chemistry and calculus. After a 5-year commitment as a counselor working at a summer camp for kids with special needs, April recently joined the junior board of directors for Camelot for Children to help increase donations. April likes playing card games with her family when she has time.

Sixteen-year-old Starr Carter, an economically disadvantaged black girl who attends an elite, primarily white boarding school in the book The Hate U Give, was Kim's favorite fictional character. After witnessing a police officer shoot and kill her unarmed best friend, Starr Carter must overcome her trauma and those who seek to disempower her in her divergent socioeconomic and political realities. Kim, also a minority student, is immersed in 2 very different socioeconomic academic settings. A black female who demographically represents just 8.95% (125/1396) of her economically disadvantaged high school and 3% (2/58) of her predominantly white EHP class, Kim, admired Starr Carter's courageous transformation into an advocate for truth and justice. She explained that her interest in medicine was influenced by her certified nurse assistant parents who challenged her to be a physician instead of the nurse practitioner she initially aspired to be. Kim, who had decided to become a pediatrician someday because of her squeamishness around blood, was animated as she explained how her enduring self-perception had been proven false when she observed an open-heart surgical procedure. "I was right next to the surgeons," she said.

They let me come forward and see everything. I saw the entire surgery...I wasn't squeamish...like...I was just fine.

Kim will soon represent the first generation of her family to attend college, and her undergraduate trajectory is unique. Unlike her EHP peers, Kim plans to earn her degree in health policy administration so that she understands the business aspects of running her own clinic before enrolling in medical school to become a pediatrician. When Kim spoke about varsity track, she never mentioned her record-breaking accomplishments but richly described her role as a leader within her athletic family. "When I was a freshman," she said:

we had these two athletes...they were boyfriend and girlfriend...we called them mom and dad...they were the ones who took us in. But now that I'm the senior...like I'm taking everybody in...Like I'm taking everybody under my wing. I'm always there for them and they're always there for me.

Kim, who described herself as a digital "gamer" when she was younger, rarely plays games now because of her academic and athletic priorities. When she does play, it is usually with family or friends. Aria's favorite character was Deborah Dobkins from the TV show *Drop Dead Diva*. A vapid aspiring model, Deborah's shallow soul is brought back to life in the body of Jane Bingum, who was a brilliant, hard-working, charitable, plus-size lawyer. Deborah Dobkins is "not very smart," Aria said.

Like...not saying that models aren't very smart...but she wasn't very smart...but she walks into the courtroom with like so much confidence and she just wins every time. And it's so crazy to me...like knowing that she's not qualified...but she can just do it.

Interestingly, Aria addressed being similarly conflicted, sometimes feeling like 2 personas in 1 body, continuously choosing between the roles of serious, responsible student and just wanting to have fun and hang out with friends. As a freshman, Aria had a good friend in the EHP program who just loved what she was doing. "She told me a lot about the program...and I was like ... that sounds amazing ... like that's what I want to do," Aria said. Since those initial conversations, "there's never been like a question for me...like saying that I want to go into the medical field." Aria continued, "like it's the only thing I can see myself doing." Aria will begin her undergraduate studies as a biology/premed major after she graduates high school, aiming to pursue medical school someday. Aria described herself as "a pretty busy gal...in like a ridiculous amount of clubs," but she values being involved in her school. As the secretary of the Pediatric Cancer Club, she recently led a Shave for the Brave event that raised over US \$100,000 for pediatric cancer patients. Aria also mentors newly enrolled students at her high school to help ease their transition. Aria confirmed during the interview that she does not play games as it would not be a good use of her time.

A white female who demographically represents just 11.99% (313/2611) of her economically disadvantaged high school, Mia, has been accepted into an accelerated 5-year physician assistant program. She explained that she began "wanting to find her spot in the healthcare field" as she had a good friend who was diagnosed with leukemia when they were very young, and the people who cared for him motivated her interest. Mia's favorite fictional character was Thomas Edison, the amnesic protagonist in the novel Maze Runner, who transforms himself from a scared, confused adolescent to a courageous, decisive leader in a dangerous apocalyptic world. "I like how he just like took over everything," Mia said. "He was different than the others [in the maze]...he wanted to lead them to safety and no one else did...they didn't want to go...they didn't want to do anything." Mia may identify with Thomas' initiative to escape his maze as she too is different academically and planning to escape her own low-achieving high school "maze," which is ranked 516 of 673 schools in the state, with math proficiency and reading proficiency scores of 32% and 43%, respectively. When one considers Mia's feelings regarding her new CTE peer group compared with the demographic environment of her high school, her identification with Thomas seems even more salient. "I've created a better relationship with my friends here," Mia said. "All the kids here are interested in the medical field...I had people that related to me...and understood what I was going through...like picking colleges." Mia was the most frequent game player of this group of students, who reported playing

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e16003
```

 $XSI \bullet FC$

SimCity "all the time" when she was young and still plays 1 to 2 times per week when she is bored or needs time to relax. In the SimCity games, players build their own societal stories to fit their own desired cultural contexts [1,5,16]. Given Mia's low achievement and economically disadvantaged high school environment, her description of the SimCity character she created is noteworthy. "Right now, my girl...I made her," Mia said. "She lives in the city...and I took her to college for a business degree...and then she spent like three weeks there... and now she's in Paris on vacation." As the president of Key Club, Mia increased the annual benevolent Key Club projects by over 400% by adding community food drives and monthly parent-teacher association meeting babysitting services. When Mia entered the EHP program, she wanted to be a pediatrician but decided against becoming a doctor while shadowing them because of conflicting lifestyle choices. Mia did not like seeing physicians who were content working while their families were on vacation. "That wasn't me...that was not me at all," she said. "I want to have a life. I want to travel and have a family."

Discussion

A more nuanced analysis of prospective female players has been advocated before the design and development of serious games. This study sought to better understand the values, attitudes, and beliefs that contributed to the nongaming behaviors of 8 12th-grade female emerging health care preprofessionals. It was anticipated that these understandings would help inform the design of a serious game that these students might be intrinsically motivated to play.

Principal Findings

The findings of this study suggest that these 12th-grade health science-oriented students exhibit a complex fusion of desire for both accomplishment and affiliation representing a multifaceted mixture of commonly prescribed masculine and feminine characteristics. These young women are all are fiercely independent, introspectively competitive, prosocial leaders who are intrinsically driven to pursue health care careers. They think strategically and have tactically structured their past and present lives to achieve personally meaningful long-term goals. They embrace overcoming expected failures to achieve relevant high-stakes wins in all academic, athletic, extracurricular, and volunteer activities they value. They consciously avoid what they consider to be non-goal-oriented activities and subsequently self-limit their leisure time. When investing constrained leisure time, they choose to do so in socially meaningful contexts, which may include rarely playing games. On the basis of these common student attributes, the following design elements are recommended to foster autonomy, competency, and relatedness when seeking to motivate nongaming female students to independently choose to persistently play a health science-related serious game to mastery.

Implications for the Design of Serious Games

With regard to the theme of *affiliation*, it is expected that these preprofessional health care students will be more motivated to engage in a serious game that contains a relevant story [47,57]. Emotionally placing these students in a game environment with

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e16003
```

XSL•FO

near real-world patient characters should trigger their feelings of empathy and compassion. Engagement with such characters in a meaningful and emotionally rich story may lead female health science students to identify with patient personas resulting in inherent prosocial behaviors and feelings of responsibility and accountability [12-30]. These relevant stories should unfold in an authentic clinical practice environment, which combines near real-world social interactivity and authentic behavioral dynamics and likely workflow distractions [19,32,48,51]. It has been suggested that eliciting emotional arousal in learners may result in the student's self-regulation and motivation for achievement [58-60]. It is expected that well-designed emotional triggers provided by nonplayer patient characters in authentic clinical environments will align with the existing values, attitudes, and beliefs of female health science students. The resulting interactive parasocial relationship between these students and nonplayer patient characters should impact the active choices these students make to persist to achieve in the face of whatever concrete actionable challenges they face in the game.

With regard to the theme of *accomplishment*, authentic, concrete, actionable challenges should be designed into the serious game, which improve the fictional patient's clinical status while protecting them from harm [19,32,51]. It is expected that female health science students who identify with nonplayer patient characters will embrace solving their clinical problems by learning to use, manipulate, and reconfigure applicable tools while navigating visually rich authentic clinical environments [8]. Increasingly difficult levels of incremental knowledge, skills, attitudes, or behaviors should be achieved through repetitive, increasingly difficult practice until the students reach an individually meaningful win state in which their fictional patient's clinical issues are resolved without any adverse events [19,32,47,51]. The serious gaming environment should provide these students with nonforgiving, high-stakes feedback in the form of performance-based rewards and performance-based penalties, which are aligned with incremental successful or unsuccessful fictional patient care based upon knowledge, skills, attitudinal, or behavioral benchmarks that are clearly defined and measured [19,25,32,47,49,51]. Finally, the design of instruction should allow each student to decide how he or she chooses to respond to likely workflow distractions, or time constraints, to achieve success at each instructional level [8,19,32,49,51].

Limitations

The participants in this study represented 18.6% of the total female EHP student population and 21.6% of the original study cohort in prior research reported by the authors [9] and reflect a small sample size. The themes that emerged in this study may not reflect those of the collective group of college-bound health science learners in this class or those of incoming classes.

Conclusions

The results of this study reinforce the need for a robust learner analysis to identify the multifaceted behavioral characteristics of targeted learners before the design and development of serious games. The common characteristics of the 12th-grade female health science students in this study indicate that they will

choose to invest their limited leisure time playing a serious game if it is aligned with the self-conceptualization of their present or future selves. It is expected that these students will choose to solve sequentially difficult concrete, actionable, patient care challenges if they parasocially identify with the nonplayer patient characters in a relevant story that takes place in an authentic clinical practice environment with authentic behavioral dynamics and likely workflow distractions. It is expected that female health science students will choose to persist to an individually meaningful win state on behalf of their nonplayer patient characters as they receive formative feedback in the form of performance-based rewards and performance-based penalties, which are aligned with incremental successful or unsuccessful procedural care.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to extend their thanks to Lisa Greenawalt, EdD, Director of Curriculum and Instruction at the Lehigh Career and Technical Institute, who supported this research. The authors are also immensely grateful to the EHP program instructors, Kristin Applegate, MEd, RN and Veronica DeBlois, MEd, RN, for contributing their valuable time and guidance before, during, and after the study. The authors also wish to thank Harper, Kim, Carrie, April, Emma, Aria, Olivia, and Mia whose voices informed this research. Finally, the authors appreciate the insight and guidance provided by Dr Sara Kangas, Assistant Professor, Lehigh University, during the protocol development and manuscript revision process.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Semistructured interview guide to better understand the motivational dynamics of why 12th-grade emerging health professional students might choose to play games.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 435 KB - games v8i1e16003 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 First cycle coding definitions and illustrative quotations from interviewees. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 490 KB - games v8i1e16003 app2.pdf]

References

- 1. Chess S. Ready Player Two: Women Gamers And Designed Identity. Minneapolis: Univ Of Minnesota Press; 2019.
- 2. Entertainment Software Association. 2019. Sales, demographic, and usage datantial facts about the computer and video game industry URL: <u>https://www.theesa.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/ESA_EssentialFacts_2018.pdf</u>
- 3. Lucas K. Sex differences in video game play: a communication-based explanation. Commun Res 2004 Oct 01;31(5):499-523 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0093650204267930]
- 4. Perrin A. Pew Research Center. 2018 Sep 17. 5 facts about Americans and video games URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/</u> <u>fact-tank/2018/09/17/5-facts-about-americans-and-video-games/</u> [accessed 2019-05-14]
- 5. Shaw A. Gaming at the Edge: Sexuality and Gender at the Margins of Gamer Culture. Minneapolis: University Of Minnesota Press; 2014:1-317.
- 6. Yee N. The Proteus Paradox: How Online Games And Virtual Worlds Change Us and How They Don't. New Haven: Yale University Press; 2019.
- 7. Yee N. Quantic Foundry. 2017 Jan 19. Beyond 50/50: Breaking down the percentage of female gamers by genre URL: https://quanticfoundry.com/2017/01/19/female-gamers-by-genre/
- 8. Kron FW, Gjerde CL, Sen A, Fetters MD. Medical student attitudes toward video games and related new media technologies in medical education. BMC Med Educ 2010;10:50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6920-10-50] [Medline: 20576125]
- Glover KR, Bodzin A. Psychometric testing of a value-achievement-cost motivation survey for 12 grade health sciences students for use in simulation-based-games. Simulation & Gaming 2019 Sep 20;50(6):789-811 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1046878119876317]
- Jenson J, de Castell S. An ethnographic study of gender and digital gameplay. Feminist Media Studies 2011 Jun;11(2):167-179. [doi: <u>10.1080/14680777.2010.521625</u>]
- 11. Bureau of Labor Statistics. United States Department of Labor. 2018. Labor force statistics from current population survey URL: <u>https://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsaat11.htm</u> [accessed 2019-05-18]
- 12. Baharom SN, Tan WH, Idris MZ. Emotional Design for Games: A Framework for Player-Centric Approach in the Game Design Process. I J Multimedia Ubiquitous Eng 2014 Oct 31;9(10):387-398. [doi: <u>10.14257/ijmue.2014.9.10.37</u>]
- Branson RK, Rayner GT, Cox JL, Furman JP, King FJ, Hannum WH. US Army Combat Arms Training Board. Ft. Monroe, VA: US Army Training and Doctrine Command; 1975. Interservice procedures for instructional systems development URL: <u>https://apps.dtic.mil/dtic/tr/fulltext/u2/a023892.pdf</u>

- 14. Dichev C, Dicheva D. Gamifying education: what is known, what is believed and what remains uncertain: a critical review. Int J Educ Technol High Educ 2017 Feb 20;14(1). [doi: 10.1186/s41239-017-0042-5]
- 15. Kneer J, Franken S, Reich S. Not only for the (tom) boys: gender variables as predictors for playing motivations, passion, and addiction for MMORPGs. Simul Gaming 2019 Jan 30;50(1):44-61. [doi: 10.1177/1046878118823033]
- 16. Ray SG. Gender Inclusive Game Design: Expanding The Market. Hingham, MA: Charles River Media, Inc; 2004.
- 17. Shaw A. Do you identify as a gamer? Gender, race, sexuality, and gamer identity. New Media Soc 2011 Jun 16;14(1):28-44. [doi: 10.1177/1461444811410394]
- 18. Jones F, Passos-Neto CE, Braguiroli OF. Simulation in medical education: Brief history and methodology. Principles Pract Clin Res 2015;2(1):56-63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21801/ppcrj.2015.12.8]
- McGaghie WC, Issenberg SB, Petrusa ER, Scalese RJ. Effect of practice on standardised learning outcomes in simulation-based medical education. Med Educ 2006 Aug;40(8):792-797. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02528.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16869926</u>]
- Cook DA, Hatala R, Brydges R, Zendejas B, Szostek JH, Wang AT, et al. Technology-enhanced simulation for health professions education: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Med Assoc 2011 Oct 07;306(9):978-988. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.1234] [Medline: 21900138]
- Bortman J, Baribeau Y, Jeganathan J, Amador Y, Mahmood F, Shnider M, et al. Improving clinical proficiency using a 3-dimensionally printed and patient-specific thoracic spine model as a haptic task trainer. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2018 Nov;43(8):819-824. [doi: 10.1097/AAP.000000000000821] [Medline: 29894394]
- 22. Henriksen K, Rodrick D, Grace EN, Brady PJ. Challenges in health care simulation: are we learning anything new? Acad Med 2018 May;93(5):705-708. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000001891] [Medline: 28817431]
- 23. Griswold-Theodorson S, Ponnuru S, Dong C, Szyld D, Reed T, McGaghie WC. Beyond the simulation laboratory: a realist synthesis review of clinical outcomes of simulation-based mastery learning. Acad Med 2015 Dec;90(11):1553-1560. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000000938] [Medline: 26375271]
- 24. McGaghie WC, Issenberg SB, Barsuk JH, Wayne DB. A critical review of simulation-based mastery learning with translational outcomes. Med Educ 2014 Apr;48(4):375-385. [doi: <u>10.1111/medu.12391</u>] [Medline: <u>24606621</u>]
- Cook NF, McAloon T, O'Neill P, Beggs R. Impact of a web based interactive simulation game (PULSE) on nursing students' experience and performance in life support training--a pilot study. Nurse Educ Today 2012 Aug;32(6):714-720. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2011.09.013] [Medline: 22082881]
- 26. Wang R, DeMaria S, Goldberg A, Katz D. A systematic review of serious games in training health care professionals. Simul Healthc 2016 Mar;11(1):41-51. [doi: <u>10.1097/SIH.000000000000118</u>] [Medline: <u>26536340</u>]
- Kuipers DA, Terlouw G, Wartena BO, van 't Veer JT, Prins JT, Pierie JPE. The role of transfer in designing games and simulations for health: systematic review. JMIR Serious Games 2017 Dec 24;5(4):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.7880] [Medline: 29175812]
- 28. Maheu-Cadotte M, Cossette S, Dubé V, Fontaine G, Mailhot T, Lavoie P, et al. Effectiveness of serious games and impact of design elements on engagement and educational outcomes in healthcare professionals and students: a systematic review and meta-analysis protocol. BMJ Open 2018 Mar 16;8(3):e019871 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019871] [Medline: 29549206]
- 29. Wouters P, van Nimwegen C, van Oostendorp H, van der Spek ED. A meta-analysis of the cognitive and motivational effects of serious games. J Educ Psychol 2013;105(2):249-265. [doi: 10.1037/a0031311]
- 30. Isbister K. How Games Move Us: Emotion By Design. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 2017.
- 31. Dicheva D, Dichev C, Agre G, Angelova G. Gamification in education: a systematic mapping study. Educ Techno Soc 2015;18(3):75-88. [doi: 10.1186/s41239-017-0042-5]
- Knight JF, Carley S, Tregunna B, Jarvis S, Smithies R, de Freitas S, et al. Serious gaming technology in major incident triage training: a pragmatic controlled trial. Resuscitation 2010 Sep;81(9):1175-1179. [doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2010.03.042] [Medline: 20732609]
- 33. Dill KE, Thill KP. Video game characters and the socialization of gender roles: young people's perceptions mirror sexist media depictions. Sex Roles 2007 Oct 17;57(11-12):851-864. [doi: 10.1007/s11199-007-9278-1]
- 34. Jansz J, Martis RG. The Lara phenomenon: powerful female characters in video games. Sex Roles 2007 Feb 2;56(3-4):141-148. [doi: 10.1007/s11199-006-9158-0]
- 35. Juul J. A Casual Revolution: Reinventing Video Games And Their Players. Cambridge, MA: The Mit Press; 2010.
- 36. Williams D, Martins N, Consalvo M, Ivory JD. The virtual census: representations of gender, race and age in video games. New Media Soc 2009 Jul 21;11(5):815-834. [doi: 10.1177/1461444809105354]
- 37. Jenson J, de Castell S. Gender, simulation, and gaming: research review and redirections. Simul Gaming 2010 Jan 26;41(1):51-71. [doi: 10.1177/1046878109353473]
- 38. Chen JA, Star JR, Dede C, Tutwiler MS. Technology-rich activities: one type does not motivate all. Contemp Educ Psychol 2018 Jul;54:153-170. [doi: 10.1016/j.cedpsych.2018.06.011]
- 39. Maxwell JA. Qualitative Research Design: An Interactive Approach (3rd Edition). Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications, Inc; 2013.
- 40. Saldana J. The Coding Manual For Qualitative Researchers (3rd Edition). Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications Ltd; 2016.

RenderX

- 41. Lehigh Career and Technical Institute. Schnecksville, PA: Lehigh Career and Technical Institute; 2015. Health professional training for high school students URL: <u>http://www.lcti.org/prospective-student-course/emerging-health-professionals/</u>
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzm042] [Medline: 17872937]
- 43. Merriam SB. Qualitative Research: A Guide To Design And Implementation (4th Edition). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Publishers; 2016.
- 44. Eccles JS, Wigfield A. Motivational beliefs, values, and goals. Annu Rev Psychol 2002;53:109-132. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135153] [Medline: 11752481]
- 45. Ericsson KA, Krampe RT, Tesch-Römer C. The role of deliberate practice in the acquisition of expert performance. Psychol Rev 1993;100(3):363-406. [doi: 10.1037//0033-295x.100.3.363]
- 46. Ryan RM, Deci EL. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. Am Psychol 2000 Jan;55(1):68-78. [doi: 10.1037//0003-066x.55.1.68] [Medline: 11392867]
- Brull S, Finlayson S, Kostelec T, MacDonald R, Krenzischeck D. Using gamification to improve productivity and increase knowledge retention during orientation. J Nurs Adm 2017 Sep;47(9):448-453. [doi: <u>10.1097/NNA.00000000000512</u>] [Medline: <u>28834805</u>]
- 48. Dieckmann P, Gaba D, Rall M. Deepening the theoretical foundations of patient simulation as social practice. Simul Healthc 2007;2(3):183-193. [doi: 10.1097/SIH.0b013e3180f637f5] [Medline: 19088622]
- 49. Kelly H, Howell K, Glinert E, Holding L, Swain C, Burrowbridge A, et al. How to build serious games. Commun ACM 2007 Jul 01;50(7):45-49. [doi: 10.1145/1272516.1272538]
- 50. Greitemeyer T, Osswald S. Effects of prosocial video games on prosocial behavior. J Pers Soc Psychol 2010 Mar;98(2):211-221. [doi: 10.1037/a0016997] [Medline: 20085396]
- 51. Petit dit Dariel OJ, Raby T, Ravaut F, Rothan-Tondeur M. Developing the Serious Games potential in nursing education. Nurse Educ Today 2013 Dec;33(12):1569-1575. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2012.12.014</u>] [Medline: <u>2332500</u>]
- 52. Rosser JC, Lynch PJ, Cuddihy L, Gentile DA, Klonsky J, Merrell R. The impact of video games on training surgeons in the 21st century. Arch Surg 2007 Mar;142(2):181-6; discussion 186. [doi: 10.1001/archsurg.142.2.181] [Medline: 17309970]
- 53. Young MF, Slota S, Cutter AB, Jalette G, Mullin G, Lai B, et al. Our princess is in another castle: a review of trends in serious gaming for education. Rev Educ Res 2012 Mar;82(1):61-89. [doi: 10.3102/0034654312436980]
- 54. Winn J, Heeter C. Gaming, gender, and time: who makes time to play? Sex Roles 2009 Jun 9;61(1-2):1-13. [doi: 10.1007/s11199-009-9595-7]
- 55. Lave J, Wenger E. Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press; 1991.
- 56. Horton D, Wohl RR. Mass communication and para-social interaction: observation on intimacy at a distance. Psychiatry 1956;19(3):215-229. [doi: 10.1080/00332747.1956.11023049]
- 57. Stegman M. Immune attack players perform better on a test of cellular immunology and self confidence than their classmates who play a control video game. Faraday Discuss 2014;169:403-423 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1039/c4fd00014e] [Medline: 25340640]
- 58. LeBlanc VR. The relationship between emotions and learning in simulation-based education. Simul Healthc 2019 Jun;14(3):137-139. [doi: 10.1097/SIH.0000000000379] [Medline: 31136421]
- 59. Mega C, Ronconi L, De Beni R. What makes a good student? How emotions, self-regulated learning, and motivation contribute to academic achievement. J Educ Psychol 2014 Feb;106(1):121-131. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0033546</u>]
- 60. Rogers T, Andler C, O Brien B, van Schaik S. Self-reported emotions in simulation-based learning: active participants vs observers. Simul Healthc 2019 Jul;14(3):140-145. [doi: <u>10.1097/SIH.0000000000354</u>] [Medline: <u>30601465</u>]

Abbreviations

CTE: career and technical education **EHP:** emerging health professional **STEM:** science, technology, engineering, and mathematics **TV:** television



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 26.08.19; peer-reviewed by E Da Silva, JW Tan; comments to author 23.10.19; revised version received 13.11.19; accepted 15.12.19; published 06.02.20. <u>Please cite as:</u> Glover K, Bodzin A Learner Analysis to Inform the Design and Development of a Serious Game for Nongaming Female Emerging Health Care Preprofessionals: Qualitative Sample Study JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e16003 URL: https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e16003 doi:10.2196/16003 PMID:32027312

©Kevin Richard Glover, Alec Bodzin. Originally published in JMIR Serious Games (http://games.jmir.org), 06.02.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Serious Games, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://games.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Health Education Serious Games Targeting Health Care Providers, Patients, and Public Health Users: Scoping Review

Nahid Sharifzadeh¹, MSc; Hadi Kharrazi², MD, PhD; Elham Nazari¹, PhD; Hamed Tabesh¹, PhD; Maryam Edalati Khodabandeh¹, MSc; Somayeh Heidari³, MSc; Mahmood Tara¹, MD, PhD

¹Department of Medical Informatics, Faculty of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

²Department of Health Policy and Management, Johns Hopkins School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, United States

³Department of Medical Informatics, Faculty of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Corresponding Author: Mahmood Tara, MD, PhD Department of Medical Informatics Faculty of Medicine Mashhad University of Medical Sciences Azadi Square Mashhad Iran Phone: 98 9158061511 Email: <u>taram@mums.ac.ir</u>

Abstract

Background: Serious educational games have shown effectiveness in improving various health outcomes. Previous reviews of health education games have focused on specific diseases, certain medical subjects, fixed target groups, or limited outcomes of interest. Given the recent surge in health game studies, a scoping review of health education games is needed to provide an updated overview of various aspects of such serious games.

Objective: This study aimed to conduct a scoping review of the design and evaluation of serious educational games for health targeting health care providers, patients, and public (health) users.

Methods: We identified 2313 studies using a unique combination of keywords in the PubMed and ScienceDirect databases. A total of 161 studies were included in this review after removing duplicates (n=55) and excluding studies not meeting our inclusion criteria (1917 based on title and abstract and 180 after reviewing the full text). The results were stratified based on games targeting health care providers, patients, and public users.

Results: Most health education games were developed and evaluated in America (82/161, 50.9%) and Europe (64/161, 39.8%), with a considerable number of studies published after 2012. We discovered 58.4% (94/161) of studies aiming to improve knowledge learning and 41.6% (67/161) to enhance skill development. The studies targeted various categories of end users: health care providers (42/161, 26.1%), patients (38/161, 23.6%), public users (75/161, 46.6%), and a mix of users (6/161, 3.7%). Among games targeting patients, only 13% (6/44) targeted a specific disease, whereas a growing majority targeted lifestyle behaviors, social interactions, cognition, and generic health issues (eg, safety and nutrition). Among 101 studies reporting gameplay specifications, the most common gameplay duration was 30 to 45 min. Of the 61 studies reporting game repetition, only 14% (9/61) of the games allowed the users to play the game with unlimited repetitions. From 32 studies that measured follow-up duration after the game intervention, only 1 study reported a 2-year postintervention follow-up. More than 57.7% (93/161) of the games did not have a multidisciplinary team to design, develop, or assess the game.

Conclusions: Serious games are increasingly used for health education targeting a variety of end users. This study offers an updated scoping review of the studies assessing the value of serious games in improving health education. The results showed a promising trend in diversifying the application of health education games that go beyond a specific medical condition. However, our findings indicate the need for health education game development and adoption in developing countries and the need to focus on multidisciplinary teamwork in designing effective health education games. Furthermore, future health games should expand the duration and repetition of games and increase the length of the follow-up assessments to provide evidence on long-term effectiveness.

RenderX

(JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e13459) doi:10.2196/13459

KEYWORDS

serious games; health education; health games; game-based learning

Introduction

Background

Serious games have emerged as a promising educational technique across various domains [1,2]. Previous studies, including a survey study, have identified health care as one of the main targets of educational serious games [3-5]. In contrast to traditional educational techniques, the focus of serious games on health is partly derived from the fact that they provide individuals with a risk-free environment to practice high-stake tasks and experience unpredictable outcomes. Serious games also provided a unique educational platform to increase patient safety and reduce cost, which, in turn, has propelled the rapid development of new health education games [6,7].

User acceptance is key to the successful impact of educational serious games. Previous studies have assessed various user acceptance challenges of educational games [8,9]. These studies revealed that a wide range of users, including health care providers and medical students, accept serious games as a substantial and useful educational technique [10,11]. These studies also showed that clinical instructors consider serious games as an attractive and engaging educational tool [8,12]. Higher engagement is partly explained by the active learning tasks experienced by the users while interacting with an educational game [13,14].

Similar to other educational techniques, serious games require goal-relevant design, and their effectiveness should be methodologically evaluated [15]. Designing educational serious games requires multiple stages to ensure the engagement of potential end users in all phases of development, ranging from flowcharts and wireframes to multidimensional design and repeated user experience tests [16]. In addition, to increase the generalizability of educational serious games in improving learning objectives, they need to be rigorously evaluated across different user groups using various methods ranging from user studies to focus groups and clinical trials [17].

Several review studies have evaluated the design, development, and outcomes of serious games; however, only a few have focused on health education games [7,15,16]. One study conducted a systematic review of educational serious games for

medical students and concluded that serious games should be evaluated before use in medical school curricula [17]. Another study conducted a meta-analysis of sex education serious games and concluded that serious games can be used effectively for promoting sexual health [18]. Moreover, another study evaluated the frequency and progression of health serious games across various domains, including clinical training, rehabilitation, and health education [5]. Considering the current rapid development of serious games, an updated scoping review focusing on health education serious games is lacking.

Study Objectives

This study offers an updated scoping review of health education games. The study reviews various aspects of the recent developments of educational health games designed for various user groups and provides a comprehensive review of the design characteristics and evaluation of such serious games. The study also addresses the gaps and weaknesses of the recent developments of health education games.

Methods

Overall Framework

The York framework was used to develop the general framework of this study [19]. We followed the following stages to guide the methodology of our search and analysis: (1) identifying the research question; (2) identifying relevant studies; (3) search strategy and study selection; (4) extracting information from the studies; and (5) collating, summarizing, and reporting the results.

Research Questions

Systematic reviews often focus on specific questions; however, scoping reviews explore questions with a broader scope [20]. In this review, the overarching aims targeted 3 *aspects* of health education serious games: general information, design specifications, and evaluation outcomes. Specific questions targeting each aspect of these health education games were discussed by a group of medical informatics experts (2 faculty members and 4 graduate students) and selected through a consensus process (Table 1).



 Table 1. Study questions and corresponding health game aspects.

Game aspects	Specific questions
General	 What is the frequency of publications per year? How articles are allocated geographically? What are the overall goals of the study?
Design	 What are the characteristics of the target groups? What are the types of educational content offered by the games? What types of medical conditions were targeted? What is the distribution of gameplay duration across the studies?
Evaluation	 How many repetitions were made in the studies? What was the intervention duration in the studies? What was the duration between the intervention and posttest? What follow-up period was used to evaluate the games? What were the findings of the studies?

Identifying Relevant Studies

The research team used an established framework [20] to develop an overall guideline used to identify if a study is considered relevant to the topic of the scoping review. The guide

 Table 2. Overall guideline for the inclusion and exclusion of articles.

specified additional details about the articles on 3 perspectives of population, concept, and context (Table 2). The research team then applied this guide to develop a detailed inclusion and exclusion criteria for the review process.

Items	Description
Population	The search strategy should not limit the educational groups targeted by the studies (eg, no limitations in terms of gender, age, health, or economic status)
Concept	The search strategy will not discriminate about the underlying educational goal of the games and will be agnostic about the platform used to deliver the games (<i>eg, no limitations on the learning techniques and no limits on software choices</i>)
Context	The search strategy will not limit the inclusion based on the affiliation of authors but will limit the papers to English articles published between January 1985 ^a and December 2018

^aPrevious systematic reviews identified no health education game studies published before 1985.

Search and Screening Strategy

The search strategy was guided by the overall inclusion and exclusion framework (Table 2). After reviewing a handful of serious games articles, including review articles, and consulting informatics professionals, the study team developed a set of *potential* keywords to match the overall inclusion and exclusion criteria of the articles (Table 3). To accommodate a wider scope of articles, 3 sets of *potential* keywords were developed to cover gaming, health, and education domains and later were assessed for comprehensiveness while being converted into a unified and single keyword phrase.

Table 3. Concepts and potential keywords.

Concepts	Keywords ^a
Game	Game OR (Video Game) OR (Serious Game) OR Gamification OR Gaming OR (Computer-Aided Design) OR (Computer Simulation) OR (Computer Graphics)
Health	Health OR Medicine OR Medical
Education	Education OR Teaching OR Learning OR Training OR Problem-Based Learning OR Computer User Training OR Simulation Training

^aOn the basis of determined keywords and concepts, the search team developed and used the following composite keyword to search for the studies of interest: ((*video game*) OR (*video game*) OR (*serious gam*) OR (*gaming*) OR (*gamification*)) AND ((*educate*) OR (*train*) OR (*teach*) OR (*learn*)). The publication year of articles was limited from 1985 to 2018, and non-English articles were excluded. Only original studies published in a peer-reviewed venue were included. PubMed and ScienceDirect databases were used to perform the search.

Study Selection and Inclusion

As depicted in the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses diagram in Figure 1 [21], the initial search retrieved 2313 articles from PubMed (n=1978) and ScienceDirect (n=335). After removing duplicates (n=55), 2258

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e13459
```

RenderX

articles were retained for screening. The search team used the inclusion and exclusion guidelines (Table 2) to filter the articles. Screening the title and abstract of the articles resulted in the exclusion of 1917 articles. To harmonize the results and exclude *exercise games*, health games using hardware accessories (eg, sensors) or adopting commercial games that are specifically

designed for exercise (with minimal educational content) were removed during the title and abstract screening. The remaining 341 articles were furthered screened after reading their full text, which resulted in 180 articles being excluded from the study. We specifically excluded studies assessing the negative aspects of violent games, as they are not considered health games. The risk of bias was not assessed, as this scoping review did not intend to systematically review and evaluate all effective interventions. In the end, 161 articles were determined to meet all inclusion and exclusion criteria and were fully reviewed in the data extraction phase (which further split the studies based on their target groups of health care providers, patients, and public users).





Data Extraction

A data extraction form was developed by the research team after the determination of the conforming variables with the research questions and the study's goal (Table 4). The variables were categorized based on the study's 3 major aspects (ie, general information, design, and evaluation; Table 1). The data extraction form was shared with all study team members and was finalized after addressing all remaining questions and comments. In total, 2 reviewers used the data extraction form to independently mine 9.9% (16/161) of the articles. The kappa coefficient score between the 2 reviewers was calculated at 76%. Both reviewers further discussed discrepancies internally and were trained once more to reach a high consensus rate (ie, reaching a kappa score >90% in the second round of coding). Two reviewers then extracted data from the rest of the articles. In the case of nonconformation between the reviewers, a third reviewer was consulted to reach consensus.



Table 4. Data extraction form.

Game aspects	Data element to extract
General	CountryYear
Design	 Target group Type of study Duration of game Goal of game Goal of study Result of study Specialty of the design team
Evaluation	 Intervention evaluation's tool Game evaluation's tool Intervention evaluation Game evaluation Follow-up duration Intervention duration The duration between intervention and test

Data Collation and Analysis

Data extraction results were collected in 2 Microsoft Excel sheets managed by each of the reviewers. The Excel sheets were then merged to generate the final set of results. Excel functions were used to populate the summary statistics and perform a frequency analysis. To analyze the captured data, we applied a frequency analysis for all variables of interest and presented the results in various chart formats. To improve the interpretability of the results, we stratified all findings into the 3 user groups of health care providers, patients, and public users.

Results

Overall Findings

The findings of this review were categorized based on health education serious game aspects and specific questions identified

Figure 2. Studies based on geographical locations and stratified by user groups.

earlier in the review (Table 1). Significant study findings were grouped into the geographic distribution of the studies, publication year, type and goal of the studies, target groups, gameplay duration and repetitions, intervention specs, length of the follow-up period, and the use of multidisciplinary teams.

Publication by Geography

Figure 2 depicts the geographical distribution (categorized by continent) of published health education serious game articles. Most of the published articles (n=82) originated from institutions in the American continent (\geq 90% in North America). After America, Europe (n=64), Asia (n=13), and Oceania (n=2) had the highest number of studies assessing health education games. None of the articles were published by an author affiliated with an institution in Africa.





Publication by Year

Figure 3 demonstrated the number of articles on health education games per 5-year intervals. The first article was published in

Figure 3. Studies by year and stratified by user groups.



2015 (n=107).

Type of Study

In this review, articles were categorized into 2 classes of interventional (77.6%) and observational (22.4%) studies.

Among the interventional studies, 44 were randomized clinical trials, whereas 81 of the studies were quasi-experimental (Figure 4). A few studies have assessed the educational health games using a qualitative approach (eg, design protocols and surveys).

1989. Since 2011, the number of articles has grown

considerably, with a notable peak in articles published after

Figure 4. Publications by study design and stratified by user groups. RCT: randomized controlled trial.



Study Outcomes

Studies were categorized into 2 classes of knowledge improvement (94/161, 58.4%) and skill improvement (67/161, 41.6%). The knowledge improvement category included multiple subcategories, such as knowledge of diseases (6.8%), general health (6/161, 3.7%), health care management (1.9%), medications (1.2%), mental health (4.3%), nutrition (8.7%), pedagogical content (eg, higher education curriculum; 21.1%), safety and prevention (6.2%), and sexuality (5.0%; Figure 5). The skill improvement category also included multiple subcategories of skills: behavioral and emotional (1.9%), clinical competency (6.2%), cognition (11.2%), decision making (1.9%),

language (1.9%), mathematics (1.9%), memory (1.9%), motor movement (1.2%), perceptual (1.2%), reading writing (3.1%), self-control (2.5%), self-efficacy (1.2%), social (5.0%), and visual-auditory (0.6%). Games designed for health care providers were mainly targeting pedagogical knowledge, clinical competencies, and decision-making skills. Games designed for the patients mostly focused on cognition, specific diseases, mental health, social challenges, and a growing number of specific skill sets (eg, self-control and language). Games targeting public users covered a variety of topics, such as nutrition, safety and prevention, and general health items (Figure 5).

RenderX

Figure 5. Studies by target outcome and stratified by user groups.



Target User Groups

We studied 3 specifications of the target groups: age groups, user groups (eg, health care provider, patients, and public users), and medical condition (specific to patients).

Age Groups

We used educational age ranges [22] to analyze age groups (Table 5). Some studies only included one of the age categories (78/161, 48.4%), whereas some included more than 1 age category (39/161, 24.2%). Approximately 27.3% (44/161) of studies did not specify the age groups. The studies that were

limited to 1 age category included children (36/78, 46%), adolescents (10/78, 12%), adults (29/78, 37%), and elders (3/78, 3%) but did not include neonates or infants or toddlers target groups. Among studies that targeted more than 1 age category (39/161, 24.2%) of the articles, age categories included neonates and infants and toddlers (1/39, 2%), toddlers and children (1/39, 2%), children and adolescents (17/39, 43%), children and adolescents and adults (3/39, 7%), children and adults (1/39, 2%), adolescents and adults (5/39, 12%), adolescents and adults and elders (1/39, 2%), and adults and elders (10/39, 25%). There were no studies to evaluate neonate, infant, and toddler target groups independently.

 Table 5. Age-specific considerations in patient care and health education.

Groups	Age ranges
Neonates	1 day to 28 days
Infants	29 days to 2 years
Toddlers	1 years to 3 years
Children	3 years to 12 years
Adolescents	13 years to 18 years
Adults	19 years to 65 years
Elders	≥65 years

After combining the age groups into larger age bins for games targeting patients and public users, the age bin of 0 to 18 years showed the highest number of studies (n=65), compared with

18 to 65 years (n=49) and 65 years and older (n=3, Figure 6). Logically, all games designed for health care providers fell within the age range of 18 to 65 years (not shown in the figure).



Sharifzadeh et al

Figure 6. Studies by age ranges of health games designed for patients and public users. Educational health games designed for healthcare providers are not shown (n=42). N/A: not applicable.



User Groups

Overall, the user groups were divided into 3 general categories (Figure 1): (1) health care providers, such as physicians and nurses (42/161, 26.1%), (2) patients (38/161, 23.6%), and (3) public users (75/161, 46.6%). A total of 6 studies (6/161, 3.7%) included both patients and public users.

Medical Conditions

Of all reviewed studies, 42 (42/161, 26.1%) studies targeted various medical conditions (Table 6). These conditions were either meant to improve individual health outcomes or prevent specific diseases.



Sharifzadeh et al

Table 6. Targeted medical conditions among different age groups of patients and public users.

Medical conditions	Age group ^a (years)								
	0-12	0-18	0-40	0-65	13-40	13-65	19-65	19-75	≥65
Addiction	b	_	_	_	1	1	_	_	_
Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder	2	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Amblyopia	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Aphasia	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	1	_
Autism	2	3	1	_	_	_	_	_	_
Behavioral problems	_	1	_	_	_	_	2	_	_
Blood clots	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	1	_
Cancer	_	_	_	_	_	_	1	_	_
Daytime wetting	_	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Dementia	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	1
Diabetes	_	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Disabled	_	_	_	1	_	_	_	_	_
Dyslexia	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Extremely low birth weight	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders	3	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
HIV	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Language disorders	_	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Mathematical skills	1	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Neurodevelopmental disorders	_	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Overweight	_	_	_	_	_	_	2	_	_
Pain after surgery	_	_	_	_	_	_	1	_	_
Psychological disorders	1	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Schizophrenia	_	_	_	_	_	1	_	_	_
Specific language impairment	1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Stroke	_	_	_	_	_	_	2	_	1
Tinnitus	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	1	_

^aAge groups cannot be combined, as studies did not report enough details. ^bNot applicable

Duration of Gameplay

Duration of gameplay (ie, time spent on interacting with the game) has been reported in 101 studies (101/161, 62.7%). Figure

7 depicts the distribution of gameplay duration among these 101 studies. The most common gameplay duration was 30 to 45 min (n=31) and the least was less than 15 min (n=13).



Figure 7. Duration of gameplay in minutes and stratified by user groups. Studies with missing duration of gameplay are not shown (n=60).



Number of Game Repetitions

Of all 161 studies, 61 health games (37.9%) mentioned the number of times the game can be repeatedly played (Figure 8). Among these studies, 2 general categories of repetitiveness were observed: (1) articles that limited the number of times a game can be played (n=58) and (2) articles that set no limitations for the number of repeats and users were allowed to have an

interaction with the game with unlimited repetitions during the intervention time (n=3; a subset of >35 bar in Figure 8).

Among the articles of the first category, games with less than 5 repetitions had the highest number of articles among health care provider and public user groups. Games designed for patients had 20 to 25 as the highest number of repetitions (Figure 8).

Figure 8. Number of game repetitions across the studies (stratified by user groups). Studies with missing game repetitions are not shown (n=100).



Duration of Intervention

The duration of intervention was mentioned in 94 of the reviewed studies (Figure 9). The duration of intervention varied

between 1 week and 8 years. Most studies (34/94, 36%) had a time range of less than 1 month.



Sharifzadeh et al

Figure 9. Duration of intervention in months (stratified by user groups). Studies with missing duration of intervention are not shown (n=67).



Time Between Intervention and Posttest

The time between intervention and posttest was reported in 59 (59/161, 36%) of the reviewed studies (Figure 10). Two categories of time between intervention and posttest were seen:

(1) conducting a test right after the intervention (48/59, 81%) and (2) conducting a test after at least 1 day is passed from the intervention (11/59, 18%). The time ranged between 1 and 12 weeks among the latter group of studies.

Figure 10. Time between intervention and posttest (stratified by user groups). Studies with missing information are not shown (n=102).



Follow-Up Duration

Follow-up duration was collected by a few of the studies (32/161, 19%; Figure 11). Among these studies, 97% had a

follow-up duration of 1 week to 6 months. Only 1 study reported a 2-year follow-up period.



Figure 11. Duration of follow-up in months (stratified by user groups). Studies with missing follow-up duration are not shown (n=129).



Multidisciplinary Teams

Although the use of multidisciplinary teams to design health games is strongly recommended, only 42% (68/161) of the reviewed games either explicitly mentioned the use of such

teams or implicitly mentioned the involvement of such experts (eg, instructional, clinical, and user experience) in the development and assessment of the games (Figure 12). Analyzing the use of multidisciplinary teams over the years of publications did not show any significant trends.

Figure 12. Development of studies by multidisciplinary teams (stratified by user groups).



Discussion

Principal Findings

Serious games are increasingly recommended as effective techniques to improve health education [23-25]. Multiple studies have assessed educational serious games in different fields of health, ranging from preventative screening to management of chronic diseases [9,26-28]. Over the last decade, a growing number of these studies have measured the efficiency and effectiveness of serious health education games using randomized trials of patients and clinicians [29-35]. Our review provides an updated scoping review of the underlying patterns and gaps of studies assessing the value of serious games in improving health education for health care providers, patients, and public users.

Serious Game Development, Target Groups, and Topics

Our results confirm the concentration of educational health game development in developed countries of North America, Europe, and Asia, thus lacking the opportunity to target educational needs of low-income countries by adopting contextualized or localized serious games. Given the increased availability of smart electronic devices and the penetration of the internet in developing countries [36], more research is needed to develop and assess the impact of serious games targeting specific health educational needs of such populations (eg, infectious diseases) [37]. Given the peak of health game development in recent years (between 2015 and 2018) and the potential higher commercialization of such solutions, focusing on emerging topics of developing countries can benefit larger populations in need [38].



Our results show that more than one-fourth (26.1%) of the health education games focused on higher education needs and targeted medical students and staff. The fact that most of these studies are using health games as an intervention and a considerable number of them have assessed their effectiveness using experimental designs (including randomized trials) provides a growing opportunity to assess the effectiveness of such serious games. It can be anticipated that medical schools (especially in North America and developed countries of Europe and Asia) will gradually incorporate such interactive solutions (ie, serious games) in their common educational curriculum in the near future. In addition, given the low cost of technology needed to use such games in medical and nursing schools, open source or free versions of such serious games can tremendously help reducing educational disparities in clinical sciences among low-resource countries.

An interesting trend revealed by our results is the gradual move from developing disease-specific serious educational games (eg, educational games for diabetes) to targeting broader public health topics (eg, safety and nutrition). Given the impact of health topics such as safety and nutrition on population-level outcomes, the future of educational health games may entail a larger coverage of the general healthy population rather than patients with specific diseases (ie, helping to bridge pubic and population health outcomes [39,40]). The wider target groups of end users can potentially translate into increased market opportunities for educational health games as well as sustainable commercialization over the long term.

Game Design and Learning Outcomes

Educational games primarily aim to increase awareness and knowledge among the players. Nonetheless, the ultimate goal of educational health games should include a behavioral change in the end users, thus producing a lasting effect. Developing such complex health education serious games, however, is challenging as it requires the participation of multidisciplinary team members to address various game play perspectives, ranging from principles of design to psychology of behavioral change. In this review, the evaluation of the studies revealed that the use of multidisciplinary teams to design health education games is strongly recommended, but it is accomplished occasionally by game developers. Indeed, according to our evaluation, almost half of the studies were deprived from a multidisciplinary team. Continuous collaborations among the members of the multidisciplinary expert team in addressing various aspects of game design and development are strongly recommended to improve the educational experience of the users and potentially improve the impact of health education games.

Most studies reviewed in this study had a short duration of game play with minimal repetitions and limited follow-up periods. In addition, 6 studies did not report an effective intervention and could not achieve desired educational outcomes. These limitations can be attributed partly to the lack of expert user experience designers participating in the study teams [41]. Furthermore, although factors, such as time of intervention, time between intervention and posttest, and duration of follow-up, are critical in achieving long-term knowledge gains, generalized evidence on what factors with what frequency and length works for what age-range is still lacking. More work is needed to established common design guidelines on how to engage different user groups with best game specifications for health education for both patients and medical staff groups.

Comparison With Prior Work

Previous scoping reviews of health games included all types of serious games, ranging from educational to behavioral change and exercise-focused games [4,5]. Several reviews have predominantly focused on chronic diseases [42-44], whereas other reviews have focused on specific subgroups of educational games, such as games targeting clinical staff and students [10,12,14,45] or patients with distinct medical conditions or diseases (eg, diabetes, asthma, or obesity) [46-53]. Owing to either inclusivity (all health games) or exclusivity (specific educational games) of the previous reviews, these reviews do not reveal the overall trends in educational health games across various target users (ie, health care providers, patients, and public health users). This study provides a fresh review on the latest developments and trends in serious games targeting health education, regardless of the target population or observed clinical context.

Limitations

Our work had multiple limitations. First, we specifically narrowed our search on educational serious games for health. Our review should not be considered a systematic review of all types of health games. Second, our review did not conduct a statistical analysis to measure significant differences among various target groups (eg, measuring significant differences between patients and public health users). Third, we did not perform a meta-analysis, as the studies did not report enough details about their population to perform such analysis. In addition, the outcomes of interest varied greatly, and a meta-analysis was not appropriate for our review. Fourth, we only included English publications, thus unavoidably excluded studies that might be conducted and published in other developed countries not using English as their primary scientific language. Fifth, the variability of reviewed studies limited our review to encode generic specifications, such as publication date, study location, and target groups. More research is needed to tease out the details reported by various subgroups of these studies (eg, some studies reported exact outcomes of interest). Finally, we used PubMed and ScienceDirect as our search engines; however, other search engines might provide additional studies not indexed in the aforementioned databases.

Future Work

Future work should include a larger *systematic* review, including additional search engines and, perhaps, focusing on the educational games designed for either patients or clinical providers. Additional work on reviewing educational outcomes of interest among these studies and the effectiveness of the health games in achieving them is also needed.

Conclusions

Serious games are increasingly used for health education. This study offers an updated scoping review of the studies assessing the value of serious games in improving health education. Most

educational health games are still developed in high-income countries, but a surge of new games focusing on healthy behaviors (eg, nutrition and safety) has been observed in the last 5 years. Game developers need to use multidisciplinary teams to improve the design of the serious games in keeping the end users engaged for a longer interaction and potentially more effective educational health outcomes. Investment in serious games, as a low-cost educational tool for both patients and medical providers, can potentially help to fill the gap for health education in developing countries.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Johnson L, Becker S, Cummins M, Estrada V, Freeman A, Hall C. The NMC Horizon Report: 2016 Higher Education Edition. Austin, Texas: The New Media Consortium; 2016.
- 2. Vlachopoulos D, Makri A. The effect of games and simulations on higher education: a systematic literature review. Int J Educ Technol High Educ 2017;14(1):22. [doi: 10.1186/s41239-017-0062-1]
- 3. Wattanasoontorn V, Boada I, García R, Sbert M. Serious games for health. Entertain Comput 2013;4(4):231-247. [doi: 10.1016/j.entcom.2013.09.002]
- 4. Lu AS, Kharrazi H. A state-of-the-art systematic content analysis of games for health. Games Health J 2018 Feb;7(1):1-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2017.0095] [Medline: 29293368]
- 5. Kharrazi H, Lu AS, Gharghabi F, Coleman W. A scoping review of health game research: Past, present, and future. Games Health J 2012 Apr 18;1(2) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2012.0011] [Medline: 24416638]
- 6. Fry H. A Handbook for Teaching and Learning in Higher Education: Enhancing Academic Practice. New York, NY: Routledge; 2008.
- Pannese L, Prilla M, Ascolese A, Morosini D. Serious games for reflective learning: experiences from the MIRROR project. In: Baek Y, Whitton N, editors. Cases on Digital Game-Based Learning: Methods, Models, and Strategies. Hershey, Pennsylvania: IGI Global; 2013:452-474.
- Backlund P, Hendrix M. Educational Games Are They Worth the Effort? A Literature Survey of the Effectiveness of Serious Games. In: Proceedings of the 2013 5th International Conference on Games and Virtual Worlds for Serious Applications. 2013 Presented at: VS-GAMES'13; September 11-13, 2013; Poole, UK. [doi: 10.1109/vs-games.2013.6624226]
- 9. Kaufman D, Sauvé L. Educational Gameplay and Simulation Environments: Case Studies and Lessons Learned. Hershey, PA: IGI Global; 2010.
- Akl EA, Pretorius RW, Sackett K, Erdley WS, Bhoopathi PS, Alfarah Z, et al. The effect of educational games on medical students' learning outcomes: a systematic review: BEME Guide No 14. Med Teach 2010 Jan;32(1):16-27. [doi: 10.3109/01421590903473969] [Medline: 20095770]
- Kron FW, Gjerde CL, Sen A, Fetters MD. Medical student attitudes toward video games and related new media technologies in medical education. BMC Med Educ 2010 Jun 24;10:50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6920-10-50] [Medline: 20576125]
- 12. Bhoopathi PS, Sheoran R, Adams CE. Educational games for mental health professionals: a Cochrane review. Int J Psychiatr Nurs Res 2007 May;12(3):1497-1502. [Medline: <u>17682590</u>]
- Gorbanev I, Agudelo-Londoño S, González RA, Cortes A, Pomares A, Delgadillo V, et al. A systematic review of serious games in medical education: quality of evidence and pedagogical strategy. Med Educ Online 2018 Dec;23(1):1438718
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10872981.2018.1438718] [Medline: 29457760]
- 14. Sipiyaruk K, Gallagher JE, Hatzipanagos S, Reynolds PA. A rapid review of serious games: from healthcare education to dental education. Eur J Dent Educ 2018 Nov;22(4):243-257. [doi: 10.1111/eje.12338] [Medline: 29573165]
- 15. Emmerich K, Bockholt M. Serious games evaluation: processes, models, and concepts. In: Dörner R, Göbel S, Kickmeier-Rust M, Masuch M, Zweig K, editors. Entertainment Computing and Serious Games. Cham: Springer; 2016:265-283.
- 16. Fullerton T. Game Design Workshop: A Playcentric Approach to Creating Innovative Games. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 2014.
- 17. Graafland M, Schraagen JM, Schijven MP. Systematic review of serious games for medical education and surgical skills training. Br J Surg 2012 Oct;99(10):1322-1330. [doi: 10.1002/bjs.8819] [Medline: 22961509]
- DeSmet A, Shegog R, van Ryckeghem D, Crombez G, de Bourdeaudhuij I. A systematic review and meta-analysis of interventions for sexual health promotion involving serious digital games. Games Health J 2015 Apr;4(2):78-90. [doi: <u>10.1089/g4h.2014.0110</u>] [Medline: <u>26181801</u>]
- Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005;8(1):19-32. [doi: <u>10.1080/1364557032000119616</u>]
- 20. Peters M, Godfrey C, McInerney P, Soares CB, Khalil H, Parker D. Joanna Briggs Institute Reviewer's Manual.: The Joanna Briggs Institute; 2017. Chapter 11: Scoping reviews URL: <u>https://wiki.joannabriggs.org/display/MANUAL/</u> <u>Chapter+11%3A+Scoping+reviews</u> [accessed 2019-10-10]

- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Ann Intern Med 2009 Aug 18;151(4):264-9, W64. [doi: <u>10.7326/0003-4819-151-4-200908180-00135</u>] [Medline: <u>19622511</u>]
- 22. RN Continuing Education. RN.com. 2004. Age-Specific Considerations in Patient Care URL: <u>https://lms.rn.com/getpdf.php/</u>2019.pdf [accessed 2019-10-11]
- 23. Hanisch SE, Birner UW, Oberhauser C, Nowak D, Sabariego C. Development and evaluation of digital game-based training for managers to promote employee mental health and reduce mental illness stigma at work: quasi-experimental study of program effectiveness. JMIR Ment Health 2017 Aug 4;4(3):e31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.7600] [Medline: 28778839]
- Johnsen HM, Fossum M, Vivekananda-Schmidt P, Fruhling A, Slettebø Å. Teaching clinical reasoning and decision-making skills to nursing students: design, development, and usability evaluation of a serious game. Int J Med Inform 2016 Oct;94:39-48. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.06.014] [Medline: 27573310]
- 25. Lin H, Chiu Y, Chen YJ, Wuang Y, Chen C, Wang C, et al. Continued use of an interactive computer game-based visual perception learning system in children with developmental delay. Int J Med Inform 2017 Nov;107:76-87. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.09.003] [Medline: 29029695]
- 26. Faiola A, Kharrazi H. Diabetes education and serious gaming: teaching adolescents to cope with diabetes. In: Hayes BM, Aspray W, editors. Health Informatics: A Patient-Centered Approach to Diabetes. Cambridge: MIT Press; 2010:151-177.
- 27. Kharrazi H, Faiola A, Defazio J. Healthcare game design: behavioral modeling of serious gaming design for children with chronic diseases. In: Jacko JA, editor. Human-Computer Interaction. Interacting in Various Application Domains. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2009:335-344.
- Parisod H, Pakarinen A, Axelin A, Danielsson-Ojala R, Smed J, Salanterä S. Designing a health-game intervention supporting health literacy and a tobacco-free life in early adolescence. Games Health J 2017 Aug;6(4):187-199. [doi: <u>10.1089/g4h.2016.0107</u>] [Medline: <u>28661706</u>]
- Dias JD, Domingues AN, Tibes CM, Zem-Mascarenhas SH, Fonseca LM. Serious games as an educational strategy to control childhood obesity: a systematic literature review. Rev Lat Am Enfermagem 2018 Sep 3;26:e3036 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/1518-8345.2509.3036] [Medline: 30183872]
- 30. Diehl LA, Souza RM, Gordan PA, Esteves RZ, Coelho IC. InsuOnline, an electronic game for medical education on insulin therapy: a randomized controlled trial with primary care physicians. J Med Internet Res 2017 Mar 9;19(3):e72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6944] [Medline: 28279950]
- 31. Graafland M, Bemelman WA, Schijven MP. Game-based training improves the surgeon's situational awareness in the operation room: a randomized controlled trial. Surg Endosc 2017 Oct;31(10):4093-4101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00464-017-5456-6] [Medline: 28281117]
- 32. Kharrazi H. Improving healthy behaviors in type 1 diabetic patients by interactive frameworks. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2009 Nov 14;2009:322-326 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20351873]
- 33. Tan AJ, Lee CC, Lin PY, Cooper S, Lau LS, Chua WL, et al. Designing and evaluating the effectiveness of a serious game for safe administration of blood transfusion: A randomized controlled trial. Nurse Educ Today 2017 Aug;55:38-44. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2017.04.027] [Medline: 28521248]
- 34. Primack BA, Carroll MV, McNamara M, Klem ML, King B, Rich M, et al. Role of video games in improving health-related outcomes: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2012 Jun;42(6):630-638 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2012.02.023] [Medline: 22608382]
- 35. Papastergiou M. Exploring the potential of computer and video games for health and physical education: a literature review. Comput Educ 2009;53(3):603-622. [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2009.04.001]
- 36. ITU: Committed to connecting the world. 2019. Measuring Digital Development: Facts and Figures 2019 URL: <u>https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Pages/facts/default.aspx</u> [accessed 2019-10-11]
- 37. Thomsen EK, Hemingway C, South A, Duda KA, Dormann C, Farmer R, et al. ResistanceSim: development and acceptability study of a serious game to improve understanding of insecticide resistance management in vector control programmes. Malar J 2018 Nov 13;17(1):422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12936-018-2572-2] [Medline: 30424788]
- 38. Kharrazi H, Lasser EC, Yasnoff WA, Loonsk J, Advani A, Lehmann HP, et al. A proposed national research and development agenda for population health informatics: summary recommendations from a national expert workshop. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 Jan;24(1):2-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv210] [Medline: 27018264]
- 39. Gamache R, Kharrazi H, Weiner JP. Public and population health informatics: The bridging of big data to benefit communities. Yearb Med Inform 2018 Aug;27(1):199-206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1667081] [Medline: 30157524]
- 40. Kharrazi H, Weiner JP. IT-enabled community health interventions: challenges, opportunities, and future directions. EGEMS (Wash DC) 2014;2(3):1117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.13063/2327-9214.1117] [Medline: 25848627]
- 41. Phan MH, Keebler JR, Chaparro BS. The development and validation of the game user experience satisfaction scale (GUESS). Hum Factors 2016 Dec;58(8):1217-1247. [doi: 10.1177/0018720816669646] [Medline: 27647156]
- 42. Charlier N, Zupancic N, Fieuws S, Denhaerynck K, Zaman B, Moons P. Serious games for improving knowledge and self-management in young people with chronic conditions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 Jan;23(1):230-239. [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv100] [Medline: 26186934]

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e13459
```

RenderX

- 43. de Sá KC, Martins MG, da Costa CA, Barbosa JLV, Righi RR. A mapping study on mobile games for patients of chronic diseases. J Med Syst 2017 Sep;41(9):138. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-017-0781-9] [Medline: 28762209]
- 44. Holtz BE, Murray K, Park T. Serious games for children with chronic diseases: a systematic review. Games Health J 2018 Oct;7(5):291-301. [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2018.0024] [Medline: 29957082]
- 45. Blakely G, Skirton H, Cooper S, Allum P, Nelmes P. Educational gaming in the health sciences: systematic review. J Adv Nurs 2009 Feb;65(2):259-269. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04843.x] [Medline: 19032512]
- 46. Drummond D, Monnier D, Tesnière A, Hadchouel A. A systematic review of serious games in asthma education. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2017 May;28(3):257-265. [doi: 10.1111/pai.12690] [Medline: 27992659]
- 47. Kharrazi H, Watters C, Oore S. Improving behavioral stages in children by adaptive applications. J Inf Technol Healthc 2008;6(1):83-95 [FREE Full text]
- 48. Watters C, Oore S, Shepherd M, Abouzied A, Cox A, Kellar M, et al. Extending the Use of Games in Health Care. In: Proceedings of the 39th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences.: IEEE Computer Society; 2006 Presented at: HICSS'06; January 4-6, 2006; Kauia, HI. [doi: <u>10.1109/hicss.2006.179</u>]
- 49. Kharrazi H, Vincz L. Increasing physical activity by implementing a behavioral change intervention using pervasive personal health record system: an exploratory study. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Universal Access in Human-Computer Interaction.: Springer; 2011 Presented at: UAHCI'11; July 9-14, 2011; Orlando, FL. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-21657-2_39]
- 50. Kharrazi H, Vincz L. CiteSeerX. 2011. Using Health Information Technology and Behavior Change Model to Increase Exercise Adherence in Obesity URL: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.457.</u> 7048&rep=rep1&type=pdf [accessed 2019-10-11]
- 51. Mayorov A. The 71st Scientific Session of American Diabetes Association (ADA), June 24-28, 2011, San-Diego. In: Diabetes mellitus.: American Diabetes Association; 2011 Sep 15 Presented at: The 71st Scientific Session of American Diabetes Association (ADA); Jun 24, 2011; San-Diego, CA p. 120 URL: <u>https://professional.diabetes.org/abstract/</u> <u>can-computer-game-improve-adherence-treatment-children-type-1-diabetes</u> [doi: 10.14341/2072-0351-6237]
- 52. Lu AS, Kharrazi H, Gharghabi F, Thompson D. A systematic review of health videogames on childhood obesity prevention and intervention. Games Health J 2013 Jun;2(3):131-141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2013.0025] [Medline: 24353906]
- 53. Theng Y, Lee JW, Patinadan PV, Foo SS. The use of videogames, gamification, and virtual environments in the self-management of diabetes: a systematic review of evidence. Games Health J 2015 Oct;4(5):352-361. [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2014.0114] [Medline: 26287926]

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 22.01.19; peer-reviewed by P Haubruck, B Ingadottir, R Alkoudmani, E Da Silva, MS Aslam, J Kofranek; comments to author 21.03.19; revised version received 07.09.19; accepted 12.12.19; published 05.03.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Sharifzadeh N, Kharrazi H, Nazari E, Tabesh H, Edalati Khodabandeh M, Heidari S, Tara M Health Education Serious Games Targeting Health Care Providers, Patients, and Public Health Users: Scoping Review JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e13459 URL: https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e13459 doi:10.2196/13459 PMID:32134391

©Nahid Sharifzadeh, Hadi Kharrazi, Elham Nazari, Hamed Tabesh, Maryam Edalati Khodabandeh, Somayeh Heidari, Mahmood Tara. Originally published in JMIR Serious Games (http://games.jmir.org), 05.03.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Serious Games, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://games.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Using 360-Degree Video as a Research Stimulus in Digital Health Studies: Lessons Learned

Brittany A Zulkiewicz¹, BS; Vanessa Boudewyns¹, PhD; Catherine Gupta¹, PhD; Ari Kirschenbaum², BFA; Megan A Lewis¹, PhD

¹Center for Communication Science, RTI International, Research Triangle Park, NC, United States ²Multimedia Communication Services, RTI International, Research Triangle Park, NC, United States

Corresponding Author: Megan A Lewis, PhD Center for Communication Science RTI International

3040 East Cornwallis Rd Research Triangle Park, NC, United States Phone: 1 206 268 3613 Fax: 1 206 268 3601 Email: melewis@rti.org

Abstract

Due to the accessibility of omnidirectional cameras to record 360-degree videos and the technology to view the videos via mobile phones and other devices, 360-degree videos are being used more frequently to place people in different contexts and convey health-related information. Increasingly, 360-degree videos are being employed in health marketing because they have the potential to enhance health-related attitudes and behaviors. As a case study on how this technology may be used for health-related information and its effect on health care providers, we created a 360-degree video that portrays the experience of a migraine sufferer to be used as a stimulus in an online study. We describe the challenges and lessons learned in designing and implementing a 360-degree video as part of an online experiment focused on inducing empathy among clinicians for understanding patient experience. Given the rapid change in digital technology, future research can use this knowledge to design and implement 360-degree video studies more effectively.

(JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e15422) doi:10.2196/15422

KEYWORDS

virtual reality; 360-degree video; empathy; migraine disorders; health personnel; medical education

Introduction

An accessible form of virtual reality (VR) technology is 360-degree video. For the public, 360-degree videos are more accessible than other VR technologies because they can be viewed on many common devices, including head-mounted display (HMD) VR headsets, computers, and mobile devices, and because of the technology used to create them. For content creators, 360-degree videos are more accessible because the equipment and labor costs to produce them are lower. For these reasons, 360-degree videos are becoming a more common mode of marketing and communicating information.

To create 360-degree videos, omnidirectional cameras are used to simultaneously record a view from every direction. Users can replicate the way they would change their field of view using their body in the real world by moving the device or

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15422
```

clicking the screen. The audience is limited to an omnidirectional view from predetermined standpoints in 360-degree videos, unlike other virtual reality systems that allow users to move throughout a virtual environment. Despite this limitation, 360-degree videos are capable of immersing their audience in a virtual world.

One of the most important capabilities of VR is to transport and fully immerse viewers into a new experience or environment [1]. Similar to traditional narratives and immersive physical environments, immersive technologies permit a sensation of presence. However, immersive technologies may be uniquely capable of helping users feel like they are actually in the environment and experiencing the situation by taking the perspective of the actor. Evidence has shown that immersive technologies can elicit emotional reactions such as empathy [2,3] from users and affect behavior change [4]. Storytelling

XSL•FO RenderX
and reporting using 360-degree video can produce a higher empathic response, immersion, and engagement than text news depicting the same event [5]. In addition, 360-degree video has gained traction in marketing and advertising because it elicits more positive emotion compared with traditional video [6,7]. For example, pharmaceutical companies are starting to use immersive environments in physician-targeted marketing because they may help providers better understand the patient experience. Further, activating empathy through 360-degree video can make the viewer more susceptible to messaging in advertisements that can potentially enhance attitudes and behaviors [8]. Some examples of VR experiences developed by pharmaceutical and medical advertising companies include increasing empathy for migraine sufferers [9] and retinal disease [10].

Because it can place people in unfamiliar environments and experiences, 360-degree video is especially relevant for research focused on understanding how people react to new information or diverse health situations [11]. However, most research is limited to laboratory settings where it is easier to implement the delivery of the video and assess participants reactions. To investigate real-world responses to 360-degree video, an "in the wild" approach is needed to include a larger and more diverse group of people.

This approach can be challenging because of the diverse settings and devices participants may use to view the stimuli [12]. Some researchers purport that HMDs are the most immersive [1]. Several studies have found that HMDs are more effective at eliciting affective responses than a two-dimensional nonimmersive VR interface, personal computer (PC) monitors [13-15]. However, this does not imply that users viewing a 360-degree video on a PC monitor do not feel immersed. One study found that HMD elicited a greater sense of presence than a PC monitor but that the PC monitor was still able to elicit a high sense of presence [13]. Although HMDs may be highly immersive and effective at creating feelings of presence [4], HMDs have limited use in an "in the wild" approach because of costs and availability. Additionally, the novelty of using HMDs can decrease recall [16].

In time, 360-degree videos may become an important medium for studying how different environments and experiences affect behavior and other outcomes. For example, as 360-degree video messaging becomes more ubiquitous, research studies using 360-degree videos as stimuli will be necessary in order to understand how the medium engages viewers and influences their perceptions toward health-related products or influences behaviors among diverse populations. In order to use 360-degree videos as research stimuli in real-world settings, researchers first need to understand how 360-degree videos can be implemented in the real world and how these settings affect proximal outcomes such as immersion, presence, and empathy. To fill this gap, we present lessons learned from an online study examining the effect of a 360-degree video depicting a migraine episode from the sufferer's point of view on physicians' empathy compared with a first-person written narrative describing the same experience.

Methods

We created a 360-degree video that portrays the light and sound sensitivity experienced by migraine sufferers. The content of the video was based on similar videos created by pharmaceutical companies. The video was filmed using an Odyssey (GoPro Inc), a custom camera rig using 16 individual, tethered GoPro cameras designed for Google's Jump platform. The video was created internally by AK and the John Bollenbacher Multimedia Communication Services department at RTI International.

We fielded the experiment for 3 weeks. Primary care physicians (PCPs) were recruited through an online survey panel vendor, Dynata [17]. Participants included 155 PCPs randomly assigned to 1 of 2 conditions. PCPs assigned to the 360-degree video condition watched a 2-minute 360-degree video portraying what it is like for someone suffering from a migraine at work. PCPs assigned to the narrative condition read a short story about a person's experience with a migraine at work that mirrored the experience portrayed in the 360-degree video. We then asked all participants to report their feeling of empathy and immersion in the story/video. State empathy was measured using a scale adapted from Shen [18]. The items within the scale were closely correlated in this study, with an alpha of 0.837. To derive the lessons learned, we draw on the results from PCPs assigned to the 360-degree video condition (n=77). The mean age of the 360-degree video condition participants was 49.5 years (SD 10.1, range 30-88), 57% (44/77) were male, and most were non-Hispanic white (45/77, 60%). Below we report on our lessons learned in developing the video and implementing it as part of an online experiment.

Development

Virtual Effects

We used After Effects (Adobe), a visual effects and compositing application, to portray the sensory experience of a migraine in a realistic manner. The monoscopic 4k footage was edited in Premiere Pro (Adobe), a video editing application, and then imported into After Effects. In After Effects, multiple stock "steam" elements were composited—layering video clips/instances with transparent background-on top of the espresso machine to represent a subtle increasing stressor to our "barista" neglecting the machine. All light sources in the scene, such as the overhead lights and the sun coming through windows, were masked and given a glow effect, making the light blurry, soft, and expansive to represent the visual sensitivity experienced of a migraine. This was gradually increased throughout the scene. Animated energy effects, such as separate looped video clips, were adjusted to represent white flaring and then composited directly over the already glowing light sources. They were timed to appear midway through the scene. Finally, toward the end of the scene, colorful "coma halo" animations were composited to emanate from the light sources but covered a broader area of the frame to represent a severe visual disturbance for the viewer/barista. The footage was then imported to Premiere for additional color correction, where the entire scene gradually becomes harsher with more contrast and unnatural hues.

https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15422

XSI•FC

Text Placement

Our 360-degree video starts with a brief text introduction describing the scenario to orient the viewer to the context. Using text in 360-degree video stimuli is challenging because it needs to be placed in a location that is visible from all directions, small enough that the text can be read without changing perspective, and large enough that it can be easily read on mobile device screens. We decided to place the text at 0 and 180 degrees so that part of the text would be visible at any perspective, directing the viewer to change their orientation to view the entire message. We reached this decision after an attempt to place text at more locations in the 360 sphere, which resulted in multiple partial instances of the text being visible by the viewer at one time and proving to be a distraction and an improper introduction to the 360 experience.

File Size and Format

Although we captured our video at 8k (8192×8192) resolution, viewing platforms such as YouTube and Vimeo do not support

such resolutions. Most internet connections and computer processors are also not capable of playing back the content in real time; consequently, 4k was selected as an appropriate and scalable resolution. Also, the file size had to be small enough to support streaming through Wi-Fi and cellular networks and to allow enough resolution to view the text and scenes. The 360-degree video was edited and exported to MP4 files, a common video and audio format supported by popular video platforms such as YouTube and Vimeo.

Implementation

We successfully conducted an online experiment using 360-degree video as stimuli with very few technical issues. In this section we describe the technical challenges of using 360-degree video in Web surveys and the evidence that we considered when deciding on eligibility criteria based on device type and headphone availability. The results describing the impact of device type and headphone use are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Empathy and engagement for 360-degree video by device type and headphone use.

Item	All (N=77), mean (SD)	Device type		Headphones	
		Desktop/laptop (n=48), mean (SD)	Mobile/tablet (n=29), mean (SD)	No (n=31), mean (SD)	Yes (n=46), mean (SD)
Total time viewing stimuli (seconds)	162.8 (86.2)	171.7 (100.7)	148.0 (52.8)	154.1 (67.7)	175.7 (108.0)
Rating of quality ^a	8.3 (1.6)	8.5 (1.5)	7.9 (1.8)	8.3 (1.6)	8.2 (1.7)
Immersion (I felt immersed in the [video/story].) ^b	3.1 (0.8)	3.3 (0.8) ^c	$2.8(0.8)^{c}$	3.1 (0.8)	3.1 (0.9)
Empathy ^b					
I could feel the person's emotions	3.0 (0.9)	3.1 (1.0)	2.8 (0.9)	3.1 (0.7)	2.9 (1.1)
I can understand what the person was going through	3.2 (0.9)	$3.4(0.8)^{c}$	2.9 (1.0) ^c	3.3 (0.9)	3.2 (0.9)
I can relate to what the person was going through	2.9 (1.2)	3.1 (1.1)	2.7 (1.2)	3.0 (1.1)	2.9 (1.2)
I can identify with the person	2.7 (1.2)	2.7 (1.3)	2.6 (1.1)	2.8 (1.2)	2.6 (1.2)
Stimuli engagement ^d					
The video is memorable	4.1 (0.8)	4.2 (0.7)	3.9 (0.8)	4.1 (0.7)	4.1 (0.8)
The video is misleading	2.2 (0.7)	2.2 (0.8)	2.3 (0.8)	2.2 (0.8)	2.3 (0.7)
The video is informative	3.9 (0.7)	4.1 (0.7) ^c	3.6 (0.7) ^c	3.9 (0.6)	3.9 (0.8)
The video held my attention	4.2 (0.7)	4.3 (0.7)	4.0 (0.8)	4.2 (0.8)	4.2 (0.7)
I liked the video	3.9 (0.8)	4.0 (0.9)	3.7 (0.7)	3.9 (0.8)	3.9 (0.9)
Watching the 360-degree video changed the way that I think about migraines. ^d	3.5 (0.8)	3.6 (0.8)	3.4 (0.8)	3.3 (0.9) ^c	3.7 (0.8) ^c

^aParticipants rated two quality items on a scale of 1 to 5, with 1=low quality and 5=high quality. These items were summed to create a single quality rating with a range of 2 to 10, with 2=low quality and 10=high quality.

^bParticipants rated items on a scale of 0=not at all to 4=completely.

^cDenotes a significant difference between groups (P<.05)

^dParticipants rated items on a scale of 1=strongly disagree to 5=strongly agree.

Hosting Platform

The 360-degree video technology is relatively new and is not supported by online survey platforms, including the survey platform Qualtrics used in this study. A 360-degree video must

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15422
```

RenderX

be hosted on an outside platform and also be embedded within the survey. We considered five 360-degree video hosting platforms, which are shown in Table 2. We selected OmniVirt Premium because of its hosting capabilities, player customization, and mobile device support. When considering

options for hosting and embedding 360-degree video, it is device support. important to consider hosting, player customization, and mobile

T-11- 3	0		. £ 260	4		\$\$7.1.					010
Table 2.	Comp	arison	01 300-	aegree	video	web	embedding	options	as or se	ptember ∠	2018.

Platform	Cost	Supported mobile operating systems ^a	Video hosting	Player customization ^b
YouTube	Free	Android	Yes	Limited
Vimeo	\$7.99/month	Android	Yes	Full
Google VR View for the Web	Free	Android, iOS	No	Full
OmniVirt (Basic)	Free	Android, iOS	Yes	None
OmniVirt (Premium)	\$500/month	Android, iOS	Yes	Full

^aAll options considered support for 360-degree video embedding on all PC operating systems.

^bFull player customization allows users to remove the logo, disable links to open video on platform, and disable full-screen view for optimal embedding for research.

Videos can be hosted on a private server and embedded using Google VR View or uploaded to an all-in-one hosting and 360-degree video player platform. To save on costs and mitigate technical issues playing the video, we wanted to use a platform that could also host 360-degree video. OmniVirt Premium provided video hosting.

In terms of player customization, many video players allow users to click a logo embedded in the player to view the video on the platform's website. On some platforms, clicking the full-screen option also opens the video in a new browser window. We needed to disable these options for three reasons. First, opening the video in a new window allows anyone to copy the link and share it with others. Second, participants may not be able to navigate back to the survey to complete the questionnaire. Third, participants would be able to view the video again while completing the survey. OmniVirt Premium allowed us to customize the player to disable the full-screen mode, remove the OmniVirt logo, and disable links.

Regarding mobile device support, many 360-degree video platforms do not support embedded 360-degree video for iOS because of limitations inherent in the Apple iOS operating system. Users must often download the platform app to view the video. We decided to select a platform that supported iOS embedded video because of the popularity of iOS devices. OmniVirt was the only platform that supported Web-embedded 360-degree video playback on iOS devices.

Connectivity/Stimuli Viewing

Participants can access an online survey using a wide array of devices, browsers, and internet connection speeds. Technical issues or limited bandwidth can cause videos to play choppily or to not play at all. Additionally, participants could potentially skip the video altogether and proceed with the survey. We added several safeguards to ensure that participants watched the video. We disabled the Next button from appearing on the survey screen for 110 seconds, the approximate length of our video. On the same survey screen, we used JavaScript to update a hidden variable each time the play button was clicked.

We also added two questions immediately after the stimuli asking participants to confirm whether they were able to view the 360-degree video, and if they were not able to view it, what technical issues they encountered. All participants who answered

```
https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15422
```

that they were not able to view the video were terminated and excluded from analysis. Only one participant was unable to view the video. All participants randomized to the video condition clicked play at least once.

Device Types

The ability to play 360-degree videos on computers, mobile devices, tablets, and HMD has made 360-degree video more accessible. For research purposes, different device types can confound the results because the different mediums may provide varied levels of immersion and presence because of screen size and video controls. For example, laptop users must click and drag the screen to change perspective, whereas mobile device users only need to change the orientation of their device. Randomized assignment of device type is not an option when conducting online panel research, so eligibility criteria must be limited to participants using a certain device or the device type must be controlled for during analysis.

Prior research has labeled computer monitors as nonimmersive [1] and found that HMD offers a more immersive experience than computers [8,9]. Other research explored the type of viewing platform—such as smartphone with an HMD and smartphone without an HMD—on users' experiences of immersion and found that adding an HMD to a smartphone did not necessarily lead to more empathy or greater interest in the 360-degree video [3]. Given this, we considered limiting eligibility to mobile device and tablet users. However, because research on the impact of the type of device is equivocal, we opted to include a question asking participants to indicate their device type and explore whether the type of device had a significant effect on any of our key outcomes.

Approximately a third of our final participants (29/77, 38%) viewed the 360-degree video on a tablet or mobile phone, with a majority of participants (48/77, 62%) viewing the video on a laptop or desktop computer. Compared with participants who viewed the video on a tablet or mobile device, participants who viewed the video on a desktop or laptop computer reported significantly greater levels of immersion (mean 3.3 [SD 0.8] vs mean 2.8 [SD 0.8]) and agreement on one dimension of empathy, "I understand what the person in the video is going through" (mean 3.4 [SD 0.8] vs mean 2.9 [SD 1.0]), as shown in Table 1. Choosing not to exclude desktop and laptop users

XSL•FO RenderX

increased the generalizability of our results and improved our participation rate, given the availability of 360-degree video on these devices. Additionally, it appears that viewing the 360-degree video on a desktop or laptop may have been more immersive and impactful than viewing it on a mobile device. Research is needed on the relative immersiveness of mobile devices and laptops and desktops.

Headphones

Some evidence indicates that using headphones can have an impact on viewers' immersion in 360-degree videos [19]. We considered adding headphones as a requirement for participation because sound is an integral part of the migraine experience. However, we decided instead to allow users with and without headphones to examine if there was any difference in response to the video. In our instructions, we prompted participants to use headphones or to turn the volume up to 100% if they did not have headphones available. We also asked participants to report whether they had used headphones or not.

A majority of participants used headphones (46/77, 60%). Participants who wore headphones were more likely to agree that watching the 360-degree video changed the way they thought about migraines (mean 3.3 [SD 0.9]) as compared with participants who did not use headphones (mean 3.7 [SD 0.8]; Table 1). We found no significant differences between participants who used headphones and participants who did not use headphones of engagement, empathy, or immersion. Although there was no association between these outcomes and headphone use, our findings illustrate that a majority of participants had access to headphones and were willing to use them—consequently, including instructions to

prompt participants to do so may be advisable—and that wearing headphones may bolster the persuasive power of 360-degree video.

Conclusion

Given the potential challenges that can arise when creating 360-degree video content and implementing an online experiment using 360-degree video as stimuli, our study found that 360-degree video stimuli must be designed so that essential elements are seen by all viewers, regardless of perspective. The video also must be edited and encoded in a format that allows for playback on common video players and in a resolution that allows participants using a variety of screen sizes to clearly view the scene. The file size of the video must also be small enough to avoid long download or buffering times. Researchers will need to carefully select the survey and video platforms so that all eligible participants can view the stimuli. It also is important to confirm participants actually viewed the stimuli by using embedded variables and follow-up questions. As 360-degree video technology advances, new challenges no doubt will be introduced; however, some of the challenges presented here can be addressed.

Future research also should address the impact of device type and headphone use on empathy and engagement. In this study, we found that laptop and desktop users reported greater levels of empathy and engagement as compared with mobile and tablet device users. Prior research has compared HMD to these types of devices, but no research has looked at the difference between computers and mobile devices, two of most common ways that the general public accesses 360-degree video. Finally, we found that using headphones does not affect most outcomes.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank John Bollenbacher for his contributions to the stimuli development. ML and VB conceived the study. ML, VB, CG, and BZ were involved in protocol development, gaining ethical approval, and data collection. AK created the stimuli. ML, VB, and BZ were involved in data analysis. BZ drafted the initial manuscript. All authors reviewed and edited the manuscript and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Slater M, Sanchez-Vives MV. Enhancing our lives with immersive virtual reality. Front Robot AI 2016 Dec 19;3:74. [doi: 10.3389/frobt.2016.00074]
- 2. Riva G, Mantovani F, Capideville CS, Preziosa A, Morganti F, Villani D, et al. Affective interactions using virtual reality: the link between presence and emotions. Cyberpsychol Behav 2007 Feb;10(1):45-56. [doi: 10.1089/cpb.2006.9993] [Medline: 17305448]
- Tse A, Jennett C, Moore J, Watson Z, Rigby JA. Was I there? Impact of platform and headphones on 360 video immersion. 2017 Presented at: Proceedings of the CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems; 2017; Denver p. 2967-2974. [doi: 10.1145/3027063.3053225]
- Fonesca DM, Kraus M. A comparison of head-mounted and hand-held displays for 360 videos with focus on attitude and behavior change. 2016 Presented at: Proceedings of the 20th International Academic Mindtrek Conference; 2016; Tampere p. 287-296. [doi: 10.1145/2994310.2994334]
- Archer D, Finger K. Walking in another's virtual shoes: do 360-degree video news stories generate empathy in viewers?. New York: Tow Center for Digital Journalism; 2018 Mar 15. URL: <u>https://www.cjr.org/tow_center_reports/virtual-reality-news-empathy.php</u> [accessed 2018-10-25]

- 6. Castellanos M, Ausin J, Guixeres JE, Bigne E. Emotion in a 360-degree versus traditional format through EDA, EEG and facial expressions. In: Cauberghe V, Hudders L, Eisend M, editors. Advances in Advertising Research IX: Power to Consumers. 9th Edition. Weisbaden: Springer Gabler; 2018.
- Feng Y. Facilitator or inhibitor? The use of 360-degree videos for immersive brand storytelling. J Interact Advert 2018 Mar 20;18(1):28-42. [doi: <u>10.1080/15252019.2018.1446199</u>]
- 8. Shen L. The effectiveness of empathy- versus fear-arousing antismoking PSAs. Health Commun 2011;26(5):404-415. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2011.552480] [Medline: 21409669]
- 9. GlaxoSmithKline. 2018. Migraine headache symptoms. URL: <u>https://www.excedrin.com/migraine-experience/</u> [accessed 2018-10-31]
- 10. Regeneron Pharmaceuticals. 2018. Virtual reality experience: see for yourself what life may be like with the symptoms of retinal disease. URL: <u>https://www.eylea.us/amd/caregivers/virtual-reality-experience</u> [accessed 2018-10-31]
- 11. Bertrand P, Guegan J, Robieux L, McCall CA, Zenasni F. Learning empathy through virtual reality: multiple strategies for training empathy-related abilities using body ownership illusions in embodied virtual reality. Front Robot AI 2018 Mar 22;5:26. [doi: 10.3389/frobt.2018.00026]
- 12. Mottelson A, Hornbæk K. Virtual reality studies outside the laboratory. 2017 Presented at: Proceedings of the 23rd ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology; 2017; Gothenburg. [doi: <u>10.1145/3139131.3139141</u>]
- Baños RM, Botella C, Alcañiz M, Liaño V, Guerrero B, Rey B. Immersion and emotion: their impact on the sense of presence. Cyberpsychol Behav 2004 Dec;7(6):734-741. [doi: <u>10.1089/cpb.2004.7.734</u>] [Medline: <u>15687809</u>]
- 14. Villani D, Riva F, Riva G. New technologies for relaxation: the role of presence. Int J Stress Manag 2007 Aug;14(3):260-274. [doi: 10.1037/1072-5245.14.3.260]
- Gorini A, Capideville CS, De Leo G, Mantovani F, Riva G. The role of immersion and narrative in mediated presence: the virtual hospital experience. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2011 Mar;14(3):99-105. [doi: <u>10.1089/cyber.2010.0100</u>] [Medline: <u>20649451</u>]
- Rupp MA, Kozachuk J, Michaelis JR, Odette KL, Smither JA, McConnell DS. The effects of immersiveness and future VR expectations on subjec-tive-experiences during an educational 360° video. Proc Hum Fact Erg Soc Ann Meet 2016 Sep 08;60(1):2108-2112. [doi: 10.1177/1541931213601477]
- 17. Dynata. URL: https://www.dynata.com/ [accessed 2019-11-12]
- 18. Shen L. Targeting smokers with empathy appeal antismoking public service announcements: a field experiment. J Health Commun 2015;20(5):573-580. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2015.1012236] [Medline: 25826606]
- Kelling C, Väätäjä HO, Kauhanen O. Impact of device, context of use, and content on viewing experience of 360-degree tourism video. 2017 Presented at: Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Mobile and Ubiquitous Multimedia; 2017; Stuttgart p. 211-222. [doi: 10.1145/3152832.3152872]

Abbreviations

HMD: head-mounted display PC: personal computer PCP: primary care physician VR: virtual reality

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 10.07.19; peer-reviewed by M Noll-Hussong, G Rouleau; comments to author 20.08.19; revised version received 12.09.19; accepted 20.10.19; published 06.01.20.

Please cite as:

Zulkiewicz, BA, Boudewyns V, Gupta C, Kirschenbaum A, Lewis MA Using 360-Degree Video as a Research Stimulus in Digital Health Studies: Lessons Learned JMIR Serious Games 2020;8(1):e15422 URL: https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15422 doi:10.2196/15422 PMID:31904577

©Brittany A Zulkiewicz, Vanessa Boudewyns, Catherine Gupta, Ari Kirschenbaum, Megan A Lewis. Originally published in JMIR Serious Games (http://games.jmir.org), 06.01.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Serious Games, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://games.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

https://games.jmir.org/2020/1/e15422

RenderX

Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

